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INTRODUCTION

Political Context

1. The prosecution of Charles Taylor before the Special Court for Sierra Leone has been
irregular, selective, and vindictive from its inception. Examined from any vantage
point imaginable, the case against Taylor has at its core political roots and motives,
and the inexorable determination of the United States and Great Britain to have
Taylor removed and kept out of Liberia at any cost. Indeed, this case directly raises
the question of whether the judicial process can be fashioned into a political tool for
use by powerful nations to remove democratically-elected leaders of other nations that
refuse to serve as their handmaidens and footstools. The evidentiary record now
before this Court leaves reasonable minds asking why and how this Accused ended up
before this Court. The case against Taylor cannot be sustained or revived in the face
of that evidentiary record and simply put — Taylor should be set free forthwith.

2. The political context in which this case arose is a necessary precondition to
understanding why and how Taylor ended up on trial. The record now before this
Court demonstrates that Taylor went from being a friend and ally of the United States'
in the early 1990s to being viewed as a threat to U.S. national security by the late
1990s, resulting in a 2001 Executive Order by President George W. Bush which
characterised Taylor’s government as contributing to an “unusual and extraordinary
threat” against U.S. foreign policy.” This was in addition to several diplomatic,
economic, and other measures undertaken at the behest of the United States and/ or
Great Britain within the international community to isolate and ostracise Taylor’s

administration, and ultimately to force him out of office.?

' TT, Taylor, 24 Aug. 2009, p. 27496 (the CIA provided the NPFL with intelligence and “very high-
powered technical radios™). That was done in return for NPFL protection of American installations in
Liberia. Ibid., p. 27498. See, also, Exh. D-301, p. 133, Herman J. Cohen, former U.S. Assistant Secretary of
State for African Affairs (“By the end of March 1990, security had deteriorated so much that the need to
protect our expensive and irreplaceable facilities led us toward a dialogue with Taylor...”) TT, Taylor, 24
Aug. 2009, p. 27477.

? Exh. D-310, Executive Order 13213, 22 May 2001. TT, Taylor, 27 August 2009, pp. 27932-39, esp. p.
27938-39 (Taylor took the Executive Order as a declaration of war and the policy of regime change by the
United State against him). See, also, Exh. D-307, p. 2 (“Taylor's decision to run for the presidency of
Liberia, following the cessation of hostilities, must have upset the Grand Design of erstwhile friends in
Washington D.C. at the time who might have wanted to install[] a hand-picked leader for Liberia”); and TT,
Taylor, 27 Aug. 2009, pp. 27872: 8-11, 27870 and 27908.

? See, e.g., Exh. D-307 and Exh. D-308 (TT, Taylor, 27 Aug. 2009, pp. 27910-21). TT, Taylor, 5 Aug.
2009, pp. 25991-92 (“I see the USS Chinook come into the waters... For me, I see trouble...” *I trained
immediately on the British and American activities in the area at the time and how these accusations were
coming. Immediately I knew that it was coming from either both or from one of them that a decision had
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As recently as December 2010, there emerged in the public domain previously
confidential diplomatic cables that disclosed in no uncertain terms the position of the
United States government (USG) vis-a-vis Charles Taylor: the U.S. Ambassador to
Liberia, Linda Thomas-Greenfield, states in a cable dated 10 March 2009 that *...the
best we can do for Liberia is to see to it that Taylor is put away for a long time and we
cannot delay for the results of the present trial to consider next steps. All legal options
should be studied to ensure that Taylor cannot return to destabilize Liberia.”* A
second cable, dated 15 April 2009, revealed that sensitive information about this trial
was leaked to the United States Embassy in The Hague by unnamed contacts in the
Trial Chamber, the Office of the Prosecutor (OTP) and the Registry.’

Three of the Special Court’s four prosecutors (David M. Crane, Stephen Rapp, and
Brenda J. Hollis) have been Americans who have been employed by the USG prior
and/ or subsequent to their respective tenures as Prosecutor.® Indeed, the harbinger of
the nefarious intentions and stealth actions that the leaked cables disclose were the
actions and statements of David M. Crane, the first Prosecutor of the Special Court.
Crane told the United States Congress on 8 February 2006 that copies of the
Indictment against Taylor were given to senior U.S. Government officials two months

before the Indictment was ordered unsealed by the Court in June of 2003.” (Such

been taken to destabilise my government.”); TT, Taylor, 24 Aug. 2009, pp. 27471-74 and 27464 (Britain
and the U.S. were putting pressure on Jan Smillie and had, in effect, already prejudged the results of the
United Nations panel of experts appointed in 2000 to look into the conflict in Sierra Leone). In addition,
they also pressured another member of the panel of experts, Harjit Singh Sandhu. Ibid., p. 27476. See, also,
Exh. P-18, Panel of Experts Report.

* See Exh. D-481; Annex A to Prosecutor v. Tt aylor, SCSL-03-01-T-1143, Urgent and Public with Annexes
A-N Defence Motion for Disclosure and/or Investigation of United States Government Sources within the
Trial Chamber, the Prosecution and the Registry based on Leaked USG Cables, 10 January 2011 [Cables
Motion]. Reference by Ms. Thomas-Greenfield to the results of “the present trial” were to the outcome of
the trial at bar. No reference was made by Ms. Thomas-Greenfield to Taylor’s guilt or innocence regarding
any alleged crimes in Sierra Leone.

> See Exh. D-482; Cables Motion, Annex B.

¢ Crane worked in the United States Department of Defence for 30 years (see, Annex F, Cables Motion).
Stephen Rapp, the Special Court’s third Prosecutor, was previously a U.S. Attorney and left the Court after
he was appointed U.S. Ambassador-at-Large for War Crimes Issues (see, Annex G, Cables Motion). Brenda
J. Hollis, the Special Court’s fourth and current Prosecutor served in the United States Air Force as an
intelligence officer and Judge Advocate before being seconded by the U.S. Government to the ICTY and
starting her career in international criminal law (see Annex H, Cables Motion).

7 Exh. D-404, p- 79, fn. 10. Then U.S. Assistant Secretary of State for Africa, Walter Kansteiner, was
personally given a copy of the Indictment at a breakfast meeting in April of 2003 with the U.S.
Ambassador, Peter Chavez, in Freetown, Sierra Leone. Another copy was given to the then U.S.
Ambassador-at-Large for War Crimes Issues, Pierre Prosper. Crane was addressing the Subcommittee on
Africa, Global Human Rights and International Operations of the United States House of Representatives’
Committee on International Relations when he confirmed as much.

SCSL-03-01-T 9 23 May 2011
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conduct — the disclosure and transfer of a sealed indictment without order of court® -- |
is prima facie unethical and virtually unheard of by any prosecutor.) Crane also
declared that the USG has been the biggest financial contributor to the Special Court’
and confirmed that the USG had given undisclosed sums of money directly to the
OTP," separate and apart from its contributions to the Court as a whole. Crane further
explained that the United States and the United Kingdom “induced” then Nigerian
president, Olusegun Obasanjo, into allowing Taylor to go into exile in Calabar,
Nigeria.!! Indeed, the same congressional committee before which Crane appeared
mandated that no U.S. funding be made available to the Nigerian Government if a
strategy was not developed to ensure that Taylor would be handed over to the Special
Court for trial."?

Crane’s remarks before the U.S. Congress, coupled with other actions and
pronouncements by USG officials, provide clear evidence of the USG’s intention to
convict Mr. Taylor through the auspices of the Special Court in order to keep him out
of Liberia, using whatever monetary and political pressure that is necessary.
Accordingly, any attempt to divorce this case from the broader political prism through
which it must be viewed and to reduce it merely to a legal affair would, consequently,
be misguided and disingenuous. '
The foregoing suggests that the Charles Taylor trial is pursuing “war by other means,”
thus corrupting international law and justice in pursuit of a particular state’s enemy.
As a consequence, this tribunal itself is on trial and whatever the verdict, if it is not

seen to have been fair, it will have failed.

Legal Context and Abuse of Process

Even when viewed in the context of legal proceedings, the overall manner in which
the case was put together and pursued by the OTP has brought the administration of

justice into serious disrepute. The impartiality and detached independence expected

¥ The Indictment was ordered unsealed on 12 June 2003 by Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL.-03-01-1-006, Order
for the Disclosure of the Indictment, the Warrant of Arrest and Order for Transfer and Detention and the
Decision Approving the Indictment and Order for Non-Disclosure, 12 June 2003.

? Exh. D-404, p. 74.

' Exh. D-404, p. 77, fn. 3 (Crane stated “...the dedicated and professional staff of the House International
Relations Committee was very effective in sustaining political and financial backing for the Office of the
Prosecutor throughout my tenure in Freetown™) (emphasis added).

M Ex D-404, p. 79, fn. 14. The inducement was with the “concurrence of United Nations Secretary General,
Kofi Annan,” according to Crane.

2 Exh. D-404, p. 53.

SCSL-03-01-T 10 23 May 2011
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historically of prosecutor offices has never obtained since the inception of this case.
The prosecution of Taylor has been corrupted from start to finish by the unethical
conduct and irresponsible comments of prosecutor Crane before and after the first
Indictment was unsealed in 2003," coupled with the legally impermissible and
underhanded methods and means which has characterised the modus operandi of the
OTP ever since. Those legally impermissible methods and means have included
threats to prospective witnesses, improper monetary and other inducements to
witnesses (such as promised relocation overseas), intimidation of prospective

witnesses, and other forms of interference with the administration of justice.'*

Selective Prosecution
The prosecution of Taylor has also from the outset been selective and vindictive in
nature. Remarks made by Crane to the U.S. Congress with then OTP Chief of
Investigations, Dr. Alan White, by his side'” convey some of the apparent
vindictiveness: “The unsealing of the indictment against Charles Taylor on the day he
arrived in Accra, Ghana for the peace talks in June of 2003 was a calculated move on
my part to publicly strip, in front of the world, this warlord of his power by my
signature on the indictment... My intent was to humble and humiliate him before his
peers, the leaders of Africa... His indictment paved the way for the eventual election
of Ellen Johnson Sirleaf as the first fairly elected President of Liberia.”'® Beyond
vindictiveness is the issue of selectivity and the Defence submits that in indicting

Taylor, Crane acted in contravention of relevant statutory provisions and case law by

1 See, e.g., Exh. D-404, p- 79, fn. 10 (improper disclosure of a sealed indictment to USG officials) and p.
81, fn. 26 (the remarkable and arguably racist remark by Crane to the U.S. Congress that “Believe me, the
trick to getting a West African leader’s attention is cash, plain and simple.”)

' See, e.g., Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-1134, Notice of Appeal and Submissions regarding the
Decision on the Defence Motion Requesting an Investigation into Contempt of Court by the Office of the
Prosecutor and its Investigators, 10 December 2010; Prosecutor v. Taylor SCSL-03-01-T-1089, Public,
with Confidential Annexes A-J and Public Annexes K-O Defence Motion Requesting an Investigation into
Contempt of Court by the Office of the Prosecution and its Investigators, 24 September 2010, and
Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-1090, Public, with Confidential Annexes A-J and Public Annexes K-
O Corrigendum to Defence Motion Requesting an Investigation into Contempt of Court by the Office of the
Prosecution and its Investigators, 27 September 2010 [Contempt Motion]; and Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-
03-01-T-1142, Public with Annexes A-H and Confidential Annexes I-J Defence Motion to Recall Four
Prosecution Witnesses and to Hear Evidence from the Chief of WVS regarding Relocation of Prosecution
Witnesses, 17 December 2010 [Motion to Recall].

1% See Exh. D-404, p. 74, confirming the presence of White at the Congressional hearing with Crane.

' Exh. D-404, p- 79, fn. 10. More is said below regarding the free and fair nature of the 1997 presidential
elections in Liberia that Taylor won. Several international organizations with hundreds of staff were present
in Liberia to monitor and report on those elections (see, TT, 23 July 2009, p. 25158-59, and Exh. D-388, p-
2) and the Carter Center reported at their conclusion that they were fair. See, Exh. D-126, p. 8.

SCSL-03-01-T 11 23 May 2011
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singling Taylor out for prosecution on the basis of improper political motives and by
failing to prosecute other individuals that are similarly-situated to Taylor.

10.  Whereas the record is replete with evidence of alleged assistance given before and
during the indictment period (30 November 1996 through 18 January 2002) to
members of the Revolutionary United Front of Sierra Leone (RUF) by other African
leaders (notably Muammar al-Gaddafi of Libya and Blaise Compaoré of Burkina
Faso),'” only Charles Taylor stands charged for allegedly assisting the RUF.

11. Indeed, Crane spoke in these terms about Taylor, Gaddafi, and Compaoré before the
U.S. Congress: “I do want to highlight that Charles Taylor has been a catalyst of most
of the human tragedy and political instability in the region, backed by his compatriots,
Colonel Muammar Qaddafi of Libya and President Blase” Camporie of Burkina Faso,
among other criminal elements. That relationship with these two heads of state and

the resultant political instability still remains.”'®

Furthermore, and in a presentation
given by Crane in 2010 at SUNY Buffalo Law School, U.S.A, titled “The Triumph of
Good Over Evil... The Investigation, Indictment, and Arrest of Charles Taylor: A
Regional Approach to Justice,”'” Crane there indicated that the destruction of Sierra
Leone and Liberia was “[s]ustained by a joint criminal enterprise backed by three
heads of state... Libya, Liberia, and Burkina Faso.”?® He added that the motive was
“geopolitical influence and personal greed and avarice.”

12. That being the case, the obvious question that begs for an answer is why Crane did
not indict either Gaddafi or Compaoré as participants with Taylor in a joint criminal
enterprise. 2! The answer lies perhaps in convenience and certainly in vindictiveness,
but most of all in selective prosecution and that much is clear in these remarks to the

U.S. Congress by Crane:

7 TT, TF1-168, 26 Jan. 09, p.23585 (Foday Sankoh trained in Libya along with Rashid Mansaray and
Mohamed Tarawallie); TT, Issa Sesay, DCT-172, 9 Jul. 10, pp. 44125-29 (Sam Bockarie, Ibrahim Bah,
SYB Rogers and Eddie Kanneh traveled to Libya to meet with Gaddafi, who provided $50,000 in assistance
to the RUF); TT, Issa Sesay, DCT-172, 8 Jul 10, p. 44092-6 (Ibrahim Bah was a friend of Sankoh and
helped the RUF in business transactions; he was based in Ouagadougou); TT, Samuel Kargbo, TF1-597, pp.
10714-5, 10455-9, and 10720-4 (allegation that the Magburaka arms shipment came from Burkina Faso
because there was a Burkinabe soldier named Musa onboard the flight); TT, Issa Sesay, DCT-172, 7 July
10, p. 43875 (the Magburaka arms shipment came from Burkina Faso); TT, Karmoh S. Kanneh, TF1-571, 8
May 08, p. 9397 (allegation that Taylor linked Bockarie with Compaoré in order to secure materials to clear
ECOMOG and reach Freetown).

'* See Exh. D-404, pp. 75 and 79.

o Contempt Motion, Annex O.

%0 Contempt Motion, Annex O, CMS pp. 30439 — 30440 (also at pp. 30594 — 30595).

2! See, also, Defence Opening Statement, questioning why former Sierra Leonean President, Ahmed Tejan
Kabbah, was not indicted despite his role as defence minister in the Sierra Leonean government throughout
the formation and deployment of the Civil Defence Forces. TT, 13 Jul. 2009, p. 24321.

SCSL-03-01-T : 12 23 May 2011
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According to close sources who acted as lead witnesses during our investigation
of Taylor and those involved in the joint criminal enterprise that destroyed two
countries and threatened a third, the Ivory Coast; Taylor, Fodoy Sankoh,
Campore, and Qadhafi, apparently sat down and developed a secret plan to
undermine the current governments within West Africa and then replace them
with surrogates, such as Taylor, who were beholden to Qadhafi. This plan
remains in place to this day. I chose not to indict Qadhaffi and Campore only
because of evidentiary issues and the practical reality of indicting two more heads
of state within West Africa which would have politically undermined the work of
the tribunal. However, I did choose to name Qadhaffi within the Taylor
indictment as a key member of the joint criminal enterprise. Within the American
criminal system Qadhaffi would have been what we call an un-indicted co-
conspirator. He remains a threat to West Africa.*

13. The Defence submits that it was improper for Taylor to have been prosecuted despite
the fact that others (Gaddafi and Compaoré) who Crane alleged were similarly-
situated and equally bear the same level of responsibility, were not prosecuted. That
Taylor was singled-out for prosecution on the basis of political motives was always
clear and has been made clearer by the recently leaked U.S. diplomatic code cables.?
14. United Nations Security Council Resolution 1315 (2000), which called for the
creation of the Special Court, emphasized “the importance of ensuring the
impartiality, independence and credibility of the process, in particular with regard to
the status of the judges and the prosecutors.” The Prosecutor has the power to
formally charge and bring a suspect to justice before the Court.>* In exercising that
power, the Prosecutor enjoys full autonomy*® and very broad discretion,?® but it is
important that the Prosecutor conduct herself in a manner that is consistent with the
public trust accorded her. This consequently requires that the Prosecutor act with the
utmost integrity and professionalism.?’

15.  Furthermore, Article 15(1) of the Statute states that: “The Prosecutor shall act
independently as a separate organ of the Special Court. He or she shall not seek or

receive instructions from any Government or from any other source.”*® Trial Chamber

22 Exh. D-404, p. 79, fn. 11.

> Exhs. D-481 and D-482.

** Rules, Rule 47(B) and (C).

3 Article 15(1) of the Statute.

¢ Prosecutor v. Zejnil Delali¢, Zdravko Mucié, aka. “Pavo”, Hazim Deli¢ and Esad Landso,
aka.“Zenga, " Case No. IT-96-21-A, Judgement, 20 February 2001 [Celebi¢i Appeals Judgement], para.
602; and Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-A, Appeals Judgment, 1 June 2001.
[Akayesu Appeal Judgment], para. 94.

7 Thus, under Article 15(5) of the Statute, the Prosecutor shall, inter alia, be a person of high moral
character and possess the highest level of professional competence.

* Similar language is found in Article 3(3) of the SCSL Establishment Agreement (stating “The Prosecutor
and the Deputy Prosecutor shall be independent in the performance of their functions and shall not accept or
seek instructions from any Government or any other source”).

SCSL-03-01-T 13 23 May 2011



331

I has opined that “Article 15(1) reinforces, in unambiguous terms, an internationally
accepted norm governing the exercise of prosecutorial authority, in International
Criminal Tribunals, namely autonomy and Independence.”*’

16. The seminal case on selective prosecution is the Celebi¢i Appeals Judgement.*® The
Celebi¢i Court adopted a two-pronged test that forms the basis of the selective
prosecution assessment in international criminal law. A party alleging selective
prosecution must establish (i) an unlawful or improper (including discriminatory)
motive for the prosecution and (ii) that other similarly-situated persons were not
prosecuted.”! Regarding the first prong, the Chamber noted that while the Prosecutor
enjoys a wide margin of discretion, such discretion is limited by such statutory
obligations as the imperative of avoiding government influence as well as by relevant
human rights standards.*® The Celebi¢i Chamber also noted that “unless all potential
indictees who are similarly situated are brought to justice, there should be no justice
done in relation to a person who had been indicted and brought to trial.”*

17.  With respect to the Celebiéi standard, the Defence submits that it has made out
without question, the second prong of failure to prosecute others similarly-situated to
Taylor. Those “others” are Gaddafi and Compaoré, and Crane’s often-repeated words
about their alleged participation with Taylor in the same JCE undoubtedly satisfy the
Celebi¢i standard.>* Indeed, it is in the rare instance that an accused has direct
information from the Prosecutor herself (as is present in this case), explicating the
thought processes that gave rise to the selective prosecution.

18.  With regard to the first prong of the Celebi¢i standard — unlawful or improper motive

for prosecution — the Defence submits that it has likewise met that test by establishing

¥ Prosecutor v. Sesay et al, SCSL-04-15-T, Decision on Sesay — Motion Seeking Disclosure of the
Relationship Between Governmental Agencies of the United States of America and the Office of the
Prosecutor, 2 May 2005, para. 22.

% Celebi¢i Appeals Judgement.

3 Celebici Appeals Judgement, para. 611.

32 Celebici Appeals Judgement, para. 602, stating in relevant part: “It is also clear that a discretion of this
nature is not unlimited. A number of limitations on the discretion entrusted to the Prosecutor are evident in
the Tribunal’s Statute and Rules of Procedure and Evidence,” and para. 604, stating, in relevant part: “The
discretion of the Prosecutor at all times is circumscribed in a more general way by the nature of her position
as an official vested with specific duties imposed by the Statute of the Tribunal. The Prosecutor is
committed to discharge those duties with full respect of the law. In this regard, the Secretary-General’s
Report stressed that the Tribunal, which encompasses all of its organs, including the Office of the
Prosecutor, must abide by the recognised principles of human rights.”

3 Celebidi Appeals Judgement, para. 618. See, also, Akayesu Appeal Judgment, para. 93 — 97.

* Exh. D-404, p- 79, fn. 11; Contempt Motion, Annex O, CMS pp. 30439 — 30440 (also at pp. 30594 —
30595); and Exh. D-404, pp. 75 and 79.
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the improper and discriminatory political motives behind Taylor’s prosecution.’
Crane was in bed with the USG long before the Indictment was ever put together and
his extended statements to the U.S. Congress make it exceedingly clear that he was
beholden to the United States Government (financially and otherwise) when Taylor
was indicted.’® The inescapable conclusion that Crane and fellow U.S. Department of
Defence’” alumni, Alan White, were on a mission to get Taylor at all costs is entirely
reasonable on the face of this record.
It is appropriate at this point to recall certain words that accompanied Taylor’s
interview with Baffour Ankomah in the New African magazine of July — August
2002, starting with the caption beneath Taylor’s photograph on the cover page
which read -- “Charles Taylor: Powerful countries want me out.”
The first paragraph of the interview reads:
Liberia’s president, Charles Ghankay Taylor, is sure that “some powerful countries” are
out to get him. But he does not want to name them, “because they punish you the more if
you do.” Yet, the names are all over in the streets of Liberia — ‘USA and Britain’, one
freelance photographer told me, letting the names roll off his tongue like sweet apple.*
Later in the interview, Taylor observed that “The nature of the world now is such that
if certain powerful countries want you to live, you live. If they want you to die, you
die.”
Taylor was singled out and prosecuted on the basis of USG political motives and
interests. Hard evidence for this assertion is available in several forms, including
Crane’s comments to the U.S. Congress and the leaked U.S. Embassy cables. Further
evidence can be found in Crane’s failure to prosecute two others (Gaddafi and
Compaor€) that, in Crane’s view, were similarly-situated to Taylor and were part of
the JCE which undergirds the Indictment. These facts create a prosecutorial situation
that stands in direct contravention of statutory provisions and decisional law aimed at
ensuring the impartiality, independence, and credibility of the Court. Accordingly, a

finding of selective prosecution should be made by this Chamber in the context of its

3 See, Introduction Section and sub-sections entitled “Political Context” and “Legal Context and Abuse of
Process” within this Brief.

* Ibid.

37 Annex F, Cables Motion, confirms that White, like Crane, was a long-serving employee of the U.S.
Department of Defence before he took up his position as the first Chief of Investigations under Crane at the
Special Court.

* Exh. D-334.

3 Exh. D-334, p. 2.

0 Exh. D-334, p. 15.
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deliberations for judgment in this important trial and all charges against Taylor be

dismissed as a consequence thereof.

Discretionary Payments and other Inducements to Witnesses by the
Prosecution

23. Not much changed in the OTP’s approach to the investigation and prosecution of
Taylor after Crane’s departure and during the respective tenures of all successor
prosecutors up to the current one. This Court will recall the Defence’s request for
disclosure and an accounting by the OTP of payments made in cash and kind
(allegedly totaling $30,000 United States Dollars) to prospective witness, DCT-097.*'
In noting that seventeen Money Gram receipts provided by the Defence linked the
Prosecution to the payments made to the witness, the Court observed that, “The
payments do not appear to have been made by the Witness and Victims Service of the
Special Court (WVS) and on the face of it, appear to be beyond that which is
reasonably required for the management of witnesses or victims.”*? The Court found
that evidence of the payments was exculpatory material which the Defence had
demonstrated the Prosecution failed to disclose*’; it went on to hold that the payments
should have been disclosed by the Prosecution as evidence which may affect the
credibility of Prosecution evidence under Rule 68(B).**

24.  The Defence took exception in its Contempt Motion to inducements (monetary bribes,
offers of relocation, etc.) that were offered and/ or provided to potential witnesses and
sources by the Prosecution’s Witness Management Unit (WMU) in exchange for
cooperation and testimony. *> The payments were independent of, and distinct from,
those made to both Prosecution and Defence witnesses by the Court’s Witnesses and
Victims Section (WVS). The Defence argued and provided supporting documentation
to demonstrate that the WMU payments/ inducements (i) were contrary to the letter

4 See, Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-1039, Public, with Public Annex F and Confidential Annexes
A, B, C, D, E, G, H, I, Defence Motion for Disclosure of Statement and Prosecution Payments Made to
DCT-097, 4 August 2010 and Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-1084, Decision on Defence Motion for
Disclosure of Statement and Prosecution Payments Made to DCT-097, 23 September 2010 [DCT-097
Payments Decision], paras 17 to 20. The witness was, in the first instance, a prospective Prosecution
witness known by the pseudonym, TF1-354. See, para. 10, DCT-097 Payments Decision. The payments
were made between 8 April 2004 and 19 June 2006. See, para. 22, DCT-097 Payments Decision.

“ DCT-097 Payments Decision, para. 22.

“ DCT-097 Payments Decision, para. 22. :
“ DCT-097 Payments Decision, para. 22. See, also, Rules of Procedure and Evidence of the Special Court
Jor Sierra Leone, as amended on 28 May 2010 [Rules], Rule 68(B).

45 Contempt Motion, paras 19 - 28 and related annexes, K, L and N.
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and/ or spirit of Rule 39(ii),*® in that some were impermissible under that Rule, while
those that were permissible were demonstrably exorbitant and irregular (ii), were
duplicative and supplemental to payments made by WVS, (iii) occurred pre-trial and
throughout the life of the trial, and (iv) were deliberate and designed to influence the
cooperation and evidence of potential witnesses, witnesses, suspects or sources, and to
otherwise interfere with the administration of justice.*’

25. In its Decision on the Contempt Motion, this Court observed that the “question of
discretionary payments and a possible abuse of that discretion under Rule 39(ii) in
that the payments might not have been necessary for the safety, support or assistance
of the potential witnesses and sources...” would “only be considered at the stage of
final deliberations, taking into account the evidence adduced and the cross-
examination of the witnesses in question ** Accordingly, and bearing in mind the
proximity of those deliberations and the finality of these submissions, the Defence
renews with vigor, all averments and arguments made on this issue in the Contempt
Motion and incorporates the same herein by reference, as if set out in full below.*
Additionally, and as and when appropriate below, the Defence addresses the
contaminating impact that these payments/ inducements had on the reliability and
credibility of specific Prosecution witnesses and on the Prosecution’s case as a whole.
At a minimum, an adverse inference (if not presumption) should be drawn vis-g-vis
the reliability and credibility of Prosecution evidence in those instances where the
payments/ inducements to particular witnesses are objectively unreasonable and/ or
excessive. In appropriate circumstances of egregious and unmitigated abuse of
discretionary payments/ inducements by the Prosecution, the Court should exclude the
evidence of the applicable witnesses in their entirety.

26. To be sure, a clear and regrettable case of prosecutorial abuse of process has
consequently been made out with one inescapable consequence being the

deprivation of a fair trial to the Accused at bar.

* Rule 39(ii) indicates that a Prosecutor may, in the conduct of an investigation, “[t]Jake all measures
deemed necessary for the purpose of the investigation, including the taking of any special measures to
?7rol;/i((iie for the safety, the support and the assistance of potential witnesses and sources.”

Ibid.
* Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-1118, Decision on Public with Confidential Annexes A-J and
Public Annexes K-O Defence Motion Requesting an Investigation into Contempt of Court by the Office of
the Prosecutor and its Investigators, dated 11 November 2010, filed 12 November 2010 [Contempt
Decision], para. 40.
49 Contempt Motion, paras 19 - 28 and related annexes, K, . and N.
50 See, for example, Contempt Motion, Motion to Recall, and DCT-097 Payments Decision.
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Presumption of Innocence; Burden and Standard of Proof

27.  The starting points for consideration of the guilt or innocence of any accused are the
presumption of innocence and the burden on the Prosecution to prove the accused’s
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. These fundamental tenets of due process are
applicable to this Court and to the Accused at bar. The presumption of innocence is
enshrined in Article 17(3) of the Statute (“[t]he accused shall be presumed innocent
until proved guilty”)’' and it places on the Prosecution, the burden to prove the guilt
of the Accused.’* Furthermore, Rule 87(A) confirms that “A finding of guilty may be
reached only when a majority of the Trial Chamber is satisfied that guilt has been
proved beyond reasonable doubt.” The “reasonable doubt” standard of proof is
applicable to each and every count of the Indictment, every element of each alleged
crime, and the criminal responsibility of the Accused®’; the burden to prove each
count, as such, remains on the Prosecution throughout the entire trial.** In the face of
the evidentiary record now before this Court, the Defence submits that not only has
the Prosecution failed to prove the guilt of the Accused beyond reasonable doubt,

Taylor’s innocence has been convincingly demonstrated by adduced evidence.

Evidence Outside the Temporal and/ or Geographical Scope of the Indictment

28. The Defence filed, on 24 September 2010, a motion seeking to exclude from
consideration by the Trial Chamber, evidence falling outside the temporal and/ or
geographical scope of the Indictment, or the jurisdiction of the Special Court.>® The
motion was dismissed by the Court as being “‘premature at [that] stage of the trial”;

the Court further found that the issues raised by the motion are “more appropriately

St Statute of the Special Court for Sierra Leone, annexed to the Agreement between the United Nations and
the Government of Sierra Leone on the Establishment of a Special Court for Sierra Leone, 16 January 2002
[Statute], Art. 17(3).

32 Prosecutor v. Brima et al.,SCSL-04-16-T-628, Judgement, dated 20 June 2007, filed 21 June 2007,
refiled 20 July 2007, pursuant to Prosecutor v. Brima, et al., SCSL-04-16-T, Corrigendum to Judgement
filed on 21 June 2007, dated 19 July 2007, filed 20 July 2007 [4FRC Trial Judgement], para. 97.

53 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 98.

* AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 97; see, also, TT, 4 May 2009 [Rule 98 Decision], p.24203 (“In order to
secure a conviction, the Prosecution must prove the underlying offences, the general requirements of crimes
against humanity or war crimes - sometimes referred to as the chapeau requirements - and the accused's
individual responsibility”).

55 Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-1086, “Defence Motion to Exclude Evidence Falling Outside the
Scope of the Indictment and/or the Jurisdiction of the Special Court for Sierra Leone”, 24 September 2010
[Rule 93 Motion]. All references to the “Indictment” are to Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-PT-263,
“Prosecution’s Second Amended Indictment,” 29 May 2007.

SCSL-03-01-T 18 23 May 2011



2Falyg

addressed by the parties in the final trial Briefs and/ or closing arguments.””® That
being the case, the Defence raises the matter now and incorporates by reference as if
set out below herein, all arguments and averments that were advanced in the motion
and the Defence’s Reply.’’
29. The geographic jurisdiction of the Special Court is limited to crimes committed in the
territory of Sierra Leone and only those committed from 30 November 1996 onwards
fall within its temporal jurisdiction.”® The Indictment naturally follows the Statute in
both respects and no crime alleged therein extends in temporal scope beyond 18
January 2002.%° In assessing the admissibility of evidence which falls outside these
boundaries, the following provisions of the Rules are significant:
Rule 89(C) provides that “A Chamber may admit any relevant evidence.”®
b. Rule 93 provides that “Evidence of a consistent pattern of conduct relevant
to serious violations of international humanitarian law under the Statute
may be admissible in the interests of justice.”®!
c. Rule 95 provides that “No evidence shall be admitted if its admission
would bring the administration of justice into serious disrepute.”®
30. Decisional law is also important and confirms that evidence must be relevant and not
adversely prejudicial to be admissible.”® “Relevant evidence” has been understood to
mean “any evidence that could have a bearing on the guilt or innocence of the
Accused for the crimes charged under the Indictment.”** Such relevant evidence may

include evidence which falls outside the scope of the Indictment.®® Indeed, this Court

considered evidence relating to events that began prior to the Indictment period in

% Prosecutor v. T aylor, SCSL-03-01-T-1101, “Decision on Defence Motion to Exclude Evidence Falling
Outside the Scope of the Indictment and/or the Jurisdiction of the Special Court for Sierra Leone”, 6
October 2010 [Rule 93 Decision] p. 3.

7 Prosecutor v. T. aylor, SCSL-03-01-T-1100, Defence Reply to Prosecution Response to Defence Motion
to Exclude Evidence Falling Outside the Scope of the Indictment and/ or the Jurisdiction of the Special
Court for Sierra Leone, 5 October 2010.

%8 Statute, Article 1(1).

%% See “Particulars” of all eleven counts of the Indictment. See, also, Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-
327, Prosecution Notification of Filing of Amended Case Summary [Notification], with “Case Summary
Accompanying the Second Amended Indictment” as Annex, 3 August 2007 [Amended Case Summary],
para. 6 (a state of armed conflict existed within Sierra Leone between 30 November 1996 and about 18
January 2002).

% Rule 89(C) of the Rules.

¢ Rules, Rule 93(A).

62 Rules, Rule 95.

8 Prosecutor v. Ngeze and Nahimana, ICTR-96-11-AR72, “Decision on the Interlocutory Appeals —
Separate Opinion of Judge Shahabuddeen,” 5 September 2000, para. 19; Prosecutor v. Bagosora et al.,
ICTR-98-41-T, “Decision on Admissibility of Proposed Testimony of Witness DBY,” 18 September 2003.
% Prosecutor v. Sesay et al., SCSL-04-15-T, Judgement, 2 March 2009 ([RUF Trial Judgement], para. 474.
5 RUF Trial Judgement, para. 482.
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arriving at its Rule 98 Decision.®® Similarly, and in the RUF case, Trial Chamber I
considered evidence which occurred prior to the Indictment period and continued into
the Indictment period as demonstrating a “consistent pattern of conduct.”®” The Court
also noted that:

[e]vidence which may go to proving an un-pleaded allegation remains admissible
if it is relevant under Rule 89(C) to the proof of other allegations in the
Indictment or to facts at issue in the proceedings; to the proof of the chapeau
requirements for crimes against humanity or the existence of a consistent pattern
of conduct relevant to serious violations of international humanitarian law; or,
where it provides the Chamber with useful background or contextual
information.®®

31. The foregoing notwithstanding, there are limits to when evidence not coming within
the Indictment period may be considered by a Trial Chamber. For example, the RUF
Trial Chamber noted that “evidence was adduced of rapes in Kono District without
sufficient precision as to the time frame.”® Consequently, the Chamber limited its
“Legal Findings” to incidents that it was satisfied “occurred during the Indictment
period.”™ Likewise, this Chamber ruled in the AFRC case that evidence given by two
witnesses about diamond mining in the Tombodu area concerned the AFRC
government period and thus fell outside the Indictment period for Kono District vis-a-
vis Count 13.”!

32. Regarding events occurring in locations not charged in the Indictment, it was noted in
the AFRC case that the Prosecution led “a considerable amount of evidence with
respect to killings, sexual violence, physical violence, enslavement and pillage which

occurred in locations not charged in the indictment.””

In concluding that it would
“not make any finding on crimes perpetrated in locations not specifically pleaded in
the Indictment,”” the AFRC Chamber observed that, “While such evidence may
support proof of the existence of an armed conflict or a widespread or systematic
attack on a civilian population, no finding of guilt for those crimes may be made in

respect of such locations not mentioned in the indictment.”"

% Rule 98 Decision, pp. 24207 — 10.

" RUF Trial Judgement, para. 1615 (regarding the use of child soldiers in the RUF).

% Prosecutor v. Sesay et al., SCSL-04-15-T, Decision on Kallon Motion to Exclude Evidence Qutside the
Scope of the Indictment, 26 June 2008, para. 16

5 RUF Trial Judgement, para. 1283. :

™ RUF Trial Judgement, para. 1283; see, also, para. 1458 regarding the killing of one Dr. Kamara (“As this
killing was committed outside of the Indictment period for unlawful killings in Kailahun District, the
Chamber finds that no liability can be attributed to the Accused for this incident”).

"' 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 1323.

2 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 37.

 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 38.

™ AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 37.
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33. Turning to the case at bar, the Prosecution has adduced a considerable amount of
evidence that falls outside the temporal and geographical scope of the Indictment.””
The Defence has objected previously to such evidence,’® including in its Pre-trial
Brief which contained a specific section urging “the Trial Chamber to be vigilant in
ensuring there is no expansion of the territorial or temporal jurisdiction of the Court
via the back door.””” However, the use of ex-temporal and ex-territorial evidence by
the Prosecution was so widespread that it proved impractical for the Defence to raise
the same objection at every turn.

34. The Defence submits that much of that evidence is irrelevant to the Indictment,
contrary to the interests of justice and, in any event, adversely prejudicial to the
Accused such that it contravenes both Rule 95 and Article 17. Accordingly, such
evidence should be excluded from the Trial Chamber’s deliberations. Support for
these averments are decisional law that have highlighted the need to take into account
the probative value and prejudicial effect of the evidence in question. The ICTR
Appeals Chamber held in Bagosora et al. that:

Rule 93 does not create an exception to Rule 89(C), but rather is illustrative of a
specific type of evidence which may be admitted by a Trial Chamber. Rule 93
must be read in conjunction with Rule 89(C), which permits a Trial Chamber to
admit any relevant evidence which it deems to have probative value. Even where
pattern evidence is relevant and deemed probative, the Trial Chamber may still
decide to exclude the evidence in the interests of justice when its admission could
lead to unfairness in the trial proceedings, such as when the grobative value of the
proposed evidence is outweighed by its prejudicial effect...’

35. It remains true that Rule 89(C) differs from that of the ICTR and ICTY, in that Rule

89(C) does not explicitly provide for the probative value and prejudicial effect of the
evidence in question to be considered; but there is still the requirement to do so where

the effect of the evidence would infringe Rule 95.” One must also, of course, consider

7 «Ex-temporal evidence” and “ex-territorial evidence.”

76 See, e.g., TT, 18 Apr. 2008, p. 8054 (Defence objection during the testimony of TF1-334 to evidence of
crimes perpetrated on civilians in Koinadugu District on the basis that such crimes are not alleged in the
Indictment). See, also, TT, 21 Apr. 2008, p. 8077; TT, 7 May 2008, p. 9148; and TT, 5 Nov. 2008, p.
19798.

77 Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-PT-229, “Rule 73bis Taylor Defence Pre-trial Brief,” 26 April 2007
[Defence Pre-trial Brief], paras 9-23. See, also, Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-PT-243, Corrigendum to
Rule 73bis Taylor Defence Pre-Trial Brief, 18 May 2007.

™ Prosecutor v. Bagosora et al., ICTR-98-41-AR93.2, “Decision on Prosecutor’s Interlocutory Appeals
Regarding Exclusion of Evidence”, 19 December 2003, para. 13. See, also, Prosecutor v. Bizimungu et al.,
ICTR-99-50-AR73.2, Decision on Prosecution’s Interlocutory Appeals against Decision of the Trial
Chamber on Exclusion of Evidence, 25 June 2004, para. 18 (“The fact that the evidence may have been
admissible pursuant to Rule 89 does not show any error on the part of the Trial Chamber in concluding that
in the interests of ensuring the fairess of the trial it should be excluded”).

™ Prosecutor v. Sesay et al., SCSL-04-15-T, “Ruling on Gbao Application to Exclude Evidence of
Prosecution Witness Mr. Koker,” 23 May 2005, para. 6.
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the fair trial rights of the Accused guaranteed under Article 17 of the Statute, as well
as the requirement under Article 20(3)* to follow, where necessary, the guidance
provided by the Appeals Chambers of the ICTR and ICTY.

There is a fine line between relevance for context and the danger that the evidence
serves as the basis for a conviction, especially when one is faced with a mass of
“contextual” evidence as in this case. Indeed, and as noted previously, the Trial
Chamber has already based some findings in its Rule 98 Decision on such
“contextual” evidence.®' The Defence submits that there is so much evidence outside
the scope of the Indictment, it amounts to prejudice of such a nature which far
outweighs any probative value to such evidence. In that sense, it contravenes both
Rule 95 and Article 17 and should consequently be excluded.®

To be sure, the exception being taken to such evidence includes the use of Rule 89(C)
and Rule 93 by the Prosecution to incorporate ex-temporal and ex-territorial evidence
into its case as if it were one with evidence adduced to prove the crimes alleged in the
Indictment. In this regard, the Defence particularly has in mind evidence regarding
alleged crimes in Liberia and countries other than Sierra Leone (in the geographical

sense) and crimes which pre-date 30 November 1996 (in the temporal sense).

Joint Criminal Enterprise: Evidence falling outside the Temporal Scope of
the Indictment
The Defence particularly draws attention to problems associated with the mode of

liability -- JCE. In its Amended Case Summary, the Prosecution made reference to a
common plan between the Accused and Foday Sankoh which originated in the late
1980s, which is not merely contextual, but is a crucial element of the alleged JCE®
The Trial Chamber will have to determine guilt based on events which occurred up to
ten years before the commencement of the Indictment period. The Defence submits
that this is not within the Special Court’s jurisdiction to decide.

Indeed, even were the Trial Chamber merely to consider and not rule on such
evidence, the Defence submits that there must be a limit to the extent to which ex-
temporal and ex-territorial evidence can be taken into consideration by the Trial

Chamber in assessing the guilt of the Accused. Otherwise, there is a real danger that

%0 Statute, Article 20(3).

5 Rule 98 Decision, pp. 24209-24210.

%2 Rules, Rule 95; Statute, Article 17(2).

8 Amended Case Summary, paras 1-3, 42 and 44.
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such a sheer mass of evidence will have an impact on the Trial Chamber’s findings.
Indeed, it becomes so prejudicial to the Accused, that such evidence violates Rule 95

and infringes on fair trial rights guaranteed the Accused under Article 17.

Evidence of Atrocities in Liberia and Elsewhere beyond Sierra Leone:
Evidence falling outside the Geographic Scope of the Indictment

40. Evidence adduced by the Prosecution regarding the Accused’s alleged involvement in
atrocities in Liberia has little relevance or probative force other than to blacken the
Accused’s character with the Trial Chamber; indeed, it clearly has nothing to do with
the charges the Accused faces in respect of Sierra Leone.* The same holds true for
evidence of the Accused’s alleged role in conflicts, arms-dealing and diamond-
dealing throughout the African continent. Such evidence was admitted via the back
door that is Rule 93 throughout the trial, despite the warning given by the Trial
Chamber in Kupreski¢ that Rule 93 cannot be used to simply show the bad character
of an accused.®® The Defence submits that such evidence is contrary to Rule 95,
Article 17, and the jurisprudence of the international tribunals.

41. Rule 93 does not provide an unregulated or unrestricted route for the admission of
evidence demonstrating a consistent pattern of conduct; rather, such evidence may
only be admitted where it is in the interests of justice to do so. This point was raised
by defence counsel on 21 April 2008.*¢ Nevertheless, the Trial Chamber has on at
least one occasion refused to assess the probative value of the evidence in question,
despite the fact that an assessment of the interests of justice must invariably include

an assessment of the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect.”’

Evidence which could fall inside the Geographic Scope of the Indictment but
which does not
42. The Prosecution has led evidence on the commission of crimes in certain districts of

Sierra Leone which form no part of Indictment, but which nevertheless could have

% See, e.g., the evidence of TF1-399: TT, 12 March 2008, pp. 5913-5919.

% Prosecutor v. Kupreskié et al., IT-95-16-T, “Decision on Evidence of Good Character of the Accused and
the Defence of Tu Quoque”, 17 Feburary 1999, para. 31.

8 TT, 21 Apr. 2008, pp. 8079-8080.

8 Prosecutor v. T aylor, SCSL-03-01-T, Trial Transcript, 5 November 2008, p. 19800.
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been pleaded within the Indictment.*® The Defence submits that these locations should
have been pleaded in the Indictment. Such evidence is not merely background
information since there is nothing to differentiate it from evidence adduced to prove
crimes occurring within districts that were expressly pleaded in the Indictment; its
prejudicial effect is the same.

43. It is axiomatic that the Prosecution cannot circumvent the requirements of the
Indictment by adding layer after layer of alternative locations in which crimes were
committed, without formally charging the Accused with those crimes; evidence of
such ex-territorial crimes provide so little probative value and are so prejudicial that
they contravene both Rule 95 and Article 17(2).

44, To view such evidence in any other way would result in a serious danger that,
uniquely among international courts, the Special Court would be seen as having
permitted a Prosecutor to charge an accused with as few particulars as possible, while
having held back the particulars into which the bulk of the evidence falls for
admission via the back door at trial under the guise of “relevant” evidence. This may
be strategic for a prosecutor, but should not be countenanced by any reasonable
tribunal.

45. The exception taken herein is directed squarely at ex-temporal and ex-territorial
evidence led by the Prosecution during its case-in-chief. While the Defence may also
have led such evidence during the Defence’s case, the necessity for doing so often
was directly related to rebutting Prosecution evidence. Bearing in mind that the
Defence has no burden of proof and never has an obligation to put forth a case,
whether or not the Defence has led such evidence is immaterial and of no
consequence to the relief being sought herein vis-a-vis Prosecution evidence.

46. Accordingly, the Defence requests the exclusion of Prosecution evidence which falls
outside the temporal or geographic scope of the Indictment,®® or the imposition of
strict limits on the degree to which such evidence may be taken into consideration by

the Court during deliberations.

8 See, e.g., TF1-334’s testimony regarding events in Koinadugu District. TT, 18 Apr. 2008, p.8054 and
TF1-150’s evidence regarding atrocities in and around Kabala. TT, 18 Feb. 2008, pp. 4020-22, 4093, 4055,
and 4140.

% This, of course, includes evidence of crimes committed in locations within Sierra Leone not pleaded in
the Indictment.
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Joint Criminal Enterprise (JCE)

47. This section of the Brief traces the procedural history of the JCE allegations in this
case, the Defence’s challenge to the Prosecution’s pleading of JCE, and the
consequences for the Accused of the 13-month delay before the Trial Chamber ruled
on that challenge, all the while examining how these compounded legal errors
impacted the Accused’s fair trial rights. The legal requirements (actus reus and mens
rea) for JCE in its various manifestations are discussed elsewhere in this Brief, as is
the insufficiency of proof in the record to establish beyond reasonable doubt that there
was a JCE in which the Accused participated, consistent with the Trial and Appeals
Chambers’ formulation of JCE in this case.

48. In sum, the Defence submits that several procedural irregularities surrounding the
pleading and adjudication of JCE-related issues in this case have collectively, or in
combination with other matters raised in this Brief, affected the Accused’s substantive
rights to such a degree that he has been denied a fair trial.

49. The Defence challenged the sufficiency of the pleading of JCE in the Indictment on
several grounds, the most notable of which was the legal and factual ambiguities
surrounding the alleged common purpose of the JCE.”® The Trial Chamber orally
ruled on the issue on 19 February 2009,”' followed by the issuance of a written
Decision with reasons for its ruling on 27 February 2009.°> With Justice Lussick

dissenting,”® the Majority held that paragraphs 5, 9, 14, 22, 23, 28, 33 and 34 of the

% See, Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-378, Public Urgent Defence Motion regarding a Fatal Defect in
the Prosecution’s Second Amended Indictment relating to the Pleading of JCE, 14 December 2007 [JCE
Motion]; Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-388, Public Defence Reply to ‘Prosecution Response to
Urgent Defence Motion regarding a Fatal Defect in the Prosecution’s Second Amended Indictment relating
to the Pleading of JCE,” 14 January 2008 [JCE Reply]; Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-446,
Consequential Submission in Support of Urgent Defence Motion regarding a Fatal Defect in the
Prosecution’s Second Amended Indictment relating to the Pleading of JCE, 31 March 2008 [Consequential
JCE Motion); Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-754, Defence Application for Leave to Appeal the
Decision on Urgent Defence Motion regarding a Fatal Defect in the Prosecution’s Second Amended
Indictment relating to the Pleading of JCE, 2 March 2009 [JCE Leave Application]; Prosecutor v. Taylor,
SCSL-03-01-T-767, Defence Notice of Appeal and Submissions regarding the Majority Decision
concerning the Pleading of JCE in the Second Amended Indictment, 26 March 2009 [Defence JCE Appeal];
and Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-769, Corrigendum to Defence Notice of Appeal and Submissions
regarding the Majority Decision concerning the Pleading of JCE in the Second Amended Indictment, 30
March 2009.

o' See, TT, 19 February 2009, pp. 24052 (line 26) - 24053 (line 3) [Oral JCE Decision).

% Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-752, Decision on Urgent Defence Motion regarding a Fatal Defect
in the Prosecution’s Second Amended Indictment relating to the Pleading of JCE, 27 February 2009 [JCE
Trial Decision].

% Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-751, Decision on Public Urgent Defence Motion regarding a Fatal
Defect in the Prosecution’s Second Amended Indictment relating to the Pleading of JCE - Dissenting
Opinion of Justice Richard Lussick, 27 February 2009 [Dissenting Opinion of J. Lussick]; and Prosecutor v.
Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-761, Corrigendum: Decision on Public Urgent Defence Motion regarding a Fatal

SCSL-03-01-T 25 23 May 2011



Feozg

Indictment, when taken together, “fulfil the requirements for pleading JCE and serve
to put the Defence on notice that the Prosecution intended to charge the Accused with
having participated in a [JCE].”** The Majority further found that “‘a campaign to

b

terrorize the civilian population of the Republic of Sierra Leone’,” as alleged in
paragraph 5 (when read in conjunction with paragraph 33) of the Indictment was the
“common purpose” of the JCE and “the crimes charged in counts 2 through 11 were
part of the ‘campaign of terror’ or were a reasonably foreseeable consequence
thereof.”*

50. Justice Lussick disagreed that paragraph 5 specifies the common purpose was “to
terrorize the civilian population of the Republic of Sierra Leone,” adding that “there is
no more reason for reading paragraph 33 together with paragraph 5 than there is for
reading paragraph 33 together with any other paragraph of the Indictment.”
Furthermore, he observed that “the Accused should not be required to undergo the
brain-twisting exercise of reading together paragraphs 5, 9, 14, 22, 23, 28, 33 and 34
of the Indictment in order to fathom what liability facts are most likely to form the
basis for his alleged [JCE].”’

51. The Appeals Chamber upheld the Majority’s findings on 1 May 2009, holding that
the “common purpose” of the JCE was the commission of the crimes referred to in
Articles 2, 3, and 4 of the Statute and the JCE encompasses all crimes charged in the
Indictment.” The reviewing Court added that the common purpose comprises both
the objective of the JCE and the means that are contemplated to achieve that

00

objective.] Furthermore, and because the Indictment made clear the alleged

criminality of the enterprise, notice to the Accused does not require that the objective

Defect in the Prosecution’s Second Amended Indictment relating to the Pleading of JCE — Dissenting
Opinion of Justice Richard Lussick, 12 March 2009.

% JCE Trial Decision, para. 70. Justice Lussick took the view that the plain language of those paragraphs do
not support the Majority’s finding that the Indictment sufficiently fulfils the pleading requirements for JCE.
See, Dissenting Opinion of J. Lussick, paras 9-11.

% JCE Trial Decision, para. 71.

% See, Dissenting Opinion of J. Lussick, para. 11.

7 Ibid., para. 15.

* Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-775, Decision on Defence Notice of Appeal and Submissions
regarding the Majority Decision concerning the Pleading of JCE in the Second Amended Indictment, | May
2009 [JCE Appeals Decision].

? JCE Appeals Decision, para. 21.

' JCE Appeals Decision, paras 15 and 235, citing Prosecutor v. Brima, et al., SCSL-04-16-A-675,
Judgment, dated 22 February 2008, filed 3 March 2008 [4FRC Appeals Judgement], para. 76. (Cf.
Prosecutor v. Brima, et al., SCSL-04-16-A-676, Corrigendum to Judgment Dated 22 February 2008, 17
October 2008.)
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of the JCE and the means to achieve it be pleaded separately.lol It also upheld the
Trial Chamber’s reliance on paragraph 34 of the Indictment in determining the nature

of the Accused’s participation in the JCE.'%

Prejudicial Delay of Thirteen Months and Fourteen Days before the Trial
Chamber Ruled on the Defence’s Challenge to the Pleading of JCE

52. The Defence does not now seek to revisit issues that were resolved by the JCE
Appeals Decision. Some of those issues are, nonetheless, still of legal significance to
the extent that the uncertainty surrounding the JCE allegations in this case have had a
prejudicial and irremediable impact on the Accused’s fair trial rights. In particular, it
took the Trial Chamber 13 months and 14 days from the date on which pleadings on
the JCE Motion were closed (i.e., 14 January 2008) to render a decision on the
matter.'”® The Defence submits, in light of the procedural history of the case, that the
amount of time in question was inordinate and unreasonable, and it resulted in
irremediable prejudice to the Accused’s fair trial rights.

53. It will be recalled that the trial commenced with the Prosecution’s Opening Statement
on 4 June 2007.'®" The evidentiary phase started on 7 January 2008 with the
testimony of Ian Smillie, the first Prosecution witness.'” The Prosecution called 91
viva voce witnesses before resting its case on 27 February 2009,' but leave was
granted the Prosecution to re-open its case in the middle of the Defence case in order
to call three additional witnesses.'"” It was on the very day that the Prosecution rested
its case that the JCE Trial Decision was issued.

54. The prejudice to the Accused arising from such delay cannot be overstated.
Decisional law from international criminal tribunals evidence a uniform preference

for the resolution of any ambiguity in an Indictment as soon as it emerges, and in any

19! JCE Appeals Decision, paras 22 and 23.

"2 Ibid., paras 22-23.

19 The JCE Motion was filed on 14 December 2007 and pleadings closed on 14 January 2008 with the
filing of Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-388, Public Defence Reply to Prosecution Response to
Urgent Defence Motion regarding a Fatal Defect in the Prosecution’s Second Amended Indictment relating
to the Pleading of JCE, 14 January 2008. The JCE Trial Decision was issued on 27 February 2009.

94 TT, 4 June 2007, pp. 265 — 331 [Prosecution Opening Statement]. The transcripts of proceedings for 4
June 2007 have been published in at least two versions, identical in substance, but with different pagination.
The Prosecution’s Opening Statement appears on pages 26 — 90 in the second version of the transcripts.

195 TT, 7 Jan. 2008, p. 484.

1% TT, 27 Feb. 2009, p. 24057.

197 The three additional witnesses were Naomi Campbell, Mia Farrow, and Carole White. See, Prosecutor v.
Taylor, SCS1.-03-01-T-993, Decision on Public with Confidential Annexes A and B Prosecution Motion to
Call Three Additional Witnesses, 29 June 2010.
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event, pre-trial. Thus, the ICTY Appeals Chamber held in Krnojelac that where
ambiguity arises, “the Prosecution must identify precisely the form or forms of
liability alleged for each count as soon as possible and, in any event, before the start
of the trial.”'® Similarly, the ICTR Appeals Chamber has noted that should the
Defence be denied the material facts of an accused’s alleged criminal activity “until
the Prosecution files its pre-trial brief or until the trial itself, it will be difficult for the
Defence to conduct a meaningful investigation prior to the commencement of the
trial. The Trial Chamber must consider whether proceeding to trial in such
circumstances is fair to the accused.”'”’

55. In this case, the prejudice that inured to the Accused due to the unreasonable delay in
resolving the JCE issues is irremediable, inasmuch as the evidentiary phase of the trial
had commenced, the cross-examination of all viva voce Prosecution witnesses been
completed, and only on the day when the Prosecution rested its case (27 February
2009'"%) was the JCE Trial Decision was issued. That prejudice manifested itself in
various forms, notably these: (i) the Accused could not conduct meaningful pre-trial
investigation into the alleged common purpose of the JCE and the nature of the
Accused’s participation in it, (ii) effective cross-examination of Prosecution witnesses
regarding the common purpose of the JCE and the Accused’s participation in it was
severely undermined and hindered by the unresolved legal ambiguities surrounding
the Indictment, (iii) preparation for the Defence case during the currency of the
Prosecution’s case was fractured and impossible to progress due to uncertainty
regarding what JCE allegations to defend, and (iv) the very fact of a Majority opinion
on the JCE Motion serves to confirm that reasonable minds, including those of the
Justices, differed in their understanding of what the common purpose of the alleged
JCE was as they processed evidence being presented during the Prosecution’s case.

56. The prejudice to the Accused could not be cured during the Defence’s case alone, for
the obvious reason that all 91 viva voce Prosecution witnesses could into be recalled
to testify anew regarding the alleged common purpose of the JCE and/ or the nature of

the Accused’s participation in it. The Defence submits that the clock cannot be turned

"% Prosecutor v. Krnojelac, Case No.: IT-97-25-A, Judgement, 17 September 2003 [Krnojelac Appeal
Judgement], para. 138.

' Niyitegeka v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-14-A, Judgement, 9 July 2004 [Niyitegeka Appeal
Judgement], para. 194. See, also, Prosecutor v. Kvocka, et al., Case No. IT-98-30/1-A, Judgement, 28
February 2005 [Kvocka Appeals Judgement], para. 28.

"OTT, 27 Feb. 2009, p. 24057.

SCSL-03-01-T 28 23 May 2011



23 g

back to remedy these manifestations of prejudice and collectively, or in combination
with other errors lodged in this Brief, they have denied the Accused a fair trial.

57. As this Chamber noted in its disposition of the AFRC case, the judges are not
precluded from reviewing at the final judgement stage “whether shortcomings in the
form of the Indictment have actually resulted in prejudice to the rights of the
Accused.”'!! Indeed, it was settled by this Chamber that it is within its judicial
discretion to reconsider a decision previously made if a clear error of reasoning has

. . . . - 11
been demonstrated or if doing so is necessary to prevent an injustice 2

(and that we
submit can be even done proprio motu). Such is the case in relation to the alleged JCE
in this trial.

58. In addition to the strict fair trial requirements imposed by Article 17 of the Statute,
Rule 26bis affirms that it is ultimately the responsibility of the Trial Chamber to
“ensure that a trial is fair and expeditious and that proceedings before the Special
Court are conducted in accordance with the Agreement, the Statute and the Rules,
with full respect for the rights of the accused [...].”

59. Considering the context discussed above, the Defence submits that the history of the
JCE as a mode of liability in this case is so tainted and so discredited that it cannot
form the basis of a credible conviction in this case. Accordingly, the Defence requests
that the Chamber exercise its discretion, in the interests of justice, in declining to

consider JCE as a mode of criminal responsibility against the Accused.

"' See, AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 24. As this Chamber has observed, there is ample precedent to show
that the form of an indictment may be considered at the judgement stage. In this regard, see Prosecutor v.
Laurent Semanza, Case No. ICTR-97-20-T, Judgement, 15 May 2003 [Semanza Trial Judgement], paras
41-62; Prosecutor v. Jean Mpambara, Case No. ICTR-01-65-T, Judgement, 11 September 2006
[Mpambara Trial Judgement], paras 28-35; Prosecutor v. André Ntagerura, Emmanuel Bagambiki, Samuel
Imanishimwe, Case No. ICTR-99-46-T, Judgement, 25 February 2004 [Cyangugu Trial Judgement], paras
28-70; Emmanuel Ndindabahizi, Case No. ICTR-2001-71-T, Judgement, 15 July 2004 [Ndindabahizi Trial
Judgement], paras 28-29; Prosecutor v. Ntakirutimana and Ntakirutimana, Case No. ICTR-96-10 and
ICTR-96-17-T, Judgement, 21 February 2003 [Ntakirutimana Trial Judgement], paras 49-63; see also
Prosecutor v. Sesay, Kallon, Gbao, SCSL-04-15-PT, Transcript 25 October 2006, p. 8 (Oral Decision on
Motion for Judgement of Acquittal).

"2 prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-1132, Decision on Public with Annex A Defence Motion for
Reconsideration of Decision on the Defence Motion Requesting an Investigation into Contempt of Court by
the Office of the Prosecutor and its Investigators, 3 December 2010, page. 3. See, also, Prosecutor v.
Stanislav Gali¢, Case No. IT-98-29-AR73, Decision on Application by Prosecution for Leave to Appeal, 14
December 2001, para. 13; Kajelijeli v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-44A-A, Judgement, 23 May
2005 [Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement], paras 203 and 204; and Prosecutor v. André Ntagerura, Emmanuel
Bagambiki, Samuel Imanishimwe, Case No. ICTR-99-46-A, Judgement, 7 July 2006 [Cyangugu Appeal
Judgement], para. 55.
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What is the Legal Import or Significance of the JCE Appeals Decision?

60. The Defence’s position is that the Accused was prejudiced and consequently denied a
fair trial because of the ambiguity surrounding the JCE allegations at bar and the
unreasonable delay by the Trial Chamber in clarifying the ambiguity. Given that the
Indictment was upheld by the JCE Appeals Decision, relevant questions that
necessarily arise include, (i) what is the legal import or significance of the JCE
Appeals Decision? and (i1) did it operate nunc pro tunc to the commencement of the
case to put the Accused on notice of the case he was to defend even though it was
rendered on 1 May 2009?

61. In respect of the first question thus posed, the Defence submits that the JCE Appeals
Decision resolved what issues were raised in the JCE Motion and subsequent
pleadings. Those issues had at their core the sufficiency of the pleading of JCE in
respect of both the common purpose and the nature of the Accused’s participation in
the JCE, insofar as the alleged insufficiency of both was said to deny the Accused
sufficient notice of the case to be defended.'"® Those issues are qualitatively distinct
and different from the issues now being raised regarding denial of a fair trial on the
basis of unreasonable delay and the concomitantly adverse effects on the Accused’s
ability to defend against the JCE charges.

62. Regarding the question of retroactivity and the curative effect (if any) of the JCE
Appeals Decision vis-a-vis the sufficiency of notice given to the Accused, it will be
recalled that even the Trial Chamber was divided on the issues raised by the JCE
Motion at a time when the Prosecution had rested its case. Indeed, the Trial Chamber
found on 18 March 2009 that, “a continuous erroneous reading of the Indictment on
the issue of [JCE] as a form of liability, could result in irreparable prejudice to the
Accused who is entitled to know the nature of the case against him as enshrined in
Article 17(4)(a) of the Statute and that the complex nature of the case where pleading
of a joint criminal enterprise is a central issue, constitute exceptional

. 114
circumstances,”

warranting leave to appeal the JCE Trial Decision.
63. The Defence submits that the JCE Appeals Decision did not serve to cure the

irreparable prejudice that has been suffered by the Accused as a consequence of the

' Defence JCE Appeal, paras 20 and 7; Consequential JCE Motion, para. 12 and Conclusion; JCE Motion,
paras 7, 8, and 9; JCE Reply, paras 7 and 12; JCE Trial Decision, para. 20.

" Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-764, Decision on Defence Application for Leave to Appeal The
Decision on Urgent Defence Motion regarding a Fatal Defect in the Prosecution’s Second Amended
Indictment relating to the Pleading of JCE, dated 18 March 2009, filed 19 March 2009 [Decision Granting
Leave], page 4.
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Trial Chamber’s delay in issuing the JCE Trial Decision. Reasonable minds did
disagree on the import of the supposed JCE allegations in the Indictment from the
commencement of the case through conclusion of the Prosecution’s case and beyond,
and no legal fiction or legal fiat can deem the Accused to have been reasonably placed

to understand the JCE case against him.

Was the Ambiguity in the Indictment Clarified by Timely, Clear, and
Consistent Information regarding the Alleged JCE?

64. The Appeals Chamber has ruled that, in some circumstances, a defect in an indictment
may be cured if an accused is provided timely, clear, and consistent information
regarding the factual basis underpinning the charges, thereby placing the accused in a
reasonable position to understand the charges.''> While the JCE Appeals Decision
may be read as upholding the specificity of the Indictment, the ambiguity surrounding
the pleading of JCE was objectively reasonable as is evidenced by a pleading regime
that was at the floor (far from the ceiling) of what is legally advisable and desirable.

65. Indeed, the right of the Accused to information on the nature and cause of the charges
against him under Article 17(4)(a) of the Statute and Rule 47(C) requires that the
Prosecution not only know its case before it proceeds to trial, but that it puts the
Accused on notice so that he may properly defend himself. Omitting as material a fact
such as JCE from the allegations in the Indictment leads one to the reasonable
conclusion that the objective was to mould the case against the Accused even as the
evidence unfolded. The fair trial rights of the Accused make this simply unacceptable.

66. The Prosecution’s gross failure to plead JCE in a clear and unequivocal manner set up
the Accused for “prejudicial surprise.” For example, the Prosecution deleted the
phrase “joint criminal enterprise” from the Original Indictment''® with the filing of
the Amended Indictment''” on 17 March 2006. While the Appeals Chamber has stated
that the omission of those words does not, in and of itself, serve as proof of a defect,

this was predicated on the condition that the Prosecution’s intention to use the

"' JCE Appeals Decision, para. 16. See, also, Prosecutor v. Kupreskic, et al., Case No. IT-95-16-A, Appeal
Judgement, 23 October 2001 [Kupredki¢ Appeal Judgement], para. 114; Kvotka Appeals Judgement, para.
33; Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 220.

S prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-1-001, Indictment, signed 3 March 2003, filed 7 March 2003
[Original Indictment]. The phrase “joint criminal enterprise” appeared in paragraphs 23, 24, 25 and 26 of
the Original Indictment.

"7 Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-1-75, Amended Indictment, signed 16 March 2006, filed 17 March
2006 [Amended Indictmen], with “Case Summary Accompanying the Amended Indictment,” as Annex
[Case Summary].
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doctrine is otherwise clear and meaningfully communicated to the Accused. It is such
difficulties that has led (for example) the ICTR Appeals Chamber’s to demand in
Gacumbitsi that “because today ICTY and ICTR cases routinely employ the phrase
‘joint criminal enterprise’, that phrase should for the sake of maximum clarity
preferably be included in future indictments where JCE is being charged.”“8 It is
submitted that the same logic should apply to the SCSL cases. Indeed, the ICTY
Appeals Chamber in Krnojelac also “consider[ed] that it is preferable for an
indictment alleging the accused’s responsibility as a participant in a joint criminal
enterprise also to refer to the particular form (basic or extended) of joint criminal
enterprise envisaged.”'"” The Indictment is in this regard again wanting.

67. A question consequently arises regarding whether, despite the ambiguity in the
Indictment, other information provided the Defence by the Prosecution adequately
notified the Accused of the nature of the JCE charge he was to defend. The Defence
submits that the contrary occurred: namely, that the secondary accusatory instruments
and other pronouncements of the Prosecution regarding the nature of the JCE
allegations were far from clear and consistent and, if anything, evidence a pleading
regime of the “common purpose” of the JCE that was fluid, ever-evolving, and far
from consistent. Indeed, that much was acknowledged in the Dissenting Opinion of J.
Lussick.'*

68. Neither the Original Indictment of 2003 nor the Case Summary of 2006 mention
terrorizing the civilian population of Sierra Leone as either an overriding objééﬁve or

121

primary means of the alleged JCE. *" Instead, both list a common purpose to “gain

and exercise political power and control over the territory of Sierra Leone, in

particular the diamond mining areas.”'*

fl23

The same holds true for the Prosecution’s

Pre-Trial Brief'> and the Opening Statement.'** As far back as then, an alarm was

"8 Gacumbitsi v. The Prosecutor, ICTR-2001-64-A, Judgement, 7July 2006 [Gacumbitsi Appeals
Judgement], f.n., 380.

"% Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 138.

120 See, Dissenting Opinion, para. 16, “the objective of [the JCE] was not always expressed in the same
way” and para. 23, “there are some obvious differences in the way the various materials describe the
common purpose.”

2! Original Indictment and Case Summary.

122 Original Indictment, paras 23, 23-25. Case Summary, paras 42-44.

123 prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-PT-218, Rule 73bis Pre-Trial Conference Materials Pre-Trial Brief,
4 April 2007 ([Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief], para. 6 (the Accused “participated in a common plan, design or
purpose to gain and maintain political power and physical control over the territory of Sierra Leone, in
particular the diamond mining areas, in order to exploit the natural resources of the country”). See, also,
para. 143 (“A common plan to control a country by any means necessary, including criminal means, in
order to exploit the natural resources of that country may be considered to amount to[emphasis in the
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sounded in the Defence Pre-Trial Brief regarding the pleading of JCE in this case.'*’

The Defence there stated:

A notable feature of the Amended Indictment was the deliberate decision to drop the
allegation, present in the original indictment, that Mr. Taylor was part of a Joint
Criminal Enterprise (‘JCE’)... The decision to drop it from the Amended indictment
in the case of Mr. Taylor cannot be taken to have been accidental. Nor can the
Prosecution escape its consequences.'>® What is impermissible is for the Prosecution
to decide to no longer specifically plead JCE and yet to rely upon its elements via the
backdoor."”’ Charging of the forms of liability, in informing those accused in
sufficient detail the nature of the charge, so as the defence can be prepared, pursuant
to the rights to a fair trial, are materials facts that must be pleaded in the
indictment.'?*

There was thus from the pre-trial phase of the case, clear ambiguity regarding
whether JCE had been pleaded as a mode of liability.

69. Mention was first made of a “campaign of terror” in relation to a “common plan,

design or purpose” in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief,'?

and again during the Opening
Statement. " But between the 4 April 2007 Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and the 4 June
2007 Opening Statement, the Prosecution filed the Indictment on 29 May 2007 and,
as was the case with the Amended Indictment of 2006, reference to the goal of taking
over political power or control had been deleted. Furthermore, and following the
AFRC Trial Judgement and the finding that the Prosecution there defectively pleaded
JCE, the Prosecution in this case filed an Amended Case Summary on 3 August 2007,

Bl purportedly to further articulate the common plan, design or purpose alleged

original] the commission of crimes within the jurisdiction of the Court™). See, also, Prosecutor v. Taylor,
SCSL-03-01-PT-219, Prosecution Corrigendum & Motion for Leave to Substitute Pages of the
Prosecution Rule 73bis Pre-Trial Conference Materials, 17 April 2007, and Prosecutor v. Taylor,
SCSL-03-01-PT-224, Decision on Prosecution Motion for Leave to Substitute Pages of the
Prosecution Rule 73bis Pre-Trial Conference Materials,23 April 2007.

124 TT, 4 June 2007, p. 271: 9-15 (“...The accused is responsible for the development and execution of a
plan that caused the death and destruction in Sierra Leone. That plan, formulated by the accused and others,
was to take political and physical control of Sierra Leone in order to exploit its abundant natural resources
and to establish a friendly or subordinate government there to facilitate that exploitation™) and p. 282: 12-19
(“A plan was there formulated by the accused and others to take over political and physical control of Sierra
Leone in order to exploit its abundant natural resources and to establish a friendly or subordinate
government there to permit — to facilitate this exploitation. This was part of a larger strategy that included
helping others militarily in their respective revolutions to take over their respective countries, and the first
one was to be Liberia”).

125 Defence Pre-Trial Brief, paras 45-47.

16 1bid., para. 45.

7 1bid., para. 46.

%8 Ibid.

129 Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 7.

1% Opening Statement, p. 273:12-24.

BU prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-327, Prosecution Notification of Filing of Amended Case
Summary [Notification], with “Case Summary Accompanying the Second Amended Indictment,” as
Annex, 3 August 2007 [Amended Case Summary].
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against the Accused. The Amended Case Summary further shifted the language with
regards to the “common purpose” of JCE by alleging that the common plan was “to
pillage the resources of Sierra Leone, in particular the diamonds, and to forcibly
control the population of Sierra Leone” [emphasis added].”'2 In addition, the same
Amended Case Summary retained language from the 2006 Case Summary, to the
effect that the Accused and Foday Sankoh, in the late 1980s, made common cause to
assist each other “in taking power in their respective countries.”"*?

This procedural history demonstrates without question, the inconsistent articulation of
the “common purpose” in the secondary accusatory instruments and other
pronouncements of the Prosecution. They served to obfuscate rather than clarify the
nature of the JCE charges against the Accused, thereby denying him adequate notice
of what charges to defend. Taken together, they did not provide timely, clear, and
consistent information detailing the factual basis underpinning any alleged JCE
charges against the Accused. Indeed, the record demonstrates that the Prosecution
disregarded all jurisprudential exhortations regarding the proper pleading of JCE to
the disadvantage of the Accused. The consequences of this for the Accused have been
dire; the deleterious impact on the Accused’s fair trial rights hard to overstate.

The Defence submits that the Accused has been denied a fair trial due to the
irremediable prejudice that derived from the ambiguity surrounding the JCE
allegations and the unreasonable delay by the Trial Chamber in clarifying the
ambiguity. Given that actual prejudice has resulted to the Accused, the Defence
requests that the Trial Chamber remedy that prejudice by declining to consider JCE as
a mode of liability against the Accused at the judgement stage of this case, in the

exercise of its judicial discretion.

Factual Imperatives Warranting an Acquittal

The Defence maintains that certain facts which have been established by both
Prosecution and Defence evidence necessitate the acquittal of Charles Taylor. When
these facts are considered carefully and contextually vis-a-vis other proof amassed
during the case and the allegations in the Indictment, no reasonable trier of fact could,
in the Defence’s view, find that the case against Taylor has been established beyond

reasonable doubt.

2 Amended Case Summary, para. 42.
13 Amended Case Summary, para. 1; Case Summary, para. 1.
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Preliminary Observations regarding the Absence of Proof

73. Charles Taylor never set foot in Sierra Leone during the indictment period. No
evidence to the contrary appears in the record. Similarly, the Prosecution never
produced any video or audio recording, purporting to capture a conversation between
Charles Taylor and Foday Sankoh or any RUF or ARFC member. No evidence of
intercepted telephone calls'** pertaining to Taylor — recording or verbatim transcript —
was presented to this Court. Neither were records of cellular, satellite, or land
telephone call logs pertaining to Taylor presented by the Prosecution. Furthermore,
and despite calling several witnesses who claimed to be former radio operators in
RUF with extensive knowledge of the contents, methods and means of radio
communications within the RUF, '* not a single recording of Taylor talking on an

136 was played

RUF or AFRC radio (or any non-commercial/ public radio broadcast)
or produced for the Court.

74. The Prosecution also did not produce a single photograph depicting Taylor and
Sankoh together during the fourteen-year period from 1988 to 2002. This is against a
backdrop of allegations asserting that in the late 1980s in Libya, Taylor and Sankoh
“made common cause to assist each other in taking power in their respective
countries.”’®’ In fact, the Prosecution did not produce any photograph depicting
Taylor with Sankoh at any time whatsoever. The only photographs depicting Taylor
and Sankoh together were introduced by the Defence'*® and they were taken in Lomé,
Togo, during the July 1999 talks that resulted in the Lomé Peace Agreement.'*’ But
not one of those photographs show Taylor and Sankoh alone together: almost all of
the photographs depict Taylor in the company of four other West African heads of
state (presidents Olusegun Obasanjo of Nigeria, Tejan Kabbah of Sierra Leone,

Gnassingbé Eyadéma of Togo, and Blaise Compaoré of Burkina Faso) with Sankoh

134 Whether cellular, satellite, or land telephone calls.

133 E.g., Dauda Aruna Fornie (TF1-274); Foday Lansana (TF1-275); Mohammed Kabbah (TF1-568); Alice
Pyne (TF1-584); Perry Kamara (TF1-360); TF1-516; and TF1-585.

1% Recordings pertaining to interviews given by Taylor to the BBC on the radio, such as exhibits P-416A
and B (Mary Harper interview) and P-415 (BBC interview of Taylor in Gbarnga) have been introduced into
evidence by the Prosecution as compared with the absence of non-public or commercial radio recordings.
For evidence demonstrating that Taylor never communicated on non-commercial or public radio, see, e.g.,
TT, Taylor, 23 July 09, p. 25543-4; 16 Sep 09, p. 28994-5; DCT-179, 22 Feb 10, p. 35652-3; DCT-172, 8
July 10, p. 440334,

137 Amended Case Summary, para 1.

1% See, Exhibits: D-198AC, AD, AG, AH, Al, AJ, AK, AM; and Exhibits D-198-1, J, Q, R, S and T.

13 Agreed Fact 32 (“On 7 July 1999, the Government of Sierra Leone signed a peace agreement with the
RUF in Lomé, Togo (Lomé Peace Agreement).”
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somewhere in the periphery. That Taylor was in Lomé as a facilitator of peace in
Sierra Leone in the context of an ECOWAS mandate is indisputable and is discussed
below in this section and elsewhere in this Brief.

75. Furthermore, not a single officer or official of ECOMOG was called by the
Prosecution as a witness, despite the extended presence and extensive mandate of
ECOMOG in Liberia and Sierra Leone during the 1990s'* and the plethora of
references to ECOMOG and “Alpha jets”'*! in the record. In this regard, it is
noteworthy that it was the Defence that introduced into evidence the statement of
Alpha Konaré, President of ECOWAS from 1999 to 2000 and President of the
Republic of Mali from 1992 to 2002."*

76. The same holds true for UN officials and military personnel who were deployed in the
theatre of war in Liberia and Sierra Leone during times relevant to the Indictment:
with the exception of TF1-150,'"* no such official or personnel testified as a
Prosecution witness. Indeed, it was the Defence that introduced into evidence, the
statement of Lt. General Daniel Opande, the Chief Military Observer of UNOMIL in
Liberia from 1993 to 1995 and Force Commander of UNAMSIL in Sierra Leone from
November 2000 to September 2003."** The Defence also introduced the statement of
Oluyemi Adeniji, the Special Representative of the UN Secretary-General (“SRSG”)

3’145

to Sierra Leone from December 1999 to early 200 in addition to over 45 code

cables by the SRSG to Liberia, Felix Downes-Thomas, that were introduced into

evidence by the Defence.'*

' ECOMOG was established by ECOWAS on 7 August 1990 and deployed in Liberia on 24 August 1990.
See, Exh. D-346, p. 8, Exh. D-181, p. 3, and TT, Taylor, 20 July 2009, p. 24729. ECOMOG remained in
Liberia until January 1999. See, Exh. D-181. As of March 1996, ECOMOG still had approximately 7500
troops in Liberia. See, Exh. P-426, p. 187. The mandate and scope of ECOMOG activity was extended in
August 1997 to cover Sierra Leone. See, Exh. D-346, p. 8 and D-347, p. 2. See, also, Exhs. D-177 and D-
348. ,

I See, e.g., TT, Samuel Kargbo, TF1-597, 21 May 08, p. 10491; TT, Issa Sesay, DCT-172, 12 Aug. 2010,
p. 46085 and 7 Jul. 2010, pp. 43863 and 43866; TT, Dauda Aruna Fornie, TF1-274, 3 Dec. 2008, pp. 21566
—67; TT, Martin George, DCT-062, 22 Apr. 2010, p. 39704; TT, Charles Ngebeh, DCT-146, 23 Mar. 2010,
pp. 37886 — 87; TT, Foday Lansana, TF1-275, 25 Feb. 2008, p. 4694; TT, TF1-539, 10 June 2008, p.
11398; and TT, TF1-371, 30 Jan. 2008, p. 2575.

"2 See Exh. D-441A. ~

143 Regarding TF1-150"s employment history with the UN, see TT, 18 Feb. 2008, pp. 4005 — 06.

'** See Exh. D-441C.

' See Exh. D-441B.

146 See, e.g., Exhibits D-163, D170, D181 — D183, D192, D193A — D193D, D193G, D193J, D193K, D197,
D200, D206, D207, D209, D210, D211, D213, D222, D226, D227, D228, D232, D235, D236A, D236B,
D238, D239A — D239C, D255, D265, D270, D272, D279, D350, D351, D352, D354, D357, D358, D362,
and D367. See, also. TT, Taylor, 30 Jul. 2009, p. 25721.
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77. In addition, and despite Prosecution questions to Taylor aimed at showing that the
NPFL used child soldiers during the conflicts in Liberia,'*” not a single “child soldier”
from the Liberian conflict was called by the Prosecution as a witness, ignoring for a
moment the questionable centrality and relevance of such evidence to Count 9 of the
Indictment. Additionally, there is also no evidence on record to suggest that
amputations of civilians was a feature of the Liberian civil wars between 1989 and
2003. That is to be compared with evidence led in relation to such atrocities during
the war in Sierra Leone.'*®

78. The absence of Prosecution evidence in these various regards explicates the
selectivity and limitations of the Prosecution’s evidence. Selected snapshots of events
behind some of the allegations have been presented to the exclusion of other
snapshots which paint a fuller and more accurate picture, one that the Prosecution
apparently does not want the Chamber to know about. As such, the entire Prosecution

evidence necessarily should be viewed with a healthy dose of skepticism and caution.

Hearsay Evidence and the Absence of Proof
79. Other noteworthy matters regarding the absence of proof in this case include the
Prosecution’s failure to call Ibrahim Bah, Benjamin Yeaten, and Eddie Kanneh as
witnesses. Chief Prosecutor Stephen Rapp referred to Yeaten during the Opening
Statement as “the right-hand man of the accused”'* and “the principal liaison officer
between the accused and his forces in Sierra Leone.”"*” Ibrahim Bah was said to be
“part of the accused's trusted inner circle”"®" and he “played a central role in directly
setting up most of the arms and diamond transactions for the accused involving Sierra
Leone.”'> It was Bah who “created ties” with the RUF and Sankoh between 1991 -
1992 on behalf of the accused and “started to organize and set up arms shipments for

the RUF from third countries.”'® Eddie Kanneh was described by the Chief

"7 TT, Taylor, 2 Dec, 2009, pp. 32852-53.

18 See, e.g., evidence about one “Adama Cut Hand” and amputations ordered or carried out by her during
the war in Sierra Leone. TT, Mustapha “Marvin” Mansaray, TF1-337, 5 Mar. 2008, p. 5313; TT, Alimamy
Bobson Sesay, TF1-334, 23 Apr. 2008, p. 8336; TT, TF1-143, 6 May 2008, p. 9081; TT, TF1-158, 21 Oct.
2008, pp. 18819 and 18817; and TT, John Vincent, DCT-215, 25 Mar. 2010, p. 38065.

' Opening Statement, p. 277: 25-26.

"0 Ibid., p. 278: 1-2.

P! Ibid., p. 278: 7.

152 Ibid., p. 278: §-10.

'} Ibid., 286: 16-20.
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Prosecutor as “a main diamond man for the alliance in dealings with the accused,

especially from 1998 onwards.”'**

80. The Chief Prosecutor went on to emphasise that:

“Your Honours have heard the names Sam Bockarie, Mosquito; Ibrahim Bah;
Benjamin Yeaten; Colonel Jungle; and Issa Sesay. Your Honours, I ask you to
remember these names which will echo in these chambers throughout this trial. The
accused may not have set foot in Sierra Leone during the time period, but he stamped
his mark indelibly on the whole country."**

And yet, the Prosecution failed to call Yeaten, Bah, Kanneh or Issa Sesay as
witnesses. No explanation was provided for the failure to hear first-hand from these
principal names in the most important of cases, rather than the second and often third
or fourth-hand hearsay accounts regarding their actions that was provided by so-
called Prosecution linkage witnesses. Indeed, it was the Defence who called Sesay as
a witness in support of Taylor’s innocence.'*® This is someone that Prosecutor Rapp
described as the “interim leader of the RUF in 2000, continuing into 2001,” and “a
central link between the accused and the AFRC/RUF alliance.”"®’

81. The failure of the Prosecution to call these key individuals as witnesses against Taylor
illustrates, among other things, a systemic weakness in the Prosecution’s case
involving substantial reliance on hearsay evidence to a degree that effectively renders
such evidence the norm and not the exception. While it is legally permissible to base a
conviction on hearsay evidence,'*® caution is warranted under such circumstances'>®

and establishing the reliability of hearsay evidence is of paramount importance.'®® The

Defence submits that significant reliance by the Prosecution on second and third-hand

hearsay accounts call into question the reliability of the Prosecution’s case and

necessitates great caution and vigilance on the part of the Trial Chamber when

assessing and evaluating the credibility and reliability of Prosecution witnesses.

The Prosecution’s Cross-Examination of Charles Taylor

82. Charles Taylor availed himself of the opportunity to appear as a witness in his own

161 162

defence, pursuant to Rule 85(C).”" Taylor commenced testifying on 14 July 2009

'3 Ibid., p. 281: 11-12.

15 Opening Statement, P. 299: 10-16.

16 TT, 5 Jul. 2010, p. 43583, Issa Sesay.

157 Ibid., p. 280: 9-10.

'8 Prosecutor v. Fofana, et al., Case No. SCSL-04-14-A, Appeal Judgement, 28 May 2008 (CDF Appeal
Judgement), para. 198; Gacumbitsi Appeals Judgement, para. 115; and Prosecutor v Muvunyi, ICTR-2000-
55A-A, Appeals Judgement, 29 August 2008 (Muvunyi Appeals Judgement), paras 70 and 81.

' Muvunyi Appeals Judgement, paras 70 and 81.

' CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 198.

' Rules, Rule 85(C).

'82TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24324.
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and concluded on 18 February 2010.'® The Prosecution’s cross-examination of
Taylor started on 10 November 2009'®* and ended on 5 February 2010.'%°
Consequently, both parties and the Court had ample opportunity to question Taylor
regarding any and all matters pertaining to the charges in this case. However, and in
the approximately 2 months of cross-examination by the Prosecution, not once were
the specific paragraphs and allegations of the Indictment put directly to Taylor for
admission or denial. Instead, the Prosecution spent a significant amount of time cross-
examining Taylor on matters that are wholly irrelevant to the charges at bar. An
illustrative example are the several days spent canvassing documents aimed at
showing alleged financial irregularities on Taylor’s part during his tenure as President
of Liberia.

83. Several days166 were spent questioning Taylor about barely legible statement of

167 and a

accounts from the Liberian Bank for Development and Investment (LBDI)
few documents from Citibank, N.A.'®® This was after the Prosecution had caused
Liberian government officials to obtain a search warrant and undertake searches of
Taylor’s Congo Town residence, Whiteflower, and four banks in Liberia, following
which nothing irregular or criminal was discovered.'®® Additionally, the Prosecution
did not link any of the questions regarding bank accounts and alleged financial
impropriety to any allegation of providing arms to rebels in Sierra Leone, alleged
diamond transactions with the RUF or AFRC, or any of the charges in the Indictment.
Even counsel for the Prosecution acknowledged the irrelevance of the entire area of

inquiry to the charges in open court,'™ adding that, “The mere fact that Mr[.] Taylor

'®3TT, Taylor, 18 Feb. 2010, p. 35446.

'® TT, Taylor, 10 Nov. 2009, p. 31566.

'3 TT, Taylor, 5 Feb. 2010, p. 34859-60.

166 See, e.g., TT, Taylor, 7 Dec. 2009, pp. 33035 through 33118; TT, Taylor, 2 Dec. 2009, pp. 32905 to
32906; TT, Taylor, 26 Nov. 2009, pp. 32656 to 32664; TT, Taylor, 1 Dec. 2009, pp. 32795 to 32819; TT,
Taylor, 28 Jan. 2010, pp. 34321 to 34387; TT, Taylor, 27 Jan. 2010, pp. 34223 to 34227.

17 See, Exhs. P-402, P-403A, P-403B, P-404, P-405, P-408, P-409, P-410, and P-411. See, TT, Taylor, 7
Dec. 2009, p. 33043: 12, Prosecution counsel’s acknowledgement about Exh. P-403B that, “It’s a very poor
quality.” See, also, TT, Taylor, 7 Dec. 2009, p. 33044: 19 — 22, the Presiding Judge’s remarks regarding
what ultimately became exhibits P-403B and P-403 A, respectively, “We'll mark the first document referred
to which is a fairly illegible copy of an LBDI chequing account signature card, that will be MFI-306A and
the second document that's just been referred to is MFI-306B.”

'8 See Exh. P-407. \

'$9TT, Taylor, 10 Nov. 2009, pp. 31545 — 31547.

'™ See, TT, Taylor, 2 Dec. 2009, p. 32908: 1-9 (Prosecution counsel stated that, “In and of itself, Mr
Taylor's wealth does not prove any of the charges. He is not charged with corruption in Liberia. He is not
charged with being wealthy. None of the evidence I'm presenting here goes directly to any of the charges,
any of the evidence. I do not have before the Court evidence that the funds came from Sierra Leone or the
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has money is irrelevant, unless we can tie that money directly to Sierra Leone. So,
yes, we are only offering this for credibility.”'"

84. Had the Prosecution really been minded to ascertain the truth about the LBDI account
that was at the centre of most of its questions, it would have called the co-signator of
the account, Ms. Kaddieyatu Darrah,'” as a witness. But there was in that regard the
same absence of proof that has become the hallmark of the Prosecution’s case.

85. More irrelevant questions occupied court time during cross-examination of Taylor,
with another example being the issue of the traditional title “Dankpannah.”'”® The
Prosecution challenged Taylor regarding the holder of the title, suggesting that it was
never duly conferred upon Taylor but was instead conveniently appropriated by him

when he became President.!”

But here again, the Prosecution did not call the person it
was alleged was the rightful holder of the “Dankpannah” title, Chief Jallah Loon,'” as
a witness and chose to rely instead on a purported news article by Star Radio,
Liberia.'”® The Defence subsequently introduced an Affidavit by Chief Loon which
states in paragraph 7: “That he (Chief Jallah Loon) was Dah Kpannah before he
turned the title over to former President Charles Ghankay Taylor and that being Dah
Kpannah is a lifetime appointment.”'”’

86. On the face of such a record, the Defence submits that the Prosecution’s cross-
examination of Taylor was unfocused, disjointed, and generall‘y ineffective vis-a-vis
discrediting his evidence in-chief and demonstrating his alleged responsibility for the

alleged crimes in Sierra Leone.

Taylor’s Role as Peace-Maker
87. A central and recurring theme during the Defence case has been the role played by
Charles Taylor in fostering peace between the warring factions in Sierra Leone. That

role was not unilateral or accidental: it arose from a combination of factors and

sale of resources stolen from Sierra Leone. I'm simply rebutting his position that he had no money and no
bank accounts with significant money.”

"' TT, Taylor, 2 Dec. 2009, p. 32908: 27 — 29.

'”2TT, Taylor, 7 Dec. 2009, pp. 33043 to 33044; See, also, Exh. P-403A.

' The spelling that appears in the trial transcripts 1s “Dankpannah,” while Exh. D-421 has the spelling as
“Dah Kpannah” and Exh. P-401 indicates a spelling of “Darkpanah.”

'™ TT, Taylor, 2 Dec. 2009, pp. 32927 — 32930; TT, Taylor, 2 Dec. 2009, p. 32952 - 32955. See, also, Exh.
P-401.

'3 The trial transcripts spell the name as “Lone” while the witness’ Affidavit gives his name as “Loon.”
Compare TT, Taylor, 2 Dec. 2009, p. 32952 with Exh. D-421.

176 Exh. P-401; TT, Taylor, 2 Dec. 2009, p. 32952 - 32955.

177 Exh. D-421, para. 7. See, also, Prosecutor v. Taylor, SCSL-03-01-T-978, Decision on Defence
Application for Admission of Affidavit by DCT-118 pursuant to Rule 92bis, 11 June 2010.

SCSL-03-01-T 40 23 May 2011



oY

contextually has its roots in Liberia’s membership of the ECOWAS Committee of
Five on Sierra Leone and Taylor’s experience as a revolutionary in Liberia. As Taylor
put it, ECOWAS had been dealing with the Sierra Leonean problem under the
Committee of Four before his election as President of Liberia in 1997.!7® Almost
immediately after his election, the Committee of Five came into existence with
Liberia becoming a member.'” Taylor acquiesced in Liberia’s membership on the
Committee because he thought that he could help: “I thought that I could be of some
help because I realised that unless peace returned to Sierra Leone there was no way
that Liberia could make it. Absolutely no way.”'*

88. The ECOWAS leadership seised on Taylor’s willingness to assist and in jest'®' (but
with all seriousness) said to Taylor that since he was an “old rebel,”'®? he knew “how
to deal with rebels” and was thus being brought onto the Committee to help bring

183

peace to Sierra Leone. ™ Indeed, not only was Taylor asked to get involved, he was

I . . . I
»18 and made “in charge of the Sierra Leonean issue”'®® by

placed “on the front line
his colleagues in ECOWAS.

89.  To be sure, Taylor was not the only West African leader that was engaged in fostering
peace and security in Sierra Leone during periods relevant to the Indictment. Others,
such as, presidents Olusegun Obasanjo'®® of Nigeria, Tejan Kabbah'®’ of Sierra
Leone, Gnassingbé Eyadéma'®® of Togo, Blaise Compaoré'® of Burkina Faso, and
Alpha Konaré'™ of Mali were also involved in that process.'®! For example, Sam
Bockarie is said to have travelled from Sierra Leone in late November 1998 with a
delegation that included Eddie Kanneh and SYB Rogers to, among other places,
Burkina Faso, where they discussed the Abidjan Peace Accord and the peace process

in Sierra Leone with President Blaise Compaoré, who was Chairman of the O.A.U. at

'8 TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24331: 21 - 23.

' TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24335: 5— 7, and p. 24331: 21 - 23.

"0 TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24335:8 — 13.

*! See reference to “jokingly” in TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24331: 23 — 24 and p. 24335 9.

"2 TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, pp. 24331: 25 — 2 and 24337: 10 - 14.

'3 TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24332: 2 — 4.

" TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24336: 14 - 15 and 27.

" TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24336: 14 — 22, 27 — 28; p. 24331: 21 — 28; and p. 24337: 10— 16,

'8 Exhs. D-362, D-228, D-195, and D-221.

%7 See Exhs. D-441E and D-439C.

"% Exh. D-214, page 2.

'*” Exhibit P-63; TT, Issa Sesay, DCT-172, 9 Jul. 2010, pp. 44125-29; TT, TF1-371, 31 Jan. 2008, p. 2750;
TT, Taylor, 6 Aug. 2009, p. 26129, 10 Aug. 2009, p. 26391-92;

' See Exh. D-441A.

" See, Exhibits: D-197; D-198AC, AD, AG, AH, Al AJ, AK, AM; and Exhs. D-198-I, J, Q,R,Sand T.
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the time.'”?

Nevertheless, Taylor’s contribution to the peace process was significant
and it was initially occasioned by the prodding of fellow West African leaders in
ECOWAS and eventually took the form of an outright mandate to serve as
ECOWAS’ point president for peace in Sierra Leone.

90. The Prosecution has sought to use Taylor’s contribution in this regard to his
disadvantage by offering a competing theory to the effect that Taylor exploited his
unique position within ECOWAS and was, in effect, double-handed in his dealings
with the ECOWAS leadership.'” The Prosecution’s view has been that while Taylor
claimed and acted publicly as if he was keen on seeing peace in Sierra Leone, behind
the scenes he was the de facto leader of the RUF and/ or AFRC and he exploited his
position within the inner circles of the ECOWAS leadership to “advance the criminal
interest of the AFRC and RUF in Sierra Leone”'** and his “own criminal interest,”!%
and to give him “plausible deniability.”'*®

91. It is interesting to note that this theory by the Prosecution only came into existence
gfter Taylor testified and the Defence presented a significant amount of documentary
evidence showing that the release of the UNAMSIL peace-keepers was spear-headed
by Taylor in full view of the UN, ECOWAS, and the international community. The
Opening Statement illustrates the original interpretation that the Prosecution attached
to Taylor’s actions in facilitating the release of the UNAMSIL peace-keepers: namely,
that Taylor essentially ordered his subordinates in the RUF (Issa Sesay and others) to
release the hostages and they immediately complied with his orders, without there
being any sustained negotiation for their release or any transparency in Taylor’s
actions. These excerpts from the Opening Statement are illustrative of that view:

Then in May 2000, there's the abduction of the peacekeepers by RUF folks -- by RUF
forces, by RUF troops. There's a demonstration in Freetown outside Sankoh's house
and 25 civilians are killed. Sankoh is arrested some days later with many of his RUF
commanders. The ECOWAS appoints the accused to ensure that the RUF complies
with the terms of the Lomé Agreement, and in that role he negotiates or orders the
release of the UN peacekeepers. The UNAMSIL hostages in mid-2000 are sent by
the RUF not into neutral territory in Sierra Leone for their liberation but to Monrovia,
to be released there by the accused.'”’

12 Exhibit P-63; TT, Issa Sesay, DCT-172, 9 Jul. 2010, pp. 44125-29; TT, TF1-371, 31 Jan. 2008, p. 2750;
TT, Taylor, 6 Aug. 2009, p. 26129, 10 Aug. 2009, p. 26391-92.

" TT, Taylor, 5 Feb. 2010, p. 34846: 15 -29 through p. 34847: 1 - 5. See, e.g., allegations that while
Taylor purported to pursue peace, he was on the other hand discouraging the RUF from disarming. TT,
TF1-338, 2 Sep. 2008, p. 15149-50: also see p. 15174-6.

" TT, Taylor, 5 Feb. 2010, p. 34846: 26 -27.

' TT, Taylor, 5 Feb. 2010, p. 34846: 23 -24.

" TT, Taylor, 5 Feb. 2010, p. 34847: 4 — 5.

197 Opening Statement, p. 293: 18-27.

SCSL-03-01-T 42 23 May 2011



SFoya

When the accused ordered senior level leaders of these groups to travel to Liberia to
meet with him, they did so.'*®

92.  Unfortunately for the Prosecution, incontrovertible evidence independent of Taylor’s
testimony bear out Taylor’s role as a peace-maker vis-a-vis the conflict in Sierra
Leone, confirming not only Taylor’s evidence but at the same time dealing a fatal
blow to the entire Prosecution case and its shifting theories.

93. It will be recalled that Taylor said the following regarding corroboration of his role as
ECOWAS’ key president for peace in Sierra Leone: “let me Jjust add for the judges
this is contained in resolutions of ECOWAS that will be presented to this Court,
communiques on the approval of ECOWAS stating exactly what I'm saying, asking

me to get personally involved on the front line in helping to resolve the issue in Sierra

53199

Leone.”"” Some of the evidence which was being alluded to include these:

During a meeting held in Bamako, Mali, in March 2000, with the Chairman of
ECOWAS, Alpha Konaré, and Mano River Union presidents Kabbah of Sierra
Leone, Lansana Conte of Guinea, the SRSG to Sierra Leone, a representative of the
Secretary General of the O.A.U., and Taylor in attendance,”® Taylor was asked ‘o
get personally involved in solving the issues which hamper the peace process in
Sierra Leone and to seek adequate solutions in consultation with the other heads of
state.[emphasis added].”?"!

During a Summit of ECOWAS Heads of State held on 9 May 2000 in Abuja, Nigeria,
in the presence of seven West African presidents (including Kabbah of Sierra
Leone),” the leadership of ECOWAS ‘approved the mandate given by the current
ECOWAS Chairman and by the Heads of State of the Mano River Union to the
President of the Republic of Liberia, His Excellency Dahkpanah Dr Charles
Ghank{a]y Taylor to involve himself personally to ensure the liberation of the
hostages and the resumption of the application of the Lomé Peace Agreement
[emphasis added]"**

During the 23" Summit of the Authority of Heads of State and Governments of
ECOWAS in Abuja, Nigeria, 28 - 29 May 2000, and regarding hundreds of

108 Opening Statement, p. 327: 22-23.

"> T, Taylor, 14 July 2009, p. 24336: 29 through p. 24337: 1 — 4,

20 Exh. D-237, p. 2.

U Exh. D-237, para. 11.

22 Exh. D-248, pp. 1 - 2.

23 Exh. D-248, para. 5. Interestingly, Taylor left Liberia for Abuja on 8 May 2000 to attend the summit
which commenced on 9 May 2000 (see, Exh. D-248, confirming Taylor’s attendance and TT, Taylor, 14
Sept. 2009, pp. 28822-24) and yet, Prosecution witness TF 1-567 testified that
H (Taylor) was angry at Foday Sankoh for basing himself in Freetown and not Kailahun. The
witness added that heard about
Sankoh being involved in the incident at Spur Road in May 2000. See, TT, TF1-567, 7 July 2008, p. 13021:
8-20. Other evidence before the Court clearly establishes that the incident at F oday Sankoh’s house on Spur
Road in Freetown took place on 8 May 2000 (see, e.g., TT, Alice Pyne, TF1-584, 19 Jun. 2008, p. 12291
and TT, Tariqg Malik, 19 Jan. 2009, p. 22940), making it clear that Taylor could not have been meeting RUF
rebels * at time when he was travelling to attend the ECOWAS summit in Abuja.
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UNAMSIL personnel that had been taken hostage by the RUF, the heads of state
congratulated Taylor ‘on the speed and effectiveness of his actions in the execution
of the mandate given to him by his colleagues. They expressed their gratitude to...
Taylor for sparing no effort in securing the release of a large number of the hostages,
and renewed his mandate to use his good offices in obtaining the release of the
remaining hostages and the recovery of the arms seized [emphasis added].”**

94. The mandate given Taylor by the ECOWAS leadership was carried-out transparently
and with the full knowledge of ECOWAS and UN officials at all stages of the peace
process. For example, Taylor’s GOL was instrumental in transporting RUF members
from Sierra Leone to Lomé to attend the peace talks.*® Those transported included
Foday Sankoh, who was the first to travel to Lomé in mid-April 1999.2% Others who
were transported included Omrie Golley and Ibrahim Bah, both of whom travelled
through Roberts International Airport.**” Several official UN documents evidence the
GOL’s involvement in the transportation process’®® and those RUF members that
transited through Liberia were lodged at the “RUF guesthouse” which was provided
by Taylor’s GOL with security and facilities for the use of RUF members, including
Sam Bockarie,”” in furtherance of the peace process. The guesthouse was an official
address to which diplomats, NGOs, and all those interested in the peace process in
Sierra Leone could go.*' It existence was known even to the SRSG to Liberia *"!

95. It will be recalled that in a diplomatic code cable dated 6 July 1999, the SRSG in
Liberia, Mr. Downes-Thomas, advised U.N. officials Prendergast and Miyet in New
York, that “President Taylor left Monrovia today for Lomé, Togo, to attend an
emergency summit of West African leaders.”?'? “According to a... press release
issued on July 5... the President is to join President Olusegun Obasanjo of Nigeria

and Current Chairman, President Blaise Campaore of Burkina Faso, among other

2% Exh. D-252, para. 21. TT, Taylor, 18 Aug. 2009, p. 27040-45.

2% See, Exhs. D-193A-K.

*% See, Exhs. D-355B and D-355C (both confirming that Sankoh arrived in Lomé on or about 18 April
1999); and TT, Charles Taylor, 11 Aug 2009, 26500-01.

7 TT, Taylor, 11 Aug 2009, pp. 26503-04 and 26527: TT, Taylor, 11 Aug 2009, 26527. Exh. D-193D, D-
193G, and D-193H.

*% See, Exhs. D-193A-K.

2 Exh. D-1937 and TT, Taylor, 18 Aug. 2009, p. 26530 and 11 Nov 2009, p. 31610.

210 TT, Charles Taylor, 13 Aug. 2009, p. 26796; Exh. D-217 (reference to “Official Guest House, Congo
Town”).

! Exh. D-1937; TT, Charles Taylor, 13 Aug. 2009, pp. 26796-9; Exh. D-217 (reference to “Official Guest
House, Congo Town™).

212 Exh. D-197. Taylor went to Lomé with a delegation of Government of Liberia [GOL] dignitaries,
including Foreign Minister Monie Captan, the President Pro-Tempore of the Senate, Keikura Kpoto,
Information Minister Joe Mulbah, the Director-General of the Institute for Strategic Studies, Ernest
Eastman, the Deputy Minister for Public Affairs and Press Secretary to the President, Reginald Goodridge,
and the Director-General of the Institute of Public Administration, Dr. James Teah Tarpeh. Ibid.
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leaders to discuss regional issues, including the crisis in Sierra Leone.”*"> “The
summit comes in the wake of misgivings expressed by the RUF about the draft peace
agreement. The summit is expected to break any related stalemate.”?'* Taylor’s
attendance at the Lomé peace talks was part of his continuing involvement and efforts
as ECOWAS’ point president for peace in Sierra Leone, in order to “break any...
stalemate” in negotiations between the Government of Sierra Leone (“GOSL”) and
the RUF. That much was achieved in Lomé by Taylor and the other presidents.

96. Besides facilitating the release of UN hostages and the travel of RUF members to
Lomé, Taylor undertook several other initiatives for the sake of peace in Sierra Leone.
As the point person on the Committee of Six after the Okra Hill incident, Taylor met

i Johnny Paul Koroma (JPK) for the first time in August 1999, after having negotiated
for the release of JPK who had been held hostage by the RUF. 2!° Taylor then hosted
mediation meetings between Sankoh and JPK in Monrovia between 28 and 30
September 1999, with the full knowledge of ECOWAS, the O.A.U., and the UN.2!¢
The BBC reported on Taylor’s mediation efforts on 1 October 199927 and President
Obasanjo sent a presidential aircraft®'® that was used to transport Sankoh, Koroma and
other diplomats back to Freetown. (The GOL chartered a second aircraft that took the
rest of the delegation and family members of Koroma to Freetown.)’!

97. Taylor’s efforts for peace also necessitated contact with Bockarie?2° and Issa Sesay.”*!

Indeed, Taylor provided Bockarie with a satellite telephone in October 1998 for use in

speaking to Taylor, other African heads of state and journalists. 22 Similarly, Taylor

gave a satellite telephone to Issa Sesay sometime in 2000, 22 having established
contact with Sesay for the first time in May 2000 during the UNAMSIL hostage

224

incident.”™" The gift of both satellite telephones by Taylor was neither unusual nor

?* Ibid., and See, Exhs. D-198AC, AD, AG, AH, Al AJ, AK, AM; and Exhibits D-198-1, J, Q, R, S and T.
24 Exh. D-197.

215 TT, Taylor, 28 Jul. 2009, pp. 25436:23 - 25437:10; and TT, 12 Aug. 2009, pp. 26666:03 - 26669:28.

*'% Exhs, D-217, D-22, D-218, and D-220.

27 Exh. D-23.

218 Exh. D-221.

219 TT, Charles Taylor, 13 Aug. 2009, p. 26814-5; see, also, Exh. D-222 (SRSG’s report regarding the 3
October 1999 departure of Sankoh and Koroma from Monrovia, and their return to Freetown).

2OTT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24337.

2L TT, Taylor, 2 Nov. 2009, pp. 30865-66.

22 TT, Taylor, 23 Sept. 2009, pp. 29591-92; TT, Taylor, 17 Sept. 2009, pp. 29282-83; TT, Taylor, 26 Oct.
2009, pp. 30268-71; and TT, Taylor, 6 Aug 09, p. 26225.

* TT, Taylor, 22 Sept. 2009, pp. 29391-2.

% TT, Issa Sesay, DCT-172, 14 Jul. 2010, pp. 44503:21 - 44522:7; and TT, Taylor, 2 Nov. 2009, pp.
30865:15 -30866:23.
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clandestine as far as the ECOWAS leadership was concerned in the search for peace

in Sierra Leone. 2%

98. Taylor also provided Sesay with Five Thousand U.S. Dollars ($ 5, 000.00) for fuel to
transport the UNAMSIL hostages to Foya, Liberia.?* Additionally, and when
problems arose between Sankoh and Bockarie during the latter part of 1999, Taylor
intervened for the sake of peace and held meetings with both men, ultimately
facilitating the relocation of Bockarie from Sierra Leone to Liberia to keep the
peace.””’ President Obasanjo joined Taylor at Roberts International Airport (“RIA”)
for one of those meetings with Bockarie®®® and the matter was communicated to the
UN* It was then that Bockarie was given the option of relocating to Liberia.>*’
President Kabbah was also aware of Bockarie’s relocation to Liberia.?! Not only was
President Kabbah aware, he was consulted about the matter, as were the UN
Secretary-General, leaders in the West African Sub-Region and the United States
Government.**

99.  Commendation and praise for Taylor’s efforts in fostering peace in Sierra Leone were
forthcoming from near and far alike. Bismarck Myrick, then U.S. Ambassador to
Liberia, stated that «...[Taylor’s] efforts to secure the release of the United Nations
personnel being held by the RUF are to be applauded. We note with appreciation their
continuing success.”> The Reverend Jesse Jackson applauded Taylor’s efforts in
securing the release of the UN personnel held by the RUF and hoped that Taylor
would succeed in securing the release of all those that were detained.”* Then U.S.
Secretary of State, Madeleine Albright, thanked Taylor™ for his support for regional
peace and recognised his work in promoting dialogue among key players and

persuading the rebel leaders to return to Freetown as an important contribution

towards the implementation of the Lomé Accord. She extended her appreciation and

% See, e.g., Exh. D-467 which is a letter sent by Gibril Massaquoi to President Obasanjo reminding him
(Obasanjo) of his promise to provide Massaquoi and Issa Sesay satellite phones so that they could be in
touch with Obasanjo and other ECOWAS leaders.

*% TT, Issa Sesay, DCT-172, 14 Jul. 2010, pp. 44503:21 - 44522:7.

27 See, Exhs. D-228, D-227, and D-232; TT, Taylor, 17 Aug. 2009, pp. 26843-47.

¥ Exh. D-227; TT, Taylor, 17 Aug. 2009, pp. 26853-4 and 26857.

Y TT, Taylor, 17 Aug. 09, p. 26843-64; Exhs. D-227 and D-226.

230 Indeed, Bockarie was “extracted” from Sierra Leone, in the sense that his departure from Sierra Leone
was not voluntary. See, TT, Taylor, 17 Aug. 2009, p. 26859; and Exh. D-253, p. 2 (the move to Liberia was
“against his will”).

PUTT, Taylor, 17 Aug. 09, p. 26908; Exhs. D-231 and D-227.

2 Exh. D-253, p. 2.

>3 Exh. D-251, p. 1.

23 Exh. D-251, p.1; Exh. D-156.

¥ In a letter dated 13 October 1999, see Exh. D-223.
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gratitude to Taylor for the “critical role” he recently played in supporting the peace
process in Sierra Leone. Albright encouraged Taylor to continue positive efforts in the
process of national reconciliation and reconstruction in Sierra Leone.23¢

100. In a Government Statement, dated 23 May 2000, and addressed to the SRSG to Sierra
Leone, President Kabbah said, “It should be recalled that the ECOWAS Heads of
State and indeed the entire international community at large had indicated that there
should no pre-condition for the release of the UN peace keepers who are to be
released without delay. This global position was indeed endorsed by President Charles
Taylor at a recent ECOWAS Summit in Abuja.” “The Government of Sierra Leone
wishes to acknowledge the positive role which President Charles Taylor of Liberia
has already played in securing the release of some of the UNAMSIL hostages.”*’

101. In the face of this extraordinary body of independent documentary evidence
concerning Taylor’s commitment and achievements in furtherance of peace in Sierra
Leone, the Prosecution relied on the oral testimony of a few so-called “insiders”
whose credibility were found wanting under cross-examination in suggesting that
Taylor was duplicitous and criminal. The broad scope of Taylor’s peace-related
efforts and the time and energy that they objectively must have required and
consumed are matters which either escape or are of little concern to the Prosecution. It
is appropriate at this juncture to recall the following question that was put to Taylor
on 14 July 2009 and his answer in response: “Did you plan or order or in any other
way participate in the invasion of Freetown on 6 January 199992%8 Taylor answered,
in part, as follows:

... [M]y entire period was spent between trying to fix war torn Liberia that had
gone through a terrible seven year civil war, while at the same time helping my
colleagues to bring peace to Sierra Leone. Now within this period of time one
would have to be almost a Superman to be... trying to rebuild his country, his
economy that is torn and having to deal with being a part of planning and
ordering some invasion of Freetown on 6 January 1999... [1]t is just incredible
that on the one hand I'm trying to work with Liberia®® with all of my own
difficulties, working with my colleagues trying to bring peace and at the same

2% Exh. D-223.

37 Exh. D-250, p. 3. See, also, Exh. D-77, pp. 1 - 2 (President Kabbah wrote Taylor on 27 October 1999,
stating that disarmament was slow because Sankoh and [Johnny Paul] did not trust each other and
indicating that whatever Taylor could do from his end to build confidence between Sankoh and Koroma
would be appreciated. Kabbah also asked Taylor to try to disarm former RUF and SLA combatants who
wanted to return home to Sierra Leone from Liberia to take part in the DDR programme and intended to g0
through Kailahun. Kabbah thanked Taylor for his usual cooperation).

¥ T, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24332:6-7.

29 TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24332: lines 12-20 and 28-29.
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time getting involved in trying to order, plan or execute some action in Sierra
Leone on 6 January. Impossible.**

102. The Defence submits that the documentary and testimonial evidence before this Court
bears out, without question, that Taylor could not be all things at the same time —
President of Liberia and peacemaker by day and leader of the RUF/ AFRC by night.
Accordingly, the Prosecution’s theory that Taylor abused his mandate of trust within
ECOWAS and was duplicitous vis-a-vis the conflict in Sierra Leone — 1.e., professing
peace in public while orchestrating criminality and fostering further conflict in private
-- is exceedingly misguided and devoid of merit. The Defence requests the acquittal of

Taylor on all charges, in view of the foregoing.

Functioning Liberian Government

103. Further support for the proposition that Taylor could not have simultaneously served
as President of Liberia and leader of the RUF/ AFRC, as alleged, derives from the
nature of governing and the functionality of government during his presidency. There
was too much work to be done in rebuilding Liberia after seven years of civil war
immediately preceding Taylor’s presidency that it would have been factually
impossible for Taylor to wear so many hats simultaneously. Moreover, and
significantly, Taylor was the head of a government that was fully functional and
engaged in functions domestic and diplomatic, economic and social, all for the
betterment of the Liberian people. That much is borne out in the record before the
Court in no uncertain terms.

104. The Liberian economy was “virtually wrecked”?*' and “things had gone far down the
drain”** during the years of former President, Samuel Doe. After seven years of civil
war “everything was destroyed”*** and Liberia was “torn apart.”?* Consequently, the
Liberian economy “was in shambles” when Taylor was inaugurated as President.?*’
The Central Bank of Liberia had under $20,000 and Liberia had an external debt of *3

246 24
D d 7

Billion plus.”**” Roads were bad**’ and both airports that serviced Monrovia were in a

*TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24333:1-4.

*!' TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24334:15.
*2TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24334:15.

** TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24334:5.

**TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24334:4.

*$TT, Taylor, 27 Jul. 2009, p. 25209: 10.

S TT, Taylor, 27 Jul. 2009, pp. 25208 - 25209.
*TTT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24334:5.
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poor state: ®

ECOMOG had been using RIA since 1994 and the airport was not open
to commercial traffic as of November 1997:**° the James Spriggs-Payne (JSPA)
Airport remained operational, but was seriously damaged during the clash with
Roosevelt Johnson in April 1996.%*° Thousands of young men were left unemployed
after the war and it was becoming a very serious problem, as they were turning to
crime and returning to fighting.**'

105. Taylor’s “principal preoccupation”?*?

upon assuming office was to rebuild the war
torn nation, starting by securing international assistance to rebuild the country.”*?
Indeed, countries were looking to help Liberia in capacity building, including the
Republic of China, the European Union, and the U.S.* Priorities in the Liberian
budget under Taylor were development, property renovation, and education; defence
was sixth in order of priorities.”>® Also, it was important for Taylor to follow the
progress of various bills through the legislature®*® and to encourage refugees to return
home and rebuild (TT, Taylor.”®” As such, Taylor was pre-occupied with Liberia and
not Sierra Leone*® and it took years (in some instances) to rebuild certain industries,
such as the timber industry.**’

106. Despite the dire fiscal and social conditions which Taylor inherited, his administration
from its first year went to work making improvements. Almost immediately after
assuming the presidency, Taylor pushed for the repeal of “PRC Decree No. 88-A”: a
decree from the Doe era which had been aimed at protecting the public against “thé
spread of Tumours, lies and disinformation” by making it a felony to accuse a
government or judicial official of a crime.?®° Taylor used the legislative process to

repeal the decree because it was contrary to the “rule of law”?*®! and restrictive of

*¥ TT, Taylor, 29 July 2009, p. 25512. See, also, Exh. D-142, especially pp. 5 — 22 (a Briefing Paper
regarding the rehabilitation of RIA and JSPA).

*TT, Taylor, 29 Jul. 2009, pp. 25507-25510. Even by the time Taylor left Liberia finally, repairs to RIA
had not been completed. TT, Taylor, 29 July 2009, p. 25512.

29T, Taylor, 29 July 2009, p. 25510.

*UTT, Taylor, 29 July 2009, pp. 25503-04.

*2TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24334:10.

3 TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24334:12-13.

***TT, Taylor, 29 July 2009, p. 25502.

23 TT, Taylor, 29 July 2009, pp. 25546-47.

2 TT, Taylor, 29 July 2009, p. 25551.

37T, Taylor, 29 July 2009, p. 25552.

T, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24335:1-4.

*TT, Taylor, 14 Jul. 2009, p. 24334:21-29.

2% See, Exh. D-335; TT, Taylor, 7 Sept. 2009, p. 28183 and TT, Taylor, 2 Nov. 2009, pp. 30909-10.

**UTT, Taylor, 7 Sept. 2009, p. 28183. »
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freedom of the press.?* Taylor was not only in favour of freedom of the press -- he

encouraged it**

and even promoted and participated in a radio talk show during
which he took calls from members of the public.2** Taylor also facilitated the repeal
of another act that barred political activities within Liberia.?*°

107. On the international front, Taylor traveled to France in September 1998 and engaged
in discussions about the economy and exploitation of 0il.**® He also visited
Mauritania®’ and returned to France in November 1998%%® to give a speech at the

%% The speech was about modernising Africa

Africa summit on peace and security.
while trying to retain traditional African values.?’®

108. These are but small snippets of the varied and extensive activities of the presidency of
Liberia with Taylor at the helm. A cursory review of Taylor’s “Presidential Papers”
for the period, 2 August 1997 to 31 December 1998,%"! discloses the all-consuming
range of activities and efforts undertaken by Taylor during the first two years of his
presidency. Those activities and others which followed in the subsequent years are,
per se, not related to the charges at bar, except in one significant sense: documentary
evidence that is before this Court in support of Taylor’s initiatives as President which
also serve to unequivocally demonstrate that (1) government functioned properly
under Taylor and there was accountability and transparency, and (ii) it was virtually
impossible that one person could undertake such significant initiatives at home while
at the same time participating in (indeed heading) a joint criminal enterprise involving
Sierra Leone.

109. The Presidential Papers tell the story of a regular and properly functioning GOL under
Taylor. Support for what they disclose is also available from other documents in
evidence. For example, regular cabinet meetings were held under Taylor;?’ photo

identification cards were issued to Special Security Service (“SSS”) personnel,?” as

22 TT, Taylor, 8 Sept. 2009, p. 28271; TT, Taylor, 2 Nov. 2009, pp. 30909-10. Taylor also succeeded in
getting Decree No. 2A repealed by the legislature for similar reasons. See, TT, Taylor, 8 Sept. 2009, p.
28271.

2 TT, Taylor, 29 July 2009, p. 25567.

2 TT, Taylor, 8 Sept. 2009, p. 28271.

2 TT, Taylor, 7 Sept. 2009, p. 28183.

2 TT, Taylor, 3 Aug. 2009, p. 25828.

*7TT, Taylor, 3 Aug. 2009, p. 25834

*% See, Exh. D-109.

* TT, Taylor, 3 Aug. 2009, p. 25836.

70 Ibid.

*"! See, Exh. D-141 [Presidential Papers].

° See, Exh. D-143.

" Exh. D-104A.
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were uniforms;>’* invoices and vouchers made the rounds for signatures throughout
various departments/ sections of government before being processed and paid by the
Comptroller’s Office within the Ministry of Finance;*’* Official Delegation lists were
prepared whenever Taylor traveled, sometimes by the Ministry of State for
Presidential Affairs;*’® press releases wefe issued frequently for any number of
reasons, including to announce appointments that were made within the various
sections of the GOL:*"’ formal swearing in ceremonies (with oaths administered)
were held for those appointed;*’® commemorative stamps were launched:”’ letters of
credence were received from foreign ambassadors accredited near Monrovia®’; and
the Liberian Revised Code was published in bound volume set(s).??!

110. It is submitted that these are the hallmarks of a properly functioning executive branch
of government — something that is far from irregular, corrupt, dysfunctional and, in
essence, rogue. The Prosecution’s efforts to suggest that the contrary was true of
Taylor’s regime flies in the face of this record. These facts firmly illustrate and
corroborate Taylor’s position that he was too busy getting on with the job of
rebuilding Liberia to afford the distraction of intermeddling in the affairs of Sierra
Leone, much less spearheading and micromanaging RUF and/ or AFRC activities
during the eleven-year war in Sierra Leone. These facts impel (in combination with

others both factual and legal) the acquittal of Charles Taylor.

7 Exh. D-106A.

¥75 Exhs. D-105A and B.

¥ Exhs. D-109 and D-242.

77 Exhs. D-111, D-298; D299 and D-244.

"% Exh. D-112C.

7 Exh. D-142, p. 23.

0 Exh. D-144 (photograph of the Ambassador of India presenting his letters of credence) . TT, Taylor, 29

Jul. 2009, pp. 25581-82. See, also, Presidential Papers, Chapter V, starting at p. 88. For example, p. 97

concerns the presentation of the letters of credence by His Excellency Farouk Ghoneim, Ambassador of

Egypt to Liberia on 22 January 1998 (discussed at TT, Taylor, 29 Jul. 2009, pp. 25555-58), and p. 93
ertains to the presentation of letters of credence by the Taiwanese Ambassador to Liberia.

! Exh. P-129, p- (iv), indicating that the Revised Code was first published in 1998,
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THE LAW ON INDIVIDUAL CRIMINAL RESPONSIBILITY

Direct Responsibility Pursuant to Article 6(1) of the SCSL Statute
I11. Article 6.1 of the Statute reads:

A person who planned, instigated, ordered, committed or otherwise aided and
abetted in the planning, preparation or execution of a crime referred to in
articles 2 to 4 of the present Statute shall be individually responsible for the
crime.

112. That provision was incorporated into paragraph 33 of the Indictment, which alleges
that:

The ACCUSED, by his acts or omissions, is individually criminally
responsible pursuant to Article 6.1. of the Statute for the crimes referred to in
Articles 2, 3 and 4 of the Statute as alleged in this Amended Indictment,
which crimes the ACCUSED planned, instigated, ordered, committed, or in
whose planning, preparation or execution the ACCUSED otherwise aided
and abetted, or which crimes amounted to or were involved within a common
plan, design or purpose in which the ACCUSED participated, or were a
reasonably foreseeable consequence of such common plan, design or
purpose.

Planning

113. The notion “Planning envisions one or more persons formulating a method of design
or action, procedure, or arrangement for the accomplishment of a particular crime.”*%?
As explained by Trial Chamber II of the SCSL, planning “implies that one or several
persons contemplate designing the commission of a crime at both the preparatory and
execution phases.”?®?

114. The actus reus of planning a crime requires that the Accused, either individually or
with others, designed the criminal conduct constituting one or more crimes listed in

the Statute.** In order to incur responsibility, the level of participation by the

Accused in planning to commit such crimes must be substantial 2%°

*82 See Semanza Trial Judgement, para. 380.

*3 RUF Trial Judgement, para. 268; AFRC Trial Judgment, para. 765; AFRC Appeal Judgement, para. 301;
CDF Trial Judgement, para. 221; see also Prosecutor v. Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-T, Trial Judgment,
para. 480 (2 September 1998) [dkayesu Trial Judgement]; Prosecutor v. Limaj et al., Case No. IT-03-66,
Trial Judgment, para. 513 (30 November 2005) [Limaj Trial Judgement); Prosecutor v. Brjdanin, Case No.
IT-99-36-T, Trial Judgment, para. 268 (1 September 2004) [Bridanin Trial Judgement]; Prosecutor v.
Staki¢, Case No. IT-97-24-T, Trial Judgement, para. 443 (31 July 2003) [Staki¢ Trial Judgment];
Prosecutor v. Kristié , Case No. IT-98-33-T, Trial Judgement, para. 601 (2 August 2001) [Kristi¢ Trial
Judgement].

4 RUF Trial Judgement, para. 268; AFRC Appeal Judgement, para. 301; 4FRC Trial Judgement,
para. 766; see also Prosecutor v. Kordi¢ and Cerkez, Case No. IT-95-14/2-A Appeal Judgement, para. 26
(17 December 2004) [Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal Judgment].

5 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 765; see also Prosecutor v. Bagilishema, Case No. ICTR-95-1A-T, Trial
Judgement, para. 30 (7 June 2001) [Bagilishema Trial Judgement).
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115. According to the ICTR, substantial participation includes actually formulating a
criminal plan or endorsing a plan proposed by another.”® The plan itself must be a
factor substantially contributing to the alleged criminal conduct.?®” In our submission,
by logic, it maybe deduced that a merely minor, secondary or inconsequential
involvement or contribution to the planning of a crime within the jurisdiction of the
Court will, or rather should, not result in criminal liability.

116. The mens rea of planning requires that the Prosecutor’prove that the Accused acted
with the direct intent that a crime be committed in relation to his own planning, or at a
bare minimum, with the awareness of the substantial likelihood that a crime would be
the result of the execution of the plan.”®®

117. Circumstantial evidence, that is, “evidence surrounding an event from which a fact at
issue may be reasonably inferred,”*% may provide proof of the existence of a plan.
However, it is settled that this must be the only reasonable inference that can be
drawn from the totality of the evidence. In other words, where it is possible to draw
other reasonable inferences from the Prosecution evidence regarding the material
elements of the alleged planning, whether based on Defence submissions or not, the
circumstantial evidence would be insufficient to constitute proof of criminal
responsibility under this mode of liability.

118. If an Accused is found guilty of having committed a crime, he cannot also be
convicted of having planned that same crime.’” As a matter of Jjudicial discretion,

however, involvement in the planning may be considered an aggravating factor.””!

Instigating

119. Instigation has been described by the ICTY as “prompting”*”* and by the ICTR as

9293

“urging or encouraging”” another to commit a crime. At the SCSL, instigating has

also been defined identically.

6 See Prosecutor v. Kajelijeli, Case No. ICTR-98-44A-T, Trial Judgement, para. 761 (1 December 2003)
[Kajelijeli Trial Judgment]; Bagilishema Trial Judgement, para. 30.

37 4FRC Appeal Judgement, para.301; AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 766; RUF Trial Judgement,
para. 268; see also Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 26; CDF Trial Judgement, para. 221.

8 RUF Trial Judgement, para. 268; AFRC Appeals Judgement, para. 301; 4FRC Trial Judgement,
para. 766; see also Kordi¢ Appeal Judgement, paragraphs 29, 31.

%9 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 101; AFRC Appeal Judgement, para. 301.

% RUF Trial Judgement, para. 269.

' 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 767.

2 Prosecutor v. Blaskié, Case No. IT-95-14-T, Trial Judgement, para. 280 (3 March 2000) [Blaski¢ Trial
Judgement].

23 Bagilishema, Appeal Judgement, para. 30; RUF Trial Judgement, para. 268.
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120. The actus reus for instigating requires that the Accused urges, encourages™* or
prompts another to commit an offence.?®> This requires the Prosecution to prove that
the Accused instigated the perpetrator to commit the crime, instead of merely
facilitated its commission.?*®

121. These include acts or omissions involving the Accused’s implied or express

conduct.?”’

The Accused’s conduct must be a factor substantially contributing to the
conduct of the perpetrator.*”® Further, for “instigating,” unlike aiding and abetting (a
different mode of liability discussed below), there must be a causal link or
relationship between the Accused’s act of instigation and the perpetrator’s
commission of the crime.?* However, there is no need to prove that the Accused’s
conduct was a necessary precedent for the crime.’®® The standard of substantial
contribution to the conduct of the person committing the crime is strictly applied, and
must be demonstrated with credible and reliable evidence. !

122. The mens rea for instigating is that the Accused acted with “direct intent or with the
awareness of the substantial likelihood that a crime would be committed in the
execution of that instigation.” It must be shown that the Accused “intended to

provoke or induce the commission of the crime, or had reasonable knowledge that a

crime would likely be committed as a result.”**® The instigator’s ambiguous words or

»* CDF Trial Judgement, para. 223.

5 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 769 citing Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 482.

% Kordié and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 27.

*7 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 223, citing Brjdanin Trial Judgement, para. 269, Blaskié¢ Trial Judgement,

para. 280, Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 514 and Prosecutor v, Gacumbitsi, Case No. ICTR-2001-64-A,

Agpeal Judgement, para. 129 (7 July 2006) [Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgment).

8 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 770 and CDF Trial Judgement, para. 223 both citing Kordi¢ and Cerkez

Appeal Judgement, para. 27. The CDF Trial Chamber additionally cited para. 129 Gacumbitsi Appeal

Judgement, and para. 514 Limaj Trial J udgement.

¥ CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 54. The Appeals Chamber noted this as a key difference with aiding and

abetting. This upheld the CDF Trial Judgement, at para. 223 citing Kordié Appeal Judgement, para. 27,

Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 515, Brjdanin Trial Judgement, para. 269 and Bagilishema Trial Judgement,
ara. 30.

?OO CDF Trial Judgement, para. 223 citing the above cases (note 6), in particular see Kordic Appeal

Judgement: “While it is not necessary to prove that the crime would not have been perpetrated without the

involvement of the accused, it is sufficient to demonstrate that the instigation was a factor substantially

contributing to the conduct of another person committing the crime” at para. 27.

' cDF Appeal Judgement, para. 55. Note the distinction between influencing crimes and military action:

on the facts the Chamber held that there was insufficient evidence to show that Fofana’s speech at the First

Passing Out Parade influenced the crimes that later occurred in Tongo Fields, observing: “Fofana’s speech

may have substantially contributed to the military effort, but not to the crimes as such.” Note by virtue of

his speech Fofana was still liable for aiding and abetting, as his speech had a substantial effect on the

ngeparation of criminal acts (see para. 53).

% AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 770, citing Kordi¢ and Cerzek Appeal Judgement, para. 29 and 32 and

Ori¢ Trial Judgement, para. 279.

* CDF Trial Judgement, para. 223 (no citation of authority).
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acts that are susceptible to more than one interpretation are not sufficient proof of a

guilty mind.>%*

Ordering

123. “Ordering” involves a person in a position of authority using that position to compel
another to commit an offence.>”’

124. The actus reus of ordering requires that a person in a position of de jure or de facto
authority instructs a subordinate to commit an offence.’®® A formal superior-
subordinate relationship between the Accused and the perpetrator maybe indicative of
the existence of authority, but is not required.’”” What is required is that, at the
material time, the Accused possessed the authority to order or held a position of
authority such as would have compelled another to commit a crime in compliance
with his order, command or direction.>"®

125. Furthermore, a “casual link between the act of ordering and the physical perpetration
of a crime [...] also needs to be demonstrated as part of the actus reus of ordering.”>”
Authorities appear to be divided on the exact level of causality that must be shown. In
the ICTR and the ICTY, it has been held that the Prosecution bears the burden of
establishing that the relevant offence will not have been committed “but for” the order
given by the Accused.>'” On the other hand, according to the SCSL Appeals Chamber,
which departs from the practice of the ICTY and ICTR on this point, “this link need

not be such as to show that the offence would not have been perpetrated in the

% CDF Trial Judgement, para. 56.

3% RUF Trial Judgement, para. 273; AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 772; Prosecutor v. Brima et al., Case No.
SCSL-2004-16-A469, Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal Pursuant to Rule 98, 31 March 2006,
[AFRC Rule 98 Decision], para. 295; Brdanin Trial Judgement, para. 270; Krsti¢ Trial Judgement, para.
601; Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 281; dkayesu Trial Judgement, para. 483.

% RUF Appeal Judgement, para. 164; CDF Trial Judgement, para. 225; Limaj et al. Trial Judgement, para.
515; Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 28.

%7 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 225; RUF Appeal Judgement, para. 164; 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 772;
Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 361; Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 28.

% CDF Trial Judgement, para. 225; RUF Trial Judgement, para. 273; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement,
Paragraphs. 181-82; Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 361; Kordi¢ and Cerkez Trial Judgement, para. 388.
% Prosecutor v. Strugar, Case No. IT-01-42-T, Trial Judgement, para. 332 (31 January 2005) [Strugar
Trial Judgement], cited in RUF Trial Judgement, para. 273 and CDF Trial Judgement, para. 225.
310ﬂS’z‘rugar Trial Judgement; para. 332; Prosecutor v. Nahimana et al., ICTR-99-52-T, Trial Judgement,
para. 481 (3 December 2003)[ Nahimana et al. Trial Judgement]. Contra CDF Appeal Judgement, para.
255.
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absence of the order”;>!! rather, it is only necessary that the Accused’s order “have g
y ry

direct and substantial effect on the commission of the illegal act.”"?

126. In our view, the presumption of innocence guaranteed to the Accused under Article
17(3) of the SCSL Statute demands that there be an unequivocal link between the act
of ordering a particular crime by this particular Accused and the physical perpetration
of an offence within the jurisdiction of the SCSL by someone else. As a matter of law,
in particular Art. 20(3) of the Statute, the Judges of the SCSL Appeals Chamber “shall
be guided” by the decisions of their colleagues in the ICTY and ICTR. It is submitted
that adopting the interpretation of those other ad hoc tribunals on this point is not
inconsistent with the letter and spirit of the SCSL Statute. The Prosecution must, in
any event, prove the link between the Accused and the alleged illegal order(s) through
direct and compelling evidence that satisfies the burden of proof beyond a reasonable
doubt.

127. In this vein, the Defence submits that while the existence of an order may be proven
through circumstantial evidence, where this is the only reasonable inference, the
Prosecution must furnish direct evidence establishing that, at the material time, the
Accused held the required position of authority. While the Trial Chambers in the
AFRC, CDF and RUF cases have held that the Accused’s position of authority can be
reasonably “inferred”"> or “implied," these legal findings are based on a
misreading of the cited authorities. The cases of Strugar’™® and Kordié®'® cited by
Trial Chamber II in the AFRC case state that the existence of an order may be proven
through circumstantial evidence. The case of Brdanin, cited by the Trial Chambers in
the AFRC, CDF and RUF cases, provides that “authority can be reasonably

implied"” but unfortunately bases this on the reasoning in Kordié*'® (above) and

3 Strugar Trial Judgement, para. 332, cited in RUF Trial Judgement, para. 273 and CDF Trial Judgement,
ara. 2285.

?12 Prosecutor v. Kamuhanda, Case No. ICTR-95-54A-T, Trial Judgment para. 75 (22 January 2004)

[Kamuhanda Trial Judgement]; see also Prosecutor v. Kayishema and Ruzindana, Case No. ICTR-95-1-A,

Appeal Judgement, para. 186, (1 June 2001) [Kayishema and Ruzindana Appeal Judgement], Prosecutor v.

Delalic et al., Case No 1T-96-21-T, Trial Judgement, para. 326 (16 November 1998)[ Celebi¢i Trial

Judgement], 4kayesu Trial Judgement, para. 477, Prosecutor v. Tadi¢, Case No. [T-96-23-T & 1T-96-23/1-

T, Trial Judgement, paragraphs. 674, 689, 692. (7 May 1997)[Tadi¢ Trial Judgement).

* 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 772.

4 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 225; RUF Trial Judgement, para. 273.

3 Strugar Trial Judgement, para. 331.

1 Kordié and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 388. Please note: The AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 772

n.1491, cites to Kordi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 28, although this makes no mention of inference of the

existence of authority or an order. :

7 Brdanin Trial Judgement, para. 270.

3 Kordié Trial Judgement,, para. 388.
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Blaski¢®" which also provides that “ [t/ he fact that an order was given can be proved
through circumstantial evidence.”**° In turn, in finding that a position of authority can
be established circumstantially, the case of Limaj et al**' bases itself solely on the
reasoning in Brdanin.*%? Finally, the ICTR’s Trial Chamber in Akayesu, cited by
Chambers in the AFRC,*® Brdanin.*** and Blaskic>?S cases, states that “Regarding the
position of authority, the Chamber considers that sometimes it can be just a question of
fact.”326

128. The SCSL Appeals Chamber in the RUF case fails to make any distinction between an
inference of authority and an inference of an order in its finding that “ordering can be
established by direct or circumstantial evidence.”>*" The Appeals Chamber bases itself on
the statement of the ICTY’s Appeal Chamber in Gali¢ that “the mode of liability of
ordering can be proven, like any other mode of liability, by circumstantial or direct

. 2
evidence. 8

While this statement, taken in isolation, fails to distinguish between
evidence establishing the Accused’s position of authority and evidence establishing
that an order to commit an illegal act was given, it is found in a section of the
judgement upholding the Trial Chamber’s method of using both direct and
circumstantial evidence to find that Gali¢ ordered the commission of crimes (where
the omissions, or failures to act, of the Accused were considered as circumstantial
evidence supporting the assertion that he had ordered the crimes).*%’ Indeed, it may be
useful to quote in full to show that the ICTY Appeals Chamber makes clear that it is

examining only this narrow issue in surrounding statements:

177. ...The Trial Chamber inferred from the evidence adduced at trial, which
included, inter alia, acts and omissions of the Accused, that Gali¢ had given
the order to commit the crimes.**°

178. The Appeals Chamber thus concludes that the mode of liability of
ordering can be proven, like any other mode of liability, by circumstantial or

' Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, paras 281-82.

*20 Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 281.

321 Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 515.

2 Ibid. n.1692.

23 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 772 n.1491.

24 Brdanin Trial Judgement, para. 270 n.717.

*2 Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 281 n.507.

326 Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 483. Please note: AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 772n.1491 cites Akayesu
Trial Judgement, para. 480 - this paragraph deals with the distinct mode of liability of “planning” (and
makes no mention of inferring the existence of a position of authority or an order).

2T RUF Appeals Judgment, para. 164, -

% Prosecutor v. Gali¢, Case No I1T-98-29-A, Appeal Judgement, para. 178 (30 November 2006) [Gali¢
Ag)peal Judgement].

2 Ibid, paragraphs 173-79,

30 1bid. para. 177.
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direct evidence, taking into account evidence of acts or omissions of the
Accused. The Trial Chamber must be convinced beyond reasonable doubt
from the evidence adduced at trial that the Accused ordered the crime.*"'

In fact, while confounding the confusion between “ordering” as a mode of liability

and the element of ordering requiring proof that the Accused issued an order, the Trial
Chamber in Galié¢ provides useful guidance on the type of circumstantial evidence

that could be used to show that an Accused issued an order:

“ordering”... may be inferred from a variety of factors, such as the number of
illegal acts, the number, identity and type of troops involved, the effective
command and control exerted over these troops, the logistics involved, the
widespread occurrence of the illegal acts, the tactical tempo of operations, the
modus operandi of similar acts, the officers and staff involved, the location of
the superior at the time and the knowledge of that officer of criminal acts
committed under his command.* (citations omitted)

The phrasing of this passage (as well as the authorities it cites) makes clear that
“ordering” is used to refer not to the mode of liability but to the giving of an order,
where the superior position of the Accused has already been established and therefore
not in dispute.

The Defence submits that, even if this Trial Chamber finds, as is accepted above, that
circumstantial evidence can establish the Accused’s position of authority, it should in
the interests of justice demand independent evidence proving the separate elements of
the actus reus of “ordering,” being that (1) the Accused held a position of authority
vis-a-vis the perpetrator of the offence, (2) the Accused issued an order to commit an
illegal act, and (3) that there was a causal link between the act of ordering and the
physical perpetration of the offence.

Regrettably, the recent jurisprudence has tended to compound the elements to the
extent that the existence of an Accused’s position of authority has been derived from
evidence that an Accused issued orders.’® The Defence submits that such an
approach represents a dangerous tendency towards lowering the burden of proof to the
extent that the requirement that the Accused hold a position of authority relative to the
perpetrator of an offence is effectively dismissed and the “ordering” and “instigation”

modes of liability confused.

B Ibid, para. 178.

2 Prosecutor v. Galié¢, Case No IT-98-29-T, Trial Judgement, para. 171 (5 December 2003) [Galic Trial
Judgement].

33 See, e.g., Kamuhanda Trial Judgement, paras 594, 612, 504, 641; Oxford Companion to International
Criminal Justice 447 (Antonio Cassese ed., 2009).
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131. It is not necessary for the order to be given by the superior directly to the person(s)
who commit the illegal act(s)*** - an order can be passed down a (de jure or de facto)
chain of command. The Defence submits that where evidence is led that an order was
passed down a chain of command in this manner, the Prosecution must furnish
evidence that proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the Accused, instead of another
person, was the author of that order.

132. Regarding mens rea, it must be established that the Accused had the direct intent,
when issuing the order, to commit the crime for which he is charged or, and
exceptionally because this is a lower level of mens rea, that he was at least aware that
there is a substantial likelihood that a criminal offence will be committed as a result of

the execution or implementation of his orders. >

Committing
133. In the SCSL, committing has been defined as the participation, physical or otherwise
directly, in the material elements of a crime by the offender, and as “physically
perpetrating a crime or engendering a culpable omission in violation of criminal
law. 6
134. It follows that the actus reus for committing involves, first and foremost, the direct
and physical perpetration of the crime by the Accused. This form of participation,
which can incur responsibility for several perpetrators in relation to the same offence
where each of the perpetrators’ separate conduct fulfils the required elements of the
substantive offence, may also cover circumstances constituting a culpable omission in
violation of an established rule of criminal law. >’
135. With regards to mens rea, the Accused must intend to commit the crime or engage in

an act with an awareness of the substantial likelihood that the crime will result as a

consequence of his act or omission, and yet accepts that risk.

4 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 772; Brdanin Trial Ju gement, para. 270; Blaskié Trial Judgement,
para. 282. ~

33 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 773; CDF Trial Judgement, para. 274; Stakié, supra note 20.

3¢ CDF Trial Judgement, para. 205. The Chamber relied on the ICTY Appeal Chamber Judgement, in the
Case of Tadi¢ para. 88; Prosecutor v. Kunarac et al., Case No. IT-96-23-T & IT-96-23/1-T, para. 390
(22 February 2001) [Kunarac Trial Judgement] and the Prosecutor v. Rutaganda Case, ICTR-96-3-A, Trial
Judgement, para. 41 (6 December 1999)[Rutaganda Trial Judgement]. Also see Prosecutor v. Galié, Case
No IT-98-29-T, Appeal Judgement, para. 169 (30 November 2006) [Galic Appeal Judgement] and AFRC
Trial Judgement, also para 762.

37 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 205. See also para. 762 of the AFRC Trial Judgement.

3% AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 763.
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Aiding and abetting

136. It is established in case law that assisting and encouraging the commission of a crime
are specific incidents of the mode of liability of aiding and abetting>*® Aiding and
abetting has thus been defined as the act of rendering practical assistance,
encouragement or moral support, which has a substantial effect on the perpetration of
a certain crime.>*

137. For the actus reus of aiding and abetting, it must be shown that the Accused “gave
practical assistance, encouragement, or moral support which had a substantial effect
on the perpetration of the crime.”**' The Accused’s act or omission should be
specifically directed to have such an effect and go to a “certain specific crime”**?
although no cause and effect relationship needs to be shown.>* The Accused’s
contribution may relate to the planning, preparation or execution of “a finally

completed crime.”***

The acts of aiding and abetting may occur before, during and
after the commission of the crime, and the location at which the actus reus takes place
may be removed from the locations of the crime.>*’

138. While “aiding” and “abetting” are not strictly synonymous, these two terms are used

conjunctively in the jurisprudence though proof of either of the two is deemed

% See Prosecutor v. Fofana and Kondewa [CDF], Case No. SCSL-04-14-A, Appeal Judgement, para. 71
(28 May 2008) [CDF Appeal Judgement]. Also see para. 72 where the Appeals Chamber held that
“encouragement” and “moral Support” may constitute the actus reus of aiding and abetting. See also
Prosecutor v. Tadi¢, Case No. IT-94-1-1, Appeal Judgement, para. 229 (15 July 1999) [Tadi¢ Appeal
Judgement), and Prosecutor v. Blaski¢, Case No. IT-95-14-A Appeal Judgement, para. 45 (29 July 2004)
[Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement], citing Prosecutor v. Vasiljevi¢, Case No. IT-98-32-A, Appeal Judgement,
para. 102 (25 February 2004) [Vasilevic Appeal Judgement).

** 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 775; Limaj et al. Trial Judgement, paras 516-17; Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement,
supra note 1.

*'AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 775, citing Blaski¢c Appeal Judgement, para.46. The CDF Trial
Judgement, used the same words and included the words “being sympathetic to” (para. 228). This is
supported by Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 484, Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 516, Semanza Trial
Judgement, para. 584.

*2 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 229, citing Vasiljevié Appeal Judgement, para. 102 where the words
“specifically directed” to a “certain specific crime” are used; further citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement,
para. 46, which in tumn cites the Furundzija Trial Judgement, para. 249,

" CDF Trial Judgement, para. 229, quoting Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 48, and citing Prosecutor v.
Gacumbitsi, Case No. ICTR-2001-64-A, Appeal Judgement, para. 140 (6 July 2006).

** AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 775, citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, paragraphs 45, 48; Kamuhanda
Trial Judgement, para. 597; Prosecutor v. Ori¢, IT-03-68-T, Trial Judgement, para. 282 (30 June 2006)
[Ori¢ Trial Judgement). Note this can be distinguished from Joint Criminal Enterprise in that the Principal
may not even know about the Accused’s contribution. See Tudié Appeal Judgement, para. 229 for a
comparison of the two modes of liability.

5 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 219, citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 48, cited with approval in the
CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 70.
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sufficient for criminal responsibility to attach.**® The mens rea for aiding and abetting
requires knowledge on the part of the Accused that his acts would assist the
commission of a crime by the perpetrator or, awareness of the substantial likelihood
that his acts would assist the commission of a crime by a perpetrator.**’ This
knowledge can be inferred from all the circumstances.>*

139. 1t is not necessary that the Accused knew the precise crime that was intended and,
which was actually committed, provided he was aware that one of a number of crimes
would probably be committed, including the one actually committed.*** It is also not
necessary that the Accused shared the principal’s mens rea but that ke was aware of
it.>*° In the ICTY, it has also been held that the aider and abetter must also be aware

of the essential elements of the crime which was ultimately committed by the

# No distinctions can be found in the SCSL case law. Aiding involves provision of assistance whereas

abetting can involve no more than encouragement or sympathy for an act. See Limaj Trial Judgement, at
para. 516 which ultimately draws on. Akayesu Trial Judgement, at para. 484. Aiding and abetting is also
mentioned in the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court: Art. 25(3)(c), Rome Statute.

7 AFRC Appeals Judgement, paragraphs 242-43 and Prosecutor v. Brima et al., Case No. SCSL-2004-16-
A469, Decision on Defence Motions for Acquittal Pursuant to Rule 98, para. 302 (31 March 2006) [AFRC
Rule 98 Decision]. CDF Trial Judgement, para. 231, citing Prosecutor v. Vasiljevi¢, Case No. IT-98-32-A,
Appeal Judgement, para. 102 (25 February 2004) [Vasiljevi¢ Appeal Judgement], Blaski¢ Appeal
Judgement, para. 49, Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, at para. 229. The same approach is taken in the ICTR
Appeals Chamber: Kayishema Appeal Judgement, para. 186, which in turn follows Prosecutor v. Tadié,
Case No. IT-94-1, Trial Judgement, paragraphs 674 & 689 (7 May 1997) [Tadi¢ Trial Judgement];
Prosecutor v. Delalic et al., Case No. IT-96-21-T, Trial Judgement, para. 326 (16 November 1998) [Celebi¢
Trial Judgement], and ICTR case law. See Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 477.

¥ CDF Trial Judgement, para. 231. It cites Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 518, which in tumn cites Celebic
Trial Judgement, para. 328, and Tadié Trial Judgement, para. 676. See also Semanza Trial Judgement,
para. 389: knowledge can be deduced from the circumstances through “prior like behaviour, failure to
punish or verbal encouragement,” citing Prosecutor v. Bagilishema, Case No. ICTR-95-1A-T, Trial
Judgement, para. 36 (7 June 2001) [Bagilishema Trial Judgement].

" AFRC Rule 98 Decision at para. 302, AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 776, AFRC Appeal Judgement,
paragraphs 24243, citing Prosecutor v. Simig, IT-95-9-A, Appeal Judgement, para. 86 (28 November
20006) [Simi¢ Appeal Judgement]; Blaskié Appeal Judgement, para. 50 (cited by 4FRC Trial Judgement, as
well — note 1506). Consistent with CDF Trial Judgement, para. 301.

CDF Trial Judgement, para. 231, citing Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 162, which in turn cites
Prosecutor v. Furundzija, Case No. IT-95-17/ 1-T, Trial Judgement, para. 245 (10 December 1998)
[Furundzija Trial Judgement], Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 518; Prosecutor v. Brjdanin, Case No. IT-99-
36-T, Trial Judgement, para. 273 (1 September 2004) [Brjdanin Trial Judgement]; Prosecutor v. Kunarac et
al, Case No. IT-96-23-T & IT-96-23/ 1-T, Trial Judgement, para. 392 (22 February 2001) [Kunarac Trial
Judgement]. The ICTR Appeals Chamber follows the ICTY Appeals Chamber on this point. See
Prosecutor v. Ntakirutimana et al, Case No. ICTR-96-10-A and ICTR-96-17-A, Appeal Judgement,
para. 500 (13 December 2004), citing Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 52, Vasiljevié Appeal Judgement,
para. 142 and Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 229.
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1.3 However, the Accused cannot be held liable where he did not act

principa
knowingly, or even where he should have had such knowledge.**

140. In the AFRC case, Trial Chamber II, drawing on ICTY and ICTR case law held
that:>** (i) The Accused’s contribution to the planning, preparation or execution of a
completed offence may be direct or indirect;*™ (ij) Regardless of whether the Accused
was “present or removed both in time and place from the actual commission of the
crime”;”*® and (iii) That the mere presence of the Accused at the crime scene without
acting to prevent the commission of the crime is insufficient unless the person was in
a position of authority, as such presence “may be regarded as an important indication
for encouragement and support.”**®

141. The SCSL Appeals Chamber has also held that “words of moral support and
encouragement” to fighters about to go on military operations, or blessings, or
providing medicine, which the soldiers believed would protect them does not

constitute aiding and abetting,**’

U Prosecutor v. Aleksovski, 1T-95-14/1-A, Appeal Judgement, para. 162 (24 March 2000) [dleksovski
Appeal Judgement); Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 51; Prosecutor v. Brjdanin, 1T-99-36-A, Appeal
Judgement, para. 484 (3 April 2007) [Brjdanin Appeal Judgement).

*? This distinguishes the mens rea for Article 6(1) from that for Article 6(3) — see Akayesu Trial
Judgement, para. 479.

* 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 775.

354 Citing Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 516 and Orié Trial Judgement, para. 282.

355 Citing Ori¢ Trial Judgement, para. 282 and Blaskic Appeal Judgement, para. 48.

356 Citing Ori¢ Trial Judgement, para.283; Kayishema Appeal Judgement, para. 201; Prosecutor v.
Aleksovski, 1T-95-14/1-T, Trial Judgement, para. (25 June 1999) [dleksovski Trial Judgement];
Prosecutor v. Karajelijeli, ICTR-98-44A-T, Trial Judgement, para. 769 (1 December 2003) [Karajelijeli
Trial Judgement], The CDF Trial Judgement, took a similar line stating that the presence of a person of
“superior authority ... may be probative” at para. 230. Regarding persons of superior authority the
Judgement, also held that a superior’s failure to punish for past crimes might act as encouragement or
instigation to commit future crimes (ibid., citing Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 337). For a discussion on
presence and the status of the observer, including Nuremberg law, see Furundzija Trial Judgement,
?aragraphs 208-09.

*" CDF dppeal Judgement, para. 110 upholding CDF Trial Judgement, paras 799-800. Note that in the
case of CDF the Appeals Chamber held that his speech at the passing out parade did not amount to aiding
and abetting, neither did his presence at meetings of commanders without factual findings on his
participation, and neither was his provision of logistics sufficient to show aiding and abetting (see
paras 101-02).
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Joint Criminal Enterprise

142. Although “joint criminal enterprise” (JCE) is not explicitly enumerated as a mode of
liability in the Statute, it is well-established in the jurisprudence of the ad hoc
international criminal tribunals that it falls within the ambit of Article 6(1) liability.>**

143. Generally, an Accused is liable under JCE for all crimes committed pursuant to “‘a
common plan, design or purpose which amounts to or involves the commission of a
crime,” if he participates with others in that common design.3 > Culpability also
attaches where one of the perpetrators commits an act which, while falling outside the
common purpose, was a “natural and foreseeable consequence of the effecting of the
common purpose.”¢

144. The seminal Tadic case delineates three categories of JCE.*®! They are the “basic

R INYY

form,” “systemic form” and “extended form.” The actus reus for all the three forms of
JCE are however the same and consist of the following elements:
a. a plurality of persons;
b. the existence of a common plan, design or purpose which amounts to or
involves the commission of a crime provided for in the Statute;
c. participation of the Accused in the common design involving the
perpetration of one of the crimes provided for in the Statute.

145. With respect to the plurality of persons requirement, it must be shown that the persons
in the criminal enterprise acted together, or in concert with each other, in
implementing their common objective.’®* This is precisely because a common
objective alone will not always suffice to constitute a group as distinct and
independent groups may happen to share identical objectives. It is thus the interaction
or cooperation among persons — their joint action — that, in addition to the common
objective, forges a group out of mere plurality.’’

146. JCE can however still exist where none or only some of the principal perpetrators of
the crimes are members of the JCE, for instance, where such persons are procured by

one of more members of the JCE to commit crimes in furtherance of a criminal

¥ Tadi¢ Appeals Judgement, paras 189-93, cited with approval in the AFRC Appeals Judgement, para. 74;
AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 61.

3 Tadié Appeal Judgement, paragraphs 190 and 227.

% Ibid, para. 204.

W' Also see Prosecutor v. Vasiljevié, Case No. IT-98-31-A, Judgement, para. 94-101 (25 February 2004)
Vasiljevi¢ Appeal Judgement], where the Court summarises JCE jurisprudence.

162 Brjdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 410 and 430.

3 Prosecutor v. Krajisnik, Case No IT-00-39-T, Trial Judgement, para. 884 (27 September 2006)[Krajisnik
Trial Judgement].
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enterprise. In such instances, it must be established that the crimes committed by the

non-members of the JCE can be imputed to (a) member(s] of the JCE and that such

member([s], when using the principal, acted in accordance with the common plan.*®*

| 147. With respect to the Accused’s participation, such participation need not involve the
commission of a crime under the Statute but may take the form of assistance in, or
contribution to, the execution of the common plan/purpose.®® Furthermore, the
Accused’s contribution to the alleged crimes must be significant®®® in that it
“substantially assisted or significantly affected” the enterprise’s goals. The Accused’s
participation should be “indispensable for the achievement of the final result”®’
although it need not be a conditio sine qua non to it.>*®

148. With respect to the criminal aspect of the JCE, the SCSL Appeals Chamber has
controversially held that the criminal purpose underlying the JCE can derive not only
from its ultimate objective but also from the means contemplated to achieve the
objective. The objective and the means constitute the common design or plan.>*’

149. The mens rea for the three forms of JCE are however different. Under the Basic Form
or JCE(1), all the perpetrators must share the same specific criminal intent.>”® It must
be established that the Accused participated in at least one aspect of the common
design and that he intended the criminal act even if he did not perpetrate it himself.
Mere knowledge of the criminal purpose of a joint criminal enterprise will not

371

suffice.””" All the participants to the JCE must share the criminal purpose — intent to

commit the crime.’’

150. Under this heading, members of the JCE act by directly perpetrating a crime or
through acts or omissions that facilitated the crimes committed, in furtherance of the
enterprise.””?

151. The Systemic Form or JCE(2) which encompasses “systems of ill-treatment,” such as

concentration camps, requires personal knowledge by the Accused of the organized

364 Brjdanin Appeals Judgement, para. 413,
* Prosecutor v. Staki¢, Case No IT-97-24-A, Appeal Judgement, para. 64 (22 march 2006)[ Saki¢ Appeal
Judgement).
366 Brjdanin Appeals Judgement, para. 430.
37 Antonio Cassesse, International Criminal Law 183 (Oxford University Press, 2003).
38 Tadic Appeals Judgement, para. 199.
3 AFRC Appeals Judgement, para 76. For full discussion see paras 76-86.
0 Tadié Appeals Judgement, para. 196.
' CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 208, citing Ojdanc Appeal Decision on Joint Criminal Enterprise
5)7azra. 20. (but no citation to Ojdanic herein).
CDF Trial Judgement, para. 218, citing Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 28.
3 Prosecutor v. F. urundzija, Case No. IT-95-17/1-A, Appeal Judgement, para. 249 (21 July 200)[
Furundzija Appeal Judgement); Tadi¢ Appeals Judgement, para. 229.
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criminal system and his active participation with the intention of furthering the
criminal purpose of that system.>”

152. The Extended Form or JCE(3) involves instances where one of the perpetrators
commits an act that falls outside the common design but which was a natural and
foreseeable consequence of the effecting of the common plan. Under this heading, the
Accused must: (i) have the intention to participate; (ii) contribute to the “common
purpose™; (iii) have the awareness that crimes which are natural and foreseeable
consequences of the JCE might be committed; and (iv) willingly take or is indifferent
to the risk that such (a) crime[s] might occur by joining or continuing to participate in
the JCE*7

153. The test under this heading is subjective. The crime must be shown to have been
foreseeable to the Accused in particular.’’® Furthermore, the court can only find that
the Accused possessed the requisite intent if this is the only reasonable inference on

the evidence.’”’

Indirect Responsibility Pursuant to Article 6(3) of the SCSL Statute
154. Article 6.3 reads:

“The fact that any of the acts in articles 2 to 4 of the present Statute was
committed by a subordinate does not relieve his or her superior of criminal
responsibility if he or she knew or had reason to know that the subordinate
was about to commit such acts or had done so and the superior had failed to
take the necessary and reasonable measures to prevent such acts or to punish
the perpetrators thereof.””

155. This provision was incorporated into paragraph 34 of the Indictment, which alleges
that: |

“In addition, or in the alternative, pursuant to Article 6.3 of the Statute, the
ACCUSED, while holding positions of superior responsibility and exercising
command and control over subordinate members of the RUF, AFRC,

374
375

Ibid. paras 203-04.

Ibid. para. 204,

376 Brjdanini Appeals Judgement, paras 265-366.

37 Brjdanini Appeals Judgement, para. 429,

7 Note Article 6.3 is almost identical to Article 6(3) of the ICTR Statute and 7(3) of ICTY Statute, for
example, the latter: “The fact that any of the acts referred to in articles 2 to 5 of the present Statute was
committed by a subordinate does not relieve his superior of criminal responsibility if he knew or had reason
to know that the subordinate was about to commit such acts or had done so and the superior failed to take
the necessary and reasonable measures to prevent such acts or to punish the perpetrators thereof.” Superior
responsibility in the Rome Statute of the ICC differs from the above in that a distinction is drawn between
military and civilian superiors. Further, the Rome Statute may consider superior responsibility a form of
vicarious liability. Article 28, Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, 2187 U.N.T.S. 90, entered
into force July 1, 2002.
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AFRC/RUF Junta or alliance, and/or Liberian fighters, is individually
criminally responsible for the crimes referred to in Articles 2,3, and 4 of the
Statute as alleged in this Amended Indictment. The ACCUSED is
responsible for the criminal acts of his subordinates in that he knew or had
reason to know that the subordinate was about to commit such acts or had
done so and the ACCUSED failed to take the necessary and reasonable
measures to prevent such acts or to punish the perpetrators thereof.”

156. Based on its ordinary language, Article 6(3) of the SCSL Statute establishes a
three-part test for the Accused to incur criminal responsibility. First, there must be
a superior-subordinate relationship between the superior and the perpetrator.
Second, the Accused must know or have reason to know that the offence was
about to be or had already been committed. Finally, while as a superior possessing
such actual or imputed knowledge, the Accused then fails to prevent the
commission of the crime or to punish those who perpetrated it. Each of these
elements will be discussed in turn.

Existence of a Superior-Subordinate relationship

157. A “superior” has been defined to include “political leaders and other civilian superiors
in positions of authority” in addition to military commanders.’” A superior must
possess “the power or authority to either prevent a subordinate’s crimes or punish the
subordinate after the crime has been committed.”*® This power or authority can be
part of either a de jure or a de facto relationship®®! and may be exercised concurrently
by multiple superiors.**?

158. Superior responsibility is “ultimately predicated upon the power of the superior to

control the acts of his subordinates,”*® that is, the power or material ability to prevent

379

AFRC Appeals Judgement, para. 257. Citing Celebi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 195.
380

Ibid. para. 257, citing Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 76, Bagilishema Appeal Judgement, para. 50,
citing Celebi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 192.

B AFRC Appeals Judgement, para. 256 (citing Celebic Appeal Judgement, para. 195). See also CDF
Appeal Judgement, para. 28 (citing aforementioned authority); Bagilishema Appeal Judgement, paras 50-51
(citing Celebi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 193). ICTY case law includes the idea that “a tacit or implicit
understanding between [two people] as to their positioning vis-a-vis on another,” even if this is only
temporary, is sufficient to establish a superior-subordinate relationship. Kunarac Trial Judgement,
para. 397. It also includes a description of de facfo subordination: “it is possible to imagine scenarios in
which one of two persons of equal status or rank — such as two soldiers or two civilian prison guards —
could in fact exercise “effective control” over the other at least in the sense of a purely practical ability to
prevent the conduct of the other by, for example, force of personality or physical strength.” Prosecutor v.
Delalic et al., Case No. IT-96-21-A, Appeal Judgement, para. 303 (20 February 2001) [Celebic Appeal
Judgement).

%2 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 786 (citing Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, paras 296, 302, 303; Krnojelac Trial
Judgement, 93; Naletilic Trial Judgement, para. 69; Halilovi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 62).

B Celebi¢ Appeals Judgement, para. 197 (quoting Celebi¢ Trial Judgement, paras 377-78, and approving
the Trial Chamber’s interpretation).
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or punish.’®*

This standard has been widely referred to as the exercise of “effective
control.”** The effective control requirement is more realistic in the military setting
where there are commanders, but it is deemed to apply equally to civilians.*®® Simply
showing that the Accused exercised “substantial influence or persuasive ability” over
the conduct of others is insufficient to establish superior responsibility.*®’

159. Where the superior is acting pursuant to de Jure authority, it may be presumed that the
effective control requirement is met, unless proof to the contrary is presented.’®
Further indications of effective control include “the formality of the procedure used
for the appointment of a superior, the power of the superior to issue orders or to take
disciplinary action, the fact that subordinates show greater discipline in the superior’s
presence, the level of profile, manifested through public appearances and statements,
or the capacity to transmit reports to competent authorities for the taking of relevant
measures.”%°

160. In conflicts characterised by the use of irregular armies, traditional indicia of control
may not be “appropriate or useful,”** although the power to issue orders and to
discipline subordinates, even if brutally or arbitrarily, remains crucial to the
establishment of superior responsibility.**' The less formal the relationship between
superior and subordinate, the more important it is to focus on the nature of the
superior’s authority rather than his or her formal designation.’” Indications of
effective control in informal command structures include “that the superior had first
entitlement to the profits of war, such as looted property and natural resources;

exercised control over the fate of vulnerable persons such as women and children; the

superior had independent access to and/or control of the means to wage war, including

¥ AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 797 (citing Ori¢ Trial Judgement, para. 326, Limaj Trial Judgement,
para. 527, and Strugar Trial Judgement, para. 373); CDF Trial Judgement, para. 247 (citing Blaski¢ Appeal
Judgement, para. 83).

5 Ibid. para. 784 (citing Celebi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 256). See also AFRC Appeals Judgement,
?ara. 289 (describing the effective control requirement as “critical” to establishing superior responsibility).
% AFRC Appeals Judgement, para. 257, cited with approval in CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 175.

¥ AFRC Appeals Judgement, para. 289 (citing Celebié Appeal Judgement, para. 266) See also AFRC Trial
Judgement, para. 784 (citing Celebié Appeal Judgement, para. 266; Prosecutor v. Blagojevic and Jokic,
Case No. IT-02-60-T, Judgement, para. 791 (17 January 2005); and Prosecutor v. Nragerura et al., Case
No. ICTR-99-46, Judgement, para. 628 (1 September 2009)).

38 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 784 (citing Celebié Appeal Judgement, para. 197).

' AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 785 (citing Halilovié Trial Judgement, para. 58; Aleksovki Trial
Judgement, paras 78, 101, 104; Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 302; Celebié Appeal Judgement, para. 206;
Kordi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 424).

% 4FRC Trial Judgement, paras 787-88.

U Ibid. at 789. Although this passage (paras 787—89) is not mentioned in the Appeals Judgement, it is
cited with approval in Cassese op. cit., at 248 n.29.

* Ibid.

SCSL-03-01-T 67 23 May 2011



33063

arms and ammunition and communications equipment; the superior rewarded himself
or herself with positions of power and influence; the superior had the capacity to
intimidate subordinates into compliance and was willing to do so; the superior was
protected by personal security guards, loyal to him or her ... , the superior fuels or
represents the ideology of the movement to which the subordinates adhere; and the
superior interacts with external bodies or individuals on behalf of the group.”*”

161. Where the alleged superior is a civilian, command responsibility will only attach to
the extent that the civilian concerned exercised control over the subordinate which is
similar to that of a military commander.*** For a civilian superior’s degree of control
to be “similar to” that of a military commander, the exercise of effective control
pursuant to de facto authority must be accompanied by “the trappings of the exercise
of de jure authority.”® These include “awareness of a chain of command, the
practice of issuing and obeying orders, and the expectation that insubordination may
lead to disciplinary action. It is by these trappings that the law distinguishes civilian
superiors from mere rabble-rousers or other persons of influence.”**® The Defence
submits that great care must be taken in assessing a superior’s effective control,
especially for civilian leaders like this Accused, lest an injustice is committed in the
application of superior responsibility in situations where this absolutely crucial or
essential link is absent or missing.**’

Actual or Imputed Knowledge

162. Superior responsibility is applied only where the superior has actual or constructive
(imputed) knowledge that his subordinate is planning to commit a crime or has, in
fact, committed a crime.’*®

163. Actual knowledge refers to “the awareness that the relevant crimes were committed or
were about to be committed.”*° Proof of such knowledge may be facilitated by the
Accused’s membership in “an organised and disciplined structure with reporting and

monitoring mechanisms.” A higher standard would be required in more informal

> Ibid.
** Baglishema Trial Judgement, para. 42 (citing Celebi¢ Trial Judgement, paras 357-63). See also
Commentary on the 1996 Code of Crimes against the Peace and Security of Mankind: “Report of the
International Law Commission on the Work of its Forty-Eighth Session, 6 May—26 June 1996” U.N. Doc.
A/51/10 (1996), commentary para. 4 to Article 6.
izz Ibid. para. 43 (citing Celebi¢ Trial Judgement, at para. 646).

1bid.
7 Celebi¢ Appeals Judgement, paras 196-98 (citing Celebi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 383).
%% AFRC Trial Judgement, paras 791-94.
*? Ibid. para. 792 (citing Kordi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 427).
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Actual knowledge can be established by direct or circumstantial
evidence,*! including the superior’s position, as well as geographic and temporal
proximity to the crimes; the type and scope of the crimes; the time during which they
occurred; the number and type of soldiers and logistics involved; the widespread
occurrence of crimes; the tactical tempo of operations; the modus operandi of similar
acts; and the officers and staff involved.***

164. Establishing that a superior had constructive or imputed knowledge, that is, that they
had reason to know about the planning or commission of a crime, requires that
specific information was available to the Accused that woﬁld have put him on notice
of crimes committed or about to be committed.*”> No liability attaches for failing to
acquire such information*** although it is sufficient to show “the superior to [have
been] in possession of sufficient information, even general in nature, written or oral,
of the likelihood of illegal acts by subordinates.”* ‘Such information should be of a
nature that would have put the superior on notice of a “present and real risk” that
crimes under the Statute were committed or about to be committed.**® Negligent
ignorance does not suffice to show imputed knowledge*"’ although wilful blindness
does.*®

Failure to Prevent or Punish

165. There are two separate duties incumbent upon a superior in the exercise of effective

control: to intervene as soon as he is aware that a crime is about to be committed, or

*% Ibid. para. 793 (citing Kordic¢ Trial Judgement, para. 428, Galic Trial Judgement, para. 174, Ori¢ Trial
Judgement, 320).

1 1bid. para. 792 (citing Kordi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 427, Celebi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 386 Bridanin
Trial Judgement, para. 278. Consistent with CDF Trial Judgement, para. 243.

2 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 792 (citing Aleksovski, Trial Judgement, para.80. Celebi¢ Trial
Judgement, para. 386, Galic Trial Judgement, para. 174, Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 524, Bagilishema
Trial Judgement, para. 968). See also CDF Trial Judgement, para. 243.

*3 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 794 required “specific” information (citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement,
para. 62, Celebi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 241) but the CDF Trial Judgement, disagreed at para. 244, citing
Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 184 and Celebi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 238.

‘% 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 794 (citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 6263, Celebi¢ Appeal
Judgement, para. 226). Consistent with CDF Trial Judgement, para. 245.

95 1bid. para. 794 (citing Celebié Appeal Judgement, para. 238, Celebié¢ Trial Judgement, para. 393, Kordié
Trial Judgement, para. 437 and Strugar Trial Judgement, para. 370, Imputed knowledge can arise from a
failure to conclude or inquire on the basis of alarming information. It is also unnecessary for the
information to compel the conclusion. /bid.

46 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 794 (citing Brjdanin Trial Judgement, para. 278 (citing in turn Celebié
Appeal Judgement, paras 223 & 241)). See also Strugar Trial Judgement, paras 417-20 where the standard
set was that information should indicate crimes would, not might, occur. The CDF Trial Judgement, used
the words “sufficiently alarming” at para. 244, referring to Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 155.

“7 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 796, referring in general to case law cited in preceding passage.

“% Ibid. para. 796 (citing Celebié Trial Judgement, para. 387 and Prosecutor v. Halilovié, Case No. IT-01-
48, Trial Judgement, para. 69 (16 November 2005)).
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to take steps to punish the offenders as soon as he becomes aware of the commission
of a crime.*” Punishing those subordinates who commit crimes will be sufficient to
avoid superior responsibility only if the superior did not become aware of the crimes
until after they were committed.*'°

166. The Accused has a duty to prevent not only the commission of crimes but also their
planning and preparation, and must intervene as soon as possible and for as long as he
retains the effective ability to do so.*'! In discharging this duty, a superior is required
to take only those measures within his material ability in the circumstances.*!? This is
contingent upon the extent of effective control at the relevant time, and the “severity
and imminence of the crimes.”*"?

167. Once a crime has been committed, the duty to punish requires the Accused “to
conduct a meaningful investigation... to establish the facts, order and execute
appropriate sanctions, or report the perpetrators to the competent authorities if the
superior lacks sanctioning powers.”*'* This duty only applies only to crimes that took
place after the superior’s assumption of command over the perpetrators.*!>

168. A causal link between the superior’s failure to prevent a crime and the actual
commission of that crime is not required; this is said to be a question of fact rather

416

than of law.”™® Liability attaches to the failure to fulfil duties imposed on the superior

by international law, and does not require his involvement in the crime.*!’

“® Ibid. para. 797 (citing Ori¢ Trial Judgement, para. 326, Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 527 and Strugar
Trial Judgement, para. 373).

*1° Ibid.

' 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 798 (citing Ori¢ Trial Judgement, para. 329 and Halilovi¢ Trial
Judgement, para. 79).

12 A4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 798 (citing Limaj Trial J udgement, para. 528). These include measures that
may lie beyond his formal powers. Celebi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 395. See also CDF Trial Judgement,
para. 246.

3 A4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 798 (citing Ori¢ Trial Judgement, para. 329).

" 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 799 (citing Blaskié Appeal Judgement, paras 83 and 85, Limaj Trial
Judgement, para. 529, Ori¢ Trial Judgement, para. 336 and Strugar Trial Judgement, para. 376). The CDF
Trial Judgement, (para.248) goes further in endorsing Strugar Trial Judgement, at para. 374, which
introduces a list of considerations including a failure to secure reports, issue orders, protest against or
criticise actions to ensure that international law is observed by their subordinates.

"5 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 799 (citing Prosecutor v. Hadzihasanovic, Case No. IT-01-47-AR72,
Decision on Interlocutory Appeal Challenging Jurisdiction in Relation to Command Responsibility
paras 45-46 (16 July 2003); Ori¢ Trial Judgement, para. 335).

1% CDF Trial Judgement, para. 249 (citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 77, Kordic Appeal Judgement,
para. 832 and Prosecutor v. Halilovi¢, Case No. IT-01-48-T, Trial Judgement, para. 89 (16 November
2005).

7 Ibid. See also Halilovi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 78; Ori¢ Trial Judgement, para. 293.
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ELEMENTS OF CRIMES WITH RESPECT TO EACH COUNT

Count 1: Acts of Terrorism - A Violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (Art 3(d) of the Statute)

169. In addition to the chapeau requirements of Violations of Article 3 Common to the
Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol I1*'® under Article 3 of the Statute,
the Appeals Chamber has described the specific elements of the crime of acts of
terrorism as follows: (i) Acts or threats of violence directed against persons or their
property; (i1) The perpetrator wilfully made persons or their property the object of
those acts and threats of violence; and (i) The acts or threats of violence were
committed with the primary purpose of spreading terror among those persons.*!

Acts or Threats of Violence Direct Against Persons or their Property

170. The actus reus for acts of terrorism may be comprised not only of attacks but also
threats of attacks against the civilian population, including civilian property, as long
as the attack on property is designed to spread terror.*® Acts or threats of violence are
not limited to direct attacks against civilians or threats thereof but also include
indiscriminate or disproportionate attacks or threats carried out without regarded to
the consequences to a civilian population,*?!

171. Acts of terrorism may be established by acts or threats of violence independent of
whether such acts or threats of violence satisfy the elements of any other criminal
offence.*** Not every act or threat of violence, however, will be sufficient to satisfy
the actus reus of the crime of acts of terrorism. While the actual terrorisation of the
civilian population is not an element of the crime, the acts or threats of violence
alleged must, nonetheless, be such that they are at the very least capable of spreading
terror.*”* Whether any given act or threat of violence is capaBle of spreading terror is

to be judged on a case-by-case basis within the particular context involved. For this

‘% See CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 34449 (finding that Acts of Terrorism is interpreted as a charge
under Article 13(2) of the Additional Protocol II to the Geneva Conventions, which is a narrower derivative
of Article 4(2)(d) of the same).

4% 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 667. See also CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 350 (citing Galic Trial
Judgement, para. 133; Galic Appeals Judgement, paras 99-104; Blagojevic Trial Judgement, para. 589)
(adopting a substantially similar definition). Note that the Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 100-01 and the
CDF Trial Judgement, exchange “specific intent” with “primary purpose.”

2 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 670.

! bid. para. 671. See also CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 351 (citing Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 102).
2 cpF Appeal Judgement, para. 352 for example, acts of burning are capable of spreading terror even
though they do not satisfy the elements of pillage. /bid. para. 359.

3 CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 352 (citing Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 104).
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purpose, “terror” should be understood as the causing of extreme fear,*** that is, a fear
calculated to demoralise, to disrupt, to take away any sense of security from a body of
people who have nothing to do with the combat.**’

172. The level of fear must be beyond that which a legitimate act of warfare can create in a
civilian population, as any war ordinarily occasions a measure of fear.”” Even
legitimate attacks against combatants may result in intense fear and intimidation
among the civilian population, but to constitute terror, the Prosecution must show that
the Accused had intended to instil fear beyond this level.*’

173. Recent jurisprudence, however, suggests a more restricted definition of terror. In the
Milosevic trial judgement, the ICTY held that an act or threat could only be
considered as “terrorism” where it results in “death or serious injury to body or health
within the civilian population or to individual civilians.”**® Although Trial Chamber I
explicitly rejected this requirement in the RUF case, it represents a split among the
trial chambers which has not been resolved by appellate authority.*’ In light of the
presumption of innocence, this Chamber is invited to resolve this, and any
jurisprudential points in doubt, in the manner that is most favourable in order to
ensure the rights of the Accused to a fair trial.

The perpetrator wilfully made persons or their property the object of
those acts and threats of violence

174. The mens rea of the crime of terror consists of a general intent and a specific intent.
The general intent is that the offender must have wilfully made the civilian population
or an individual civilian the object of acts or threats of violence. *3° This requires the
Prosecution to prove that the Accused acted consciously and with intent or
recklessness in making the civilian population or individual civilians the object of an

act or threat of violence. Negligence is not enough.*!

4 cDF Appeal Judgement, para. 352, referring to Galic Trial Judgement, note 320. This definition is also
endorsed in RUF Trial Judgement, para. 117.

5 Prosecutor v. Dragomir Milosevic, Case No. IT-98-29/ I-T, Trial Judgement, paras 885-86
(12 December 2007) [ Milosevic Trial Judgement].

26 Milosevic Trial Judgement, para. 888 (citing Galic Trial Judgement, para. 101).

*7 Ibid. See also CDF Trial Judgement, para. 175 (finding that “legitimate military actions may have a
consequence of terrorising civilian populations. This offence is not concerned with these types of terror.”).
8 Milosevic Trial Judgement, paras 876 and 880 (finding that “the actual infliction of death or serious
harm to body or health is a required element of the crime of terror.”).

** RUF Trial Judgement, para. 117 n. 240 (finding that “the Prosecution is not required to prove that the act
or threat caused death or serious injury to body or health within the civilian population.”).

0 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 667. See also Milosevic Trial Judgement, para. 878.

1 cDF Appeal Judgement, para. 355.
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The acts or threats of violence were committed with the primary purpose
of spreading terror among those persons

175. The specific intent is to spread terror among the civilian population.*> The
Prosecution must prove not only that the perpetrators of acts or threats of violence
accepted the likelihood that terror would result from their illegal acts or threats, but
must also prove that that was the result which was specifically intended.*** Thus the
Accused must be shown to have had a specific intent to spread extreme fear,
amounting to terror, in the victims.***

176. The specific intent or primary purpose to spread terror need not be the only purpose
of the unlawful acts or threats of violence.**® Other purposes may have coexisted
simultaneously with the purpose of spreading terror,*® as long as the intent to
spread terror is principal among the aims of the acts of violence. 3’

177. Whether the specific intent to spread terror is satisfied is determined on a case-by-
case basis and may be inferred from the circumstances, the nature and site of the
acts or threats of violence, as well as the manner, timing or duration of acts or
threats of violence.*** The Prosecution has to show that the terror goes above and
beyond the type of fear that is only the accompanying effect of the activities of
armed forces in armed conflict,***

178. As they share the same legal elements with the exception of this specific intent, the
crime of terror is essentially an “aggravated” form of unlawful attacks on

civilians.**

Count 2: Murder as a Crime Against Humanity under Art (2)(a) of the Statute

179. Save for the chapeau requirements of Crimes Against Humanity under Article 2 of
the Statute, Trial Chamber II, in the AFRC case, found that murder is defined

identically irrespective of which provision under which it is charged in the SCSL.

432

AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 669. See also CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 357, Milosevic Trial
Judgement, para. 878 (citing Galic Appeal J udgement, para. 104).
:;i CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 356 (citing Galic Trial Judgement, para. 136).
Ibid.
3 Ibid. at para. 357.
3 1bid, (citing Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 104).
*7 Milosevic Trial Judgement, para. 879 (citing Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 104).
% AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 669. See also CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 357 (citing Galié Appeal
Judgement, 104).
9 Milosevic Trial Judgement, para. 888.
*0 Milosevic Trial J udgement, para. 882.
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Murder essentially means the intentional killing of a person.**' The requisite

elements are as follows: (i) The perpetrator by his acts or omission caused the death

of a person or persons; (ii) The perpetrator had the intention to kill or cause serious

bodily harm in the reasonable knowledge that it would likely result in death; (iii)

The murder was committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack directed

against a civilian population; and (iv) The perpetrator knew or had reason to know

that his acts or omissions constituted part of a wide spread or systematic attack
directed against a civilian population.**?

180. For the actus reus of murder as a crime against humanity, the Prosecution must prove
that the Accused substantially contributed to the death of the person whereas, in
relation to mens rea, there must be proof of intent to kill or cause serious bodily harm
while knowing that it would likely end in death. In the ICTY, the Blaskic Trial
Chamber held** that “it is murder and not premeditated murder which must be the
underlying offence of a crime against humanity.”*** The Trial Chamber also held that
the death of the victim could result from the acts or omission of the Accused or his
subordinate(s). *°

181. In the ICTR, the Nchamihigo Trial Chamber held that where murder is committed by
a subordinate allegedly pursuant to an order of the Accused, there must be proof of a
causal link between the order and the murder. The crime is not committed when the
order is given unless it is shown that the order resulted in the killing of a person

within the meaning of the relevant Statute. *¢

“! AFRC Rule 98 Decision, para. 74 (citing Akayesu Trial Chamber Judgement, paras 589-90; Kayishema
& Ruzindana Trial Judgement, para. 140; Rutaganda Trial Judgement, paras79-81; Krstic Trial
Judgement, paras 484-85).1

“2 See also CDF Trial Judgement, para. 143 (citing CDF Rule 98 Oral Decision para. 72; Kordi¢ Trial
Judgement, 236); Kordi¢ Appeals Judgement, para. 113,

3 Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 216.

4 Ibid. (citing Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 589 and ILC Draft Code of Crimes Against the Peace and
Security of Mankind, supra 394, art. 18). Cited approvingly in Kordi¢ and Cerkez Trial Judgement,
para. 235. Prosecutor v. Musema, Case No. ICTR-96-13, Trial Judgement para. 214 (27 January, 2000)
(citing Akayesu Judgement, para. 588). See also AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 690 (citing Kayishema
Appeals Judgement, para. 151 for the proposition that the French word meurtre should be interpreted as
“killing” and not “murder,” which implies premeditation).

"3 Kordi¢ and Cerkez Trial Judgement, para. 236. See also AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 689 (finding that
murder requires a showing that “the perpetrator’s conduct substantially contributed to the death of the
person.”),

¥ Prosecutor v. Simeon Nchamihigo, Case No. ICTR-2001-63-T, Judgement, para. 352 (12 November
2008) [Nchamihigo Trial Judgement].

SCSL-03-01-T 74 23 May 2011



23o33

Count 3: Violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons, in

particular murder: a violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions

and of Additional Protocol II (Art 3(a) of the Statute)

182. Trial Chamber 11, in the AFRC case, adopted the following elements for this crime: (1)
The perpetrator inflicted grievous bodily harm upon the victim in the reasonable
knowledge that such bodily harm would likely result in death; (ii) The perpetrator’s
acts or omission resulted in the death of the victim; (i) The victim was a person
protected under one or more of the Geneva Conventions of 1949 or was not taking an
active part in the hostilities at the time of the alleged violation; (iv) The violation took
place in the context of and was associated with an armed conflict; and (v) The
perpetrator was aware of the factual circumstances that established the protected
status of the victim.**’

183. In the CDF case, Trial Chamber I also adopted the same elements.**® The Chamber

emphasized that the Prosecution must show that the Accused’s mens rea encompassed

the fact that the victim was a person not taking direct part in the hostilities. **°

Count 4: Rape as a Crime Against Humanity (Art 2(g) of the Statute)

184. In the AFRC case, Trial Chamber 11, in addition to the chapeau requirements, adopted
the following elements to the crime of rape as a Crime against Humanity: (i) The non-
consensual penetration, however slight, of the vagina or anus of the victim by the
penis of the perpetrator or by any other object used by the perpetrator, or of the mouth
of the victim by the penis of the perpetrator; and (i1) The intent to effect this‘ sexual
penetration, and the knowledge that it occurs without the consent of the victim, *5°

185. In determining whether rape has not occurred, the consent of the victim must be given
voluntarily, as a result of the victim’s free will, all of which is assessed in the context
of the surrounding circumstances.*>' Force or threat of force provides clear evidence
of non-consent, but force is not an element per se of rape. There are factors other than
force which would render an act of sexual penetration non-consensual or non-

voluntary on the part of the victim.** In situations of armed conflict or detention, for

“7 AFRC Rule 98 Decision., para. 77, Contrast with Kordi¢ and Cerzek Judgement, para. 230.

“% CDF Trial Judgement, paras 14647,

* Ibid. (citing Halilovi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 36).

4% 4FRC Trial Judgement, paras 692-93 (citing Kunarac Appeal Judgement, para. 127). See also Akayesu
Trial Judgement, paras 597-98, and Kunarac Trial J udgement, para. 460,

“! Ibid, para. 694,

2 Ibid. (citing Kunarac Appeal Judgement, paras 129—-30).
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instance, coercion is almost universal. “Continuous resistance” by the victim, and
physical force, or even threat of force by the perpetrator is therefore not required to
establish coercion.*>* It has been found that children below 14 years cannot give valid

4
consent. >4

Count 5: Sexual slavery as a Crime Against Humanity (Art 2(g) of the Statute)

186. Trial Chamber II has ruled that sexual slavery is a specific form of slavery that enjoys
a jus cogens prohibition, as does slavery for the purpose of physical labour.*>*

187. In addition to the chapeau requirements for Crimes Against Humanity, the Trial
Chamber established the following elements: (1) The perpetrator exercised any or all
of the powers attaching to the right of ownership over one or more persons, such as
purchasing, selling, lending or bartering such a person or persons, or by imposing on
them a similar deprivation of liberty; (ii) The perpetrator caused such a person or
persons to engage in one or more acts of a sexual nature; and (111) The perpetrator
committed such conduct intending to engage in the act of sexual slavery or in the
reasonable knowledge that it was likely to occur.**

188. The deprivation of liberty may include extracting forced labour or otherwise reducing
a person to servile status. Further, ownership, as indicated by possession, does not
require confinement to a particular place but may include situations where those who
are captured remain in the control of their captors because they have nowhere else to
go and fear for their lives. The consent or free will of the victim 1s absent under
conditions of enslavement.*’ |

189. While forced marriage shares certain elements with sexual slavery such as non-
consensual sex and deprivation of liberty, the Appeals Chamber has distinguished
forced marriage from sexual slavery on various grounds, as follows:

firstly, forced marriage involves a perpetrator compelling a person by
force or threat of force, through the words or conduct of the perpetrator
or those associated with him, into a forced conjugal association with a
another person resulting in great suffering, or serious physical or mental
injury on the part of the victim. Second, unlike sexual slavery, forced
marriage implies a relationship of exclusivity between the “husband” and

3 Ibid. (citing Kunarac Appeal Judgement, paras 128-30, 133).

% Ibid. (citing SCSL Statute Article 5.a). ‘
5 AFRC Trial Judgement, paras 705, 708-09 (citing Special Rapporteur on Contemporary Forms of
Slavery, Update to the final report on Systematic rape, sexual slavery and slavery-like practices during
armed conflict E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/21, 6 June 2000 para. 51 [Special Rapporteur Report]).

6 Ibid. para. 708.

“7 Ibid. para. 709.
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“wife” which could lead to disciplinary consequences for breach of this
exclusive arrangement. These distinctions imply that forced marriage is
not predominantly a sexual crime.**®

Count 6: OQutrages upon personal dignity as a violation of Article 3 common to

the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (Art (3)(e) of the Statute)

190. In addition to the chapeau requirements of common Article 3, Trial Chamber II has
defined the elements for the offence of outrages upon personal dignity in the
following terms: (i) The perpetrator committed an outrage upon the personal dignity
of the victim; (ii) The humiliation and degradation was so serious as to be generally
considered an outrage upon personal dignity; (iii) The perpetrator intentionally
committed or participated in act or omission which would be generally considered to
cause serious humiliation, degradation or otherwise be a serious attack on human
dignity; and (iv) The perpetrator knew that the act or omission could have such an
effect.*”

I91. An objective test is used to determine whether the Accused’s conduct constitutes an
outrage. The test is whether a reasonable person would consider the acts by the
Accused outrageous. **

192. In terms of the mens rea, it must be established that the Accused knew that his act or
omission could cause serious humiliation, degradation or otherwise be a serious attack
on human dignity. Knowledge of the “possible” consequences of the charged act or

omission suffices.*®!

Count 7: Violence to life, health and physical or mental well-being of persons in

particular cruel treatment, a violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional protocol II (Art 3(a) of the Statute)

193. Cruel treatment has been described as the “equivalent to the offence of inhuman
treatment.”*** In the CDF case, Trial Chamber I adopted the following ICTY
constitutive elements, which are the same for Other Inhumane Acts: (i) The

occurrence of an act or omission; (ii) The act or omission caused serious mental or

8 A4FRC Appeal Judgement, para. 195.

*3 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 716 (citing AFRC Rule 98 Decision para. 115).

0 Kunarac Trial Judgement, paras 162-66. Also see Aleksovski Trial Judgement, paras 56—57.

7 paras 164 and 165 (approving the Trial Chamber’s determination that “this is not the same as
requiring that the accused knew of the actual consequences of the act.”).

“2 Kordi¢ and Cerkez Trial Judgement, para. 265 (citing Celebi¢ Trial Judgement, paras 550-51). Also see
Prosecutor v. Krnojelac Case No. IT-97-25-T, Trial Judgement, para. 130 (15 March 2002) [Krnojelac
Trial Judgement].
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physical suffering or injury, or constituted a serious attack on human dignity, to a
person not taking direct part in the hostilities; and (ii1) The Accused intended to cause
serious mental or physical suffering or injury or a serious attack on human dignity or
acted in the reasonable knowledge that this would likely occur. 6

194. The requisite mens rea is that the perpetrator acted with direct intent to commit cruel
treatment or with indirect intent, i.e. in the knowledge that cruel treatment was a

probable consequence of his act or omission. **

Count 8: Other Inhumane Acts as a Crime Against Humanity (Art 2(i) of the

Statute)

195. The crime of other inhumane acts as Crimes Against Humanity was deliberately

designed as a residual category, as an exhaustive categorization all crimes against
humanity would have merely created opportunities for evasion of the letter of the
prohibition.*®® The courts must however be wary as a potentially broad range of the
crime of other inhumane acts may raise fairness concerns as to a possible violation of
the nullum crimen principle which would amount to a trampling of the rights of the
Accused. The “other inhumane acts” must therefore be charged explicitly in the
indictment. 4%

196. In the AFRC case, Trial Chamber II found that for an act to constitute the offence of
other inhumane acts, it must have caused great suffering or serious injury to the
physical or mental health or human dignity of the victim and must have been
committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack upon the civilian
population.*’

197. Therefore, the elements of the offence are that: (i) The perpetrator inflicted great
suffering, or serious injury to body or to mental or physical health, by means of an
inhumane act; (ii) The act was of gravity similar to the acts referred to in Article 2 a.
to h. of the Statute; (iii) The perpetrator was aware of the factual circumstances that
established the character or gravity of the act; (iv) The act was part of a widespread or

systematic attack directed at a civilian population; and (v) The perpetrator knew or

3 CDF Trial Judgement, paras 155 and 156 (citing Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 231).
164 Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 231 (citing Strugar Trial Judgement, para. 261).
AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 697 (endorsing the residual nature of the offence).
Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeals Judgement, para. 117. In that case the “other inhumane acts” were
exclusively charged as injuries.
“7 AFRC Rule 98 Decision para. 173 (citing Kordi¢ and Cerkez Trial Judgement, para. 269-72).

465
466
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had reason to know that his acts were part of a widespread or systematic attack
directed against a civilian population.**®

198. The seriousness of a particular act or omission and the sufficiency of its gravity must
be examined on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration the personal
circumstances of the victim including age, sex and health as well as the physical and
mental consequences of the conduct.*® The act or omission must have a direct and
seriously damaging, though not necessarily long-term, effect on the victim.*”°

199. Some of the acts that fall under other inhumane acts include: mutilation and other
types of severe bodily harm, beatings and other acts of violence, serious physical and
mental injury, forcible transfer, inhumane and degrading treatment, forced
prostitution, and forced disappearances.*”!

200. An Accused may be held liable for serious mental harm suffered by third parties who
witness acts committed against others only where the Accused intended to inflict such

harm, or had reasonable knowledge that such harm would likely result from the act.*’?

Count 9: Child Soldiers as an Other Serious Violation of International

Humanitarian Law (Art 4(c) of the Statute)

201. Article 4(c) of the Statute provides that “[c]onscripting or enlisting children under the
age of 15 years into armed forces or groups or using them to participate actively in
hostilities” is a serious violation of international humanitarian law. The Appeals
Chamber has, rather controversially, confirmed that the use of child soldiers was
recognized as a crime under international law at the time of the charged acts.*”?

202. In the AFRC case, guided by the Rome Statute, Trial Chamber II adopted the
following as elements of the crime of conscripting or enlisting children under the age

of 15 years into armed forces or groups, or using them to participate actively in

“8 AFRC Rule 98 Decision para. 174. Aiso see AFRC Appeals Judgement, para. 198; CDF Trial
Judgement, para. 150.
*% AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 699 (citing Kayishema Trial Judgement, paras 148-51; Celebi¢ Trial
Judgement, para. 536; Kunarac Trial Judgement, para. 504).
7 Ibid. (citing Kunarac Trial Judgement, para. 501; Krnojelac Trial Judgement, para. 144).

' Prosecutor v. Kvocka et al., Case No. IT-98-30/1-T, Trial Judgement, para. 208 (2 Nov. 2001)
(summarizing prior findings of ICTY Trial Chambers).
2 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 153 (endorsing ICTR Trial Chamber determination in Kayishema Trial
Judgement, para. 153 that “if at the time of the act, the Accused was unaware of the third party bearing
witness to his act, then he cannot be held responsible for the mental suffering of the third party.”).
3 AFRC Appeals Judgement, paras 295-96 (citing Prosecutor v. Norman, Case No. SCSL-04-14-AR72(E),
Decision on Preliminary Motion Based on Lack of Jurisdiction (Child Recruitment), paras 52-53 (31 May
2004) [Norman Child Recruitment Decision]. See also CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 139 (endorsing the
Norman decision).
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hostilities:*"* (1) he perpetrator conscripted or enlisted one or more person into an
armed force or group or used one or more persons to participate actively in hostilities;
(11) Such person or persons were under the age of 15 years; (iii) The perpetrators knew
or should have known that such person or persons were under the age of 15 years; (iv)
The conduct took place in the context of and was associated with an armed conflict;
and (v) The perpetrator was aware of factual circumstances that established the
existence of an armed conflict.*”’

203. In the AFRC case, Trial Chamber II defined a child as someone who is under the age
of 15,47 although under Sierra Leonean law a child is generally someone under the

age of 16.*"7

478

Trial Chamber II defined conscription as involving some coercive

element. While conscription traditionally applied to governmental policies
requiring citizens to serve in their armed forces, it also applies to irregular armed
groups.*”’

204. The Appeals Chamber confirmed Trial Chamber II’s definition of enlisting as the act
of “accepting and enrolling individuals when they volunteer to join and armed force
or group.”*% Enlistment, however, does not have to be a formal process and can
include any conduct of “accepting the child as part of the militia.”** While enlistment
implies consent, this is vitiated by the age of the person.***

205. A nexus must be established between the act of the Accused and the child joining the
armed force or group, as well as knowledge on the part of the Accused that the child
is under the age of 15 and may be trained for combat*%* This is a factual issue to be
determined on a case-by-case basis. 3

206. The Accused is under a duty to act with due diligence to ensure that children under

the age of 15 are not recruited or used in combat. Failure to exercise such due

*™ AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 729.

‘73 See Rome Statute Elements of Crimes, article 8(2)(b) (xxvi); see also AFRC Rule 98 Decision para. 194,
% AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 731 (applying the Appeals Chamber finding in Norman Child Recruitment
Decision).

7 Sierra Leone Prevention of Cruelty to Children Act (Cap. 31) 1926, Article 1.2 (stating that “For the
purposes of this Ordinance, unless the context otherwise requires, ‘child’ means a person under the age of
sixteen years.”).

% See AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 734, relying on the Norman Child Recruitment Decision, dissenting
opinion of Judge Robertson para. 5 (31 May 2004).

*" 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 734.

0 cpF Appeal Judgement, para. 140 (citing AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 735).

**! Ibid. para. 142-144.

82 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 735. See also CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 140.

3 CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 141.

“** Ibid.
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diligence to ascertain the age of recruits does not relieve an Accused of his liability

for their recruitment or use.**

207. Trial Chamber II has defined armed forces or groups as consisting of forces under a
“responsible command, which entails a degree of organization which should be such
as to enable the armed groups to plan and carry out concerted military operations and
to impose discipline within the armed group.”486

208. In the CDF case, Trial Chamber I relied on the Tadic Appeal Judgement to draw a
distinction between, “the situation of individuals acting on behalf of a state without
specific instructions, from that of individuals making up an organized and
hierarchical structured group, such as a military unit or, in the case of war or civil
strife, armed bands or irregulars or rebels.”*®’ The Chamber established that “an
organized group differs from an individual in that the former normally has a structure,
a chain of command and a set of rules as well as the outward symbols of authority.
Normally a member of the group does not act on his own but conforms to the
standards prevailing in the group and is subject to the authority of the head of the
group.”488 The group, the Trial Chamber noted, may be either state or non-state
controlled.

209. Trial Chamber II has defined the use of children to participate actively in hostilities to
include participation in combat, participation in activities linked to combat, and any
labour or support that gives effect to, or helps maintain operations in a conflict.**
Activities such as scouting, spying, sabotage, and the use of children as decoys,
couriers or at military checkpoints may be considered to be non-combat military
actions.*” Logistical support functions including carrying loads for the fighters;
finding food; finding equipment or ammunition; acting as decoys; message carriers;
trail-makers; route finders; manning check points; and acting as human shields may

be characterized as active participation in hostilities.*! Support functions further

5 See, e.g., Prosecutor v. Germain Katanga and Mathieu Ngudjolo Chui, Case No. 1CC-01/04-01/07
Decision on Confirmation of Charges paras 25052 (26 September 2008) (finding the mens rea satisfied
when (i) the accused did not know that the child was under the age of 15 at the time he was recruited or
used in combat and (ii) the accused lacked such knowledge because he did not act with due diligence in the
relevant circumstances).
85 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 738. Also see Article 43 of First Additional Protocol to the Geneva
Conventions of 12 August 1949,
::; CDF Trial Judgement, para. 194; Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 120.

Ibid.
9 4FRC Trial Judgement, paras 736—37.
“% Ibid. para. 736.
! 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 737.
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removed from combat may not be considered to be active participation, including

delivering food to an airbase or serving as domestic staft in an otficer’s residence.*”?

210. Trial Chamber I found in the CDF case that mere presence of an Accused, in that case
Fofana, was insufficient to establish his participation in the recruitment or use of child
soldiers beyond a reasonable doubt.*” Further, the mere fact that the CDF recruited
child soldiers did not show that Fofana was personally involved in this crime. % The

Appeals Chamber did not disturb this finding on appeal.*”

Count 10: Enslavement as a Crime Against Humanity (Art 2(C) of the Statute)

211. In the AFRC case, Trial Chamber II adopted the ICC Elements of Crimes guidelines
496

on the definition of enslavement: (1) The perpetrator exercised any or all of the
powers attaching to the right of ownership over one or more persons, such as by
purchasing, selling, lending or bartering such a person or persons, or by imposing on
them a similar deprivation of liberty; (ii) The conduct was committed as part of a
widespread or systematic attack directed against a civilian population; (1i1) The
perpetrator knew that the conduct was part ot or intended the conduct to be part of a
widespread or systematic attack directed against a civilian population.

212. The Chamber further required that the exercise of the powers attaching to ownership
be intentional.*”’

213. The ICC guidelines in turn derived from the ICTY Kunarac case. In Kunarac, the
court held that the actus reus for the offence of enslavement involves “the exercise of
any or all of the powers attaching to the right of ownership over a person,”, while the
mens rea entails the “intentional exercise of such pov»/ers.””8 Indications of
enslavement include: (i) Elements of control and ownership; the restriction or control
of an individual's autonomy, freedom of choice or freedom of movement; and often,
the accruing ot some gain to the perpetrator; (i1) The consent or free will of the victim
is absent. It is often rendered impossible or irrelevant by for example the threat or use

of force or other forms of coercion; the fear of violence, deception or false promises;

42 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 193.

%3 CDF Trial Judgement, paras 959—63.

% Ibid. para. 962.

Y95 CDF Appeal Judgement, paras 151-53. But see CDF Appeal Judgement, Dissenting Opinion of Justice
Winter para. 37 (finding such actions to show sufficient “tacit approval, encouragement and moral support”
as to support liability).

% AFRC Rule 98 Decision paras 209—15.

“7 4FRC Judgement, para. 749.

% Kunarac Trial Judgement, paras 53943, cited approvingly in AFRC Rule 98 Decision para. 209.
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the abuse of power; the victim’s position of vulnerability; detention or captivity;

psychological oppression or socio-economic conditions: (iii) Exploitation; the

exaction of forced or compulsory labour or service, often without remuneration and
often, though not necessarily, involving physical hardship; sex; prostitution; and
human trafficking.*"’

214. The duration of the exercise of the powers of ownership over the victim may be
considered in determining whether the person was enslaved.” Enslavement does not
require an “acquisition” or “disposal” for monetary or other compensatiml.sm Lack of
consent is not an element of the crime of enslavement, although it may be a
significant issue in terms of the evidence of the status of the alleged victim.”*

215. Asregards the mens rea, it applies not only when the Accused acted with the intention
to enslave, but also when the Accused, “acted in the reasonable knowledge that
enslavement was likely to occur.”*”

216. Trial Chamber II, in the AFRC case endorsed the ICTY definition of forced labour in

relation to the offence of enslavement and observed that:

Further indications of enslavement include exploitation; the exaction of
forced or compulsory labour or service, often without remuneration and
often, though not necessarily, involving physical hardship; sex; prostitution;
and human trafficking.***

217. Further that:

to establish forced labour constituting enslavement, the Prosecutor must
demonstrate that the Accused (or persons for whose actions he is criminally
responsible) forced the detainees to work, that he (or they) exercised any or
all of the powers attaching to the right of ownership over them, and that he
(or they) exercised those powers intentionally.so5
218. As already considered above, consent or free will of victim must be absent. It is often
rendered impossible or irrelevant by, for example, the threat or use of force or other
forms of coercion; the fear of violence, deception or false promises; the abuse of

power; the victim’s position of vulnerability; detention or captivity, psychological

* Kunarac Trial Judgement, para. 42.

% Ibid.

0 Ibid.

2 prosecutor v. Kunarac et al., Case No. IT-96-23 & IT-96-23/1-A, Appeal Judgement, para. 120 (12 June
2002)[ Kunarac Appeal Judgement].

5% RUF Trial Transcript of Oral Decision on rule 98 submission, at 30, In. 26 et seq. (25 October 2006).

%% AFRC Rule 98 Decision, para. 210 (citing Kunarac Trial Judgement, para. 542).

%05 Ibid. para. 213 (citing Krnojelac Trial Judgement, paras 357-58).
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oppression or socio-economic conditions. It must be established that the relevant

persons had no real choice as to whether they would work.*

219. No definition is readily available in international criminal jurisprudence. In ordinary
legal usage, abduction means the act of leading someone away by force or fraudulent

. 507
persuasion.

In British common law, abduction is defined only as part of kidnapping
or in relation to child abduction. In British law, kidnapping overlaps partly with false
imprisonment and partly with child abduction. Kidnapping consists of the taking or
carrying away of one person by another by force or fraud, without the consent of that
person and without lawful excuse.’”® Consent or compliance procured by force or fear
is not true consent.””’

220. Of course, definitions of legal concepts derived from national systems are not binding
on the SCSL as such. However, regard must be had to the reality that Sierra Leonean
law is based on British law. As such, it is submitted that drawing on the body of law
applicable there would not be inconsistent with the relationship envisaged with this
court whereby reference maybe had to national law where national law was used
under Article 20(3) of the Statute. Whatever meaning of abduction is accepted,
“abduction” should not be considered to be synonymous with “enslavement.” A
finding that a person has been abducted does not, in and of itself, support a finding

that the person was enslaved. Rather, the Prosecution must also prove that they were

subsequently subjected to the forced deprivation of liberty described above.*'°

Count 11: Pillage as a violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions

and of Additional Protocol II (Art 3(f) of the Statute)

221. In the AFRC case, Trial Chamber II found that pillage occurs when, in addition to the
chapeau requirements of Common Article III: (i) The Accused unlawfully
appropriated property; (ii) The appropriation was without the consent of the OWner;

and (iii) The Accused intended to unlawfully appropriate the property.>'!

306 Krnojelac Trial Judgement, paras 358-59 (citing Kunarac Trial Judgement, para. 542).

7 Black’s Law Dictionary 1 {9th ed. 2009) at 4.

% Blackstone’s Criminal Practice, Oxford University Press, 2007, B2.80.

> Ibid. at B2.84.

*1% AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 1285.

"' AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 755. See also AFRC Rule 98 Decision para. 243; CDF Trial Judgement,
para. 165.
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222. The Chamber observed that pillage extends to cases of organized and systematic
property seizure from protected persons as well as “acts of looting committed by
individual soldiers for private gain” or for “personal use.””!*

223. In the CDF case, Trial Chamber I further noted that while pillage does not require the
appropriation to be “extensive or to involve a large economic value,” pillage
committed on a small scale must still be “serious.” "

224. The level of seriousness is dependent upon the circumstances of each case.’'* In this
regard, Trial Chamber I concurred with the ICTY Trial Chamber in Naletilic and
Martinovic that pillage:

“may be a serious violation not only when one victim suffers severe
economic consequences because of the appropriation, but also, for example,
when property is appropriated from a large number of people. In the latter
case, the gravity of the crime stems from the reiteration of the acts and from
their overall impact.”'?

225. Furthermore, to be considered “serious,” a violation “must constitute a breach of a
rule protecting important values, and the breach must involve grave consequences for
the victim.”'¢

226. The terms “plunder,” “looting” and “spoliation” are synonyms for pillage;’'” all of
these terms refer to the illegal acquisition of all types of property.

227. As noted above, the first element of pillage is unlawful appropriation.’'® Regarding
this element the Appeals Chamber stated “that a necessary element of the crime of
pillage is the unlawful appropriation of property. Consequently, burning and other
acts of destruction of property not amounting to appropriation as a matter of law,
cannot constitute pillage under international criminal law.”>"’

228. Trial Chamber I elaborated, stating that “[an] essential element of pillage is the

unlawful appropriation of property. Black’s Law Dictionary defines appropriation as

*'2 AFRC Rule 98 Decision paras 241—-42.

°!3 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 161.

' Ibid. para. 162.

15 Ibid., (citing Prosecutor v. Naletilic and Martinovi¢, Case No. IT-98-34, Trial Judgement, para. 612
(31 March 2003)).

316 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 94 (citing Tadié, 1T-94-1-A, Decision on the Defence Motion for
Interlocutory Appeal on Jurisdiction para. 94 (2 October 1995)).

37 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 751; RUF Trial Judgement, para. 205. See also Celebi¢ Trial Judgement,
para. 591; Simi¢ et al. Trial Judgement, para. 98. There seems to be agreement that the crime of “plunder”
from Article 3(e) of the ICTY Statute is similar in substance to the crime of “pillage” as understood in
Article 4(f) of the ICTR Statute. See Prosecutor v. Naletilic and Martinovi¢, Case No IT-98-34-T, Trial
Judgement, paras 613 and 615 (31 March 2003) [Naletilic Trial Judgement].

S18 Supra note 1.

Y CDF dppeal Judgement, para. 409.
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“exercise of control over property; a taking of possession.” In the act of looting, the
offender unlawfully appropriates the property. Destruction of property by burning,
however, does not, by itself, necessarily involve any unlawful appropriation. Thus,
while both looting and burning deprive the owner of their property, the two actions
are distinct since the latter crime may be committed without appropriation per se.”>*°

229. There appears to be no readily available definition of “civilian property” in
international criminal jurisprudence. The SCSL Statute 2! and the ICTY
jurisprudence, however, refer to attacks against civilian objects.>?

230. Article 52(1) of Additional Protocol I defines civilian objects as “all objects which are
not military objectives.” Military objectives are defined in paragraph 2 as “those
objects which by their nature, location, purpose or use make an effective contribution
to military action and whose total or partial destruction, capture or neutralization, in
the circumstances ruling at the time, offers a definite military advantage.”>?

231. The principles of the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocols imply that
dwellings, schools, hospitals and other buildings occupied by civilians constitute

civilian objects.’**

Attacks on these objects are prohibited unless the buildings have
become legitimate military objectives. An attack must have caused extensive damage
to civilian objects in order to constitute a war crime.>?

232. Generally, pillage is distinguished from lawful conduct by the absence of consent.
The ICC Elements of Crimes specifically require that the “the appropriation was

without the consent of the owner.””>°

As was recognized in World War II
jurisprudence, consent is often vitiated through coercion in times of war “when action
by the owner is not voluntary because his consent is obtained by threats, intimidation,
pressure, or by exploiting the position and power of the military occupant under
circumstances indicating that the owner is being induced to part with his property

against his will.”*?’

520 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 166.
21 SCSL Statute Art. 4.b.
522 See, e.g., Kordi¢ and Cerkez Trial Judgement, paras 326--28.
*2 Second Additional Protocol to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, Art. 52(1).
" See, e.g., Kordi¢ and Cerkez Trial Judgement, para. 37G).
%25 Ibid. para. 328.
% International Criminal Court, Elements of Crimes, Art. 8(2)(b)(xvi), element 3. UN. Doc.
PCNICC/2000/1/Add.2 (2000).
%27 United States v. Krauch et al., US Military Tribunal sitting at Nuremberg, Subsequent Nuremberg Trials,
29 July 1948, at 1135-36. :
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233. The requirement of consent can only be limited by certain aspects of international
humanitarian law. Those limitations are, however, strictly limited and subject to
certain protections.

234. Article 52 of the Hague Convention®*® allows military forces to requisition certain
property. Requisition of private property can only be made in accordance with the
needs of the military forces, must be in proportion to the recourses of the country and
cannot have the effect of involving the inhabitants in military operations against their
own country;‘m

235. Article 53 of the Hague Convention allows military forces to seize war booty. In order
to constitute a war booty seized property must have a direct military use;**°

236. Article 55 of the Hague Convention allows military forces to use a portion of
recourses in occupied territory in accordance with the doctrine of usufruct. The
doctrine of usufruct permits an occupier to exploit a portion of natural recourses
provided that the exploitation dies not undermine the capital value of the recourse in
question and that the proceeds are used “for the benefit of the local population.”*®!

237. The defence of military necessity can lead to exclusion of responsibility for certain
crimes under international law. This is the case for several war crimes.*>> Regarding
the crime of pillage, the wording of Article 47 of The Hague Convention contains
only a prohibition of pillage that would suggest it is an absolute prohibition not
allowing exceptions. On the other hand, the ICC Elements of Crimes states in
footnote 47 accompanying the elements that “appropriations justified by military

necessity cannot constitute the crime of pillaging.”

528 Convention (II) with Respect to the Laws and Customs of War on Land and its annex: Regulations
concerning the Laws and Customs of War on Land. The Hague, 29 July 1899, art. 52. [The Hague
Convention].

52 United States v. Krupp et al., US Military Tribunal sitting at Nuremberg, Subsequent Nuremberg Trials,
31 July 1948, at 1341.

30 A. Zimmermann, Commentary on the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, Observers’
Notes, Article by Article (O. Triffterer ed.), C.H. Beck Miinchen, Hart Oxford, Nomos Baden-Baden
(2008), at 399 side note 149 and at 409 side note 172.

3 Armed Activities on the Territory of the Congo (Democratic Republic of the Congo v. Uganda),
Judgement, 2005 1.C.J. 168 para. 249, (December 19).

2 See, e.g., Art. 8(2)(a)(iv) Rome Statute.
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Common elements/chapeau requirements for the Crimes Against Humanity

238. With respect to all the Crimes Against Humanity discussed above, and has alrecady
been noted in some of the relevant sections, the following additional requirements
must be met for the crime to quality as a crime against humanity.™?

239. First, there must be an “attack,” which has been defined by Trial Chamber I as a
“campaign, operation or course of conduct directed against a civilian population and

: hy N M I : 77.“34
enconipasses any nustreatment of the civilian population.”™

Distinguishing an
“attack™ from “armed conflict,” the Chamber notes that an attack “can precede,

“outlast, or continue during an armed conflict. thus it may, but need not be, be part of
an armed contlict as such.”**

240. Second, the perpetrator’s conduct must have been committed as part of widespread or
systematic attack.™® The requirement that the attack be “widespread or systematic” is
disjunctive.™’ Though no longer necessarily required in the ad hoc tribunals, the
existence of a policy or a plan, or that the crimes were supported by a policy or a plan
to carry them out, may be evidentially relevant to establish the widespread or
systematic nature of the attack.*"®

241. Third, the attack must be directed against a civilian population.*” The term “civilian
population” has been widely defined to include not only civilians in the ordinary and
strict sense of the term, but all persons who have taken no active part in the
hostilities.** The presence of a few non-civilians within a population does not destroy
its civilian character.”®' In the context of an armed conflict, however, those who have
been rendered hors de combat at the time of the attack are not considered to be
civilians or part of the civilian population.”*

242. Fourth, the charged acts of the Accused must be a part of the widespread or

N - - T . 5 . .
systematic attack directed against a civilian population.™ This nexus is assessed on a

*} 4FRC Trial Judgement, paras 211-22 (citing AFRC Rule 98 Decision para. 42).

3 Ibid para. 214.

535 Ibid. See also Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 182; Kunarac Appeal Judgement, para. 86; Tadic Appeal
Judgement, para. 251.

36 AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 215.

37 Ibid para. 215 (citing Kunarac Appeal Judgement, para. 93). See also CDF Trial Judgement, paras 112—
13. ,

¥ CDF Trial Judgement, para. 113. See also AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 215; Akayesu Trial Judgement,
para. 580.

> 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 216.

0 1bid. (citing Akayesu Appeal Judgement, para. 582; Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 637-38).

**! Ibid. para. 216 (citing Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 644).

2 Ibid. paras 216-19 (distinguishing between previous combatants and fully civilian populations).

3 Ibid. para. 220 (citing Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 579).
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case-by-case basis, though reliable indicia include the similarity of the acts of the
perpetrator and those of the attack, the geographic and temporal proximity of the
charged acts and the attack, and the nature and extent of the perpetrator’s knowledge
of the attack when he committed the acts.”™
243. Lasily, the perpetrator must be aware of the widespread or systematic attack, and that
his acts constitute part of this larger attack.”™™ The motives of the perpetrator’s
participation in the attack are irrelevant.”*
Knowledge on the part of the Accused
244. It must be established that the Accused knew or had reason to know that his act(s) or
omissions or conduct constituted part of the widespread or systematic attack on a

*7 The Accused must “understand the overall context in which his acts took

civilian.
“place™® but “need not know the details of the attack or share the purpose or goal
behind the attack."™* The “knowledge required in order to find that crimes against
humanity had been committed is that of the actual perpetrator” on the ground.™
245. Blaskic states that the knowledge of the political context in which the offence fits may
be surmised from the concurrence of a number of concrete facts, including;
1) The historical and political circumstances in which the acts of violence
occurred; ‘
2) The functions of the Accused when the crimes were committed;
3) His responsibilities within the political or military hierarchy;
4) The direct and indirect relationship between the political and military
hierarchy;
5) The scope and gravity of the acts perpetrated;
6) The nature of the crimes committed and the degree to which they are

common knowledge.>!

> Ibid. (citing Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 632).

** Ibid. para. 221.

* Ibid. para. 222 (citing Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 190; Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 248, 252;
Kunarac Appeal Judgement, para. 103 (“[a]t most, evidence that [acts were committed] for purely personal
reasons could be indicative of a rebuttable assumption that he was not aware that his acts were part of that
attack.”)).

*¥7 AFRC Rule 98 Decision paras 42, 74, 112, 174, 214.

8 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 121 (citing Limaj Trial Judgement, para. 190).

* Ibid. para. 121, (citing Kunarac Trial Judgement, para. 102-03).

3 CDF Appeal Judgement, para. 315.

' Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 259 (citing Akayesu Trial Judgement, paras 523-24; Tadi¢ Trial
Judgement, para. 657).
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Definitions

246. Large-scale action refers to action which is “carried out collectively with considerable
scriousness and directed at multiple victims.”™** This requirement excludes an isolated
inhumane act committed by a perpetrator acting on his own initiative and directed
against a single victim’.”>* What amounts to large scale action must be determined on
a case-by-case basis, using a common-sense approach (in relation to killings on a
large scale).”™

247. In Sesay et al.,’> as in the AFRC*® and CDF’ cases, the respective SCSL Trial
Chambers adopted the ICTY definition of “widespread” in the ICTY Kunarac
Appeals Chamber Judgement. In that case, the Appeals Chamber established that
determining whether an attack is “widespread” or “systematic” is a relative exercise,
dependent upon the civilian population allegedly being attacked. A Trial Chamber
must “first identify the population which is the object of the attack and, in light of the
means, methods, resources and result of the attack upon the population, ascertain
whether the attack was indeed widespread or systematic. The consequences of the
attack upon the targeted population, the number of victims, the nature of the acts, the
possible participation of officials or authorities or any identifiable patterns of crimes,
could be taken into account to determine whether the attack satisfies either or both
requirements of ‘widespread’or  ‘systematic’attack  vis-a-vis  this  civilian
population.”>

248. In the CDF case, the Trial Chamber thus held that “widespread” refers to large-scale
nature of attack and number of victims.>>® In the 4AFRC case, the Trial Chamber found
that the term denoted “massive, frequent, large-scale action, carried out collectively

with considerable seriousness and directed at multiple victims.”>*°

>3> AFRC Rule 98 Decision para. 42 (b).

553 Kunarac Trial Judgement, para. 428 (citing Report of the International Law Commission on the Work of
its Forty-Eighth Session 1996 GAOR, 51st Sess., Supp. No. 10, UN Doc. A/51/10, at 94-95).

334 Kajelijeli Trial Judgement, para. 891 (citing Bagilishema Trial Judgement, para. 87; Kayishema and
Ruzindana Trial Judgement, para. 142).

*** RUF Trial Transcript, at 14, In 17-22 (25 October 2006).

5% AFRC Trial Judgement, para. 215.

%57 CDF Trial Judgement, para. 112,

¥ Kunarac Appeal Judgement, para. 95 (citing Kurnarac, Trial Judgement,).

%9 cDF Trial Judgement, para. 112.

0" AFRC Rule 98 Decision para. 42 (b) (citing Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 580; Kayishema &
Ruzindana, Trial Judgement, para. 123; Kunarac Appeal Judgement, para. 94; Tadié Trial Chamber
Judgement, para. 648 [Affirmed by AFRC Judgement, para. 215 (20 June 2007)]). Also see Akayesu Trial
Judgement, para. 580.
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249. In the ICTY, in Kordic et al., the Trial Chamber found that an attack may be
considered widespread by the “cumulative effect of a series of inhumane acts or the
singular effect of an inhumane act of extraordinary magnitude.”*®'

250. The nexus between the acts of the Accused and the attack requires proof that the acts
comprised part of a pattern of widespread or systematic crimes directed against a
civilian population.’®

Directed against a civilian population

251. The customary international law prohibition against the intentional targeting of
civilian populations is absolute.’®® Hence, the term “directed against” is meant to
encompass attacks that have civilian populations as their primary object.’®*

252. In assessing whether an attack may properly be characterized as “directed at a civilian
population, the Trial Chamber “should consider, inter alia, the means and methods
used in the course of the attack, the status and number of the victims, the nature of the
crimes committed in course of the attack, the resistance to the assailants at the time
and the extent to which the attacking force may be said to have complied or attempted
to comply with the precautionary requirements of the laws of war.”>®

253. Though “population” does not mean the entire population of a geographical area,
targeting only a limited number of individuals, even if randomly selected, does not
constitute an attack directed at a population as such.’®® Enough civilians must be
targeted or the circumstances should such as to satisfy the Trial Chamber beyond a
reasonable doubt that indeed that attack was against a civilian population rather than

against a limited and random selected number of individuals.>®’

" Kordié and Cerkez Trial Judgement, para. 179 (citing Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 206).

%62 Kunarac Trial Judgement, paras 93-97 (accepting Trial Chamber position restated at para. 80).

363 4FRC Trial Judgement, para. 216 (citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 109; Limaj Trial Judgement,
para. 186).

> Ibid.

%% Ibid. (citing Kunarac Appeal Judgement, para. 91).

% Ibid. para. 217.

57 Blaskic Appeals Judgement, para. 105 (citing Kunarac Appeal Judgement, para. 90).
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FACTUAL NARRATIVE

Chapter One: Parallel Lives

254. There are a number of striking parallels’® between the two neighbouring states,
Liberia and Sierra Leone, which resulted in the two countries sharing a period of
violent upheaval in the last decade of the Twentieth Century continuing into the
Twenty First Century. The border dividing the two states is recognized as artificial.>*’
There are a number of tribes that straddle the Liberian-Sierra Leonean border;
namely, the Golas, the Kissies, the Mendes, the Gbandies and the Temnes. The
Liberian-Sierra Leonean border did not provide a demarcation of tribal affiliations or
language.’”® Rather their common heritage illustrates the synchronised pain both
countries suffered historically which is one of the main identifiable causes of conflict.
As a spectacle both the Liberian and Sierra Leonean revolutions were unpredictable,
their form was incoherent, spontaneous and viscerally roused.

255. In 1787 British abolitionists and philanthropists established a settlement in Freetown
for repatriated and rescued slaves. Two decades later, in 1808, the Freetown
settlement became a crown colony. Similarly, the colony of Liberia was founded by
the American Colonization Society, which arranged for the settlement of freed slaves
in Africa. From around 1800, in the United States of America ideas and plans were
conceived to set up a colony in Africa for freed African American slaves. Between
1821 and 1847, by a combination of purchase and conquest, American ‘Societies’
developed the colony ‘Liberia’. In 1847 Liberia issued its Declaration of
Independence, thus ending its relationship with the American Colonization Society
and establishing an American-style form of Government. These freed slaves, known
as Americo-Liberians formed the True Whig Party and dominated Liberian political
life for the next 133 years. In effect Liberia was, for almost a century and a half, a
one party state. In fact President Tubman alone ruled as President from 1944 to 1971,
during which time government ministers, captains of industry, the Judiciary and other
important roles in the society were all appointed and dismissed at his whim. This
pattern of one party rule was reflected in Sierra Leone following its independence

from Britain in 1961. The prime example of this despotic rule was the utterly corrupt

*® TT, Stephen Ellis, 17 Jan 08, p. 1498,
% TT, Prosecution Opening Statement, 4 Jun 2007, p. 274.
" TT, Charles Taylor, 27 Jul 09, p. 25245-6; Exhibit D-132.
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and destructive Siaka Stevens whose policies eroded the state’s machinery. No
attempt was made by either Britain or the United States of America to impose their
own democratic values on either society. Rather the United States and Great Britain
selectively employed the language of democratic principles when pursuing their
national interests in Sierra Leone and Liberia; neither nation made a genuine effort to
foster democratic practice in their satellite states. Thus from the symbiotic
relationship of Liberia and Sierra Leone was born a child in need of nuturing but was
abandoned at the roadside like an unwanted bastard.

256. Again in both societies the capital cities came to dominate the economic, political and
social life of the nation. Furthermore, in both societies the people in the capital, the
descendants of former slaves, Krio in Sierra Leone and Americo-Liberians in Liberia,
formed an elite who controlled the economy, wealth and all aspects of the governance

of the two countries.’’!

This elite considered themselves superior to the indigenous
natives of the hinterland and in many ways exhibited an obnoxious prejudice against
the natives. It is a sad irony that in many ways these former slaves replicated the hated
racism, class consciousness and exploitation of the slave societies from which they
had come. They formed a privileged elite which resisted outsiders to form an
unbreakable crust on the pinacle of politics and society. In the case of Liberia, the
differences between the people living in the area before the arrival of the Americo-
Liberians, and Americo-Liberian mistreatment and exploitation of Liberian natives in
the hinterland, was the primary catalyst for the bloody civil conflict which began in
1980 and raged on and off for more than twenty years. By way of example we were
told by Stephen Ellis that in many parts of Sierra Leone and Liberia forced labour was
a common practice and there were even Government regulations which regulated it.
Stephen Ellis spoke of seeing a document in the Liberian archives called “Regulations
Governing the Interior of the Country”, originally drafted in the 1920s but updated in
1949, empowering Government officials to require people to carry things for them.>”
This is more commonly known as forced labour.

257. Hardly surprising then that in 1980 Liberian Army Master Sergeant Samuel Doe, a
member of the Krahn ethnic group seized power in a bloody coup, ending the 133-

year rule of the Americo-Liberian True Whig Party. In our submission, this event,

LT, Stephen Ellis, 17 Jan 20, p. 1499.
5 TT, Stephen Ellis, 17 Jan 08, p. 1500.
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rather than the invasion of Liberia by the NPFL in December 1989 marks the true
start of revolution in the linked societies.

258. The impression conveyed by the history of the two societies was one of enduring
hopelessness, a world that needed to be reconstructed if it was ever to be substantially
changed. These were societies so encrusted with privilege that only a shock of great
violence could free the living organism within. Institutionally torpid, economically
immobile, culturally atrophied and socially stratified, this “ancient regime” was
incapable of self-modernization. It was the connection of anger at past abuses and
atrocities that made the revolution possible, but it also programmed the revolution to
explode from over-inflated expectations.

259. There is no issue that atrocities were committed during this lengthy period of regional
conflict. It is equally accepted that the civilian populations of both countries bore the
brunt of the atrocities committed as the revolution consumed its own children.
Nonetheless, it is to be noted that violence in a revolutionary situation is not just an
unfortunate side effect from which enlightened individuals could selectively avert
their eyes; it is the revolution’s source of collective energy. The impression that
violence in Africa is criminal rather than political which is now the conventional
wisdom, that greed not grievance is the source of the civil wars which plague the |
continent is reflected in the prosecution’s attitude towards the conflict in the sub-

region. Thus, in opening their case the prosecution asserted that:

...some say that the RUF was fighting in Sierra Leone for a kind of national
liberation, for the betterment of the people of that country. But we submit that the
evidence will show that there was really only a thin veneer of ideology that masked
the real motives of destruction and exploitation.’”

260. For the institutions that claim to represent “the international community”, the Western
Press, international NGOs and UN agencies, the violence in Liberia and Sierra Leone
is a paradigm of senseless violence. Such a view fails to recognise the history of the
very states which now claim some moral superiority.

-Every major social upheaval, historically, has been marked by violence, from the
English Civil War of the Seventeenth Century, through the American, French and
Russian Revolutions. All have been marked by the most serious violence and the

commission of what many would rightly describe as atrocities. Furthermore, the

prosecution’s depiction of the RUF’s motivation as being criminal ab initio is an

*” TT, Prosecution Opening Statement, 4 June 2007, p. 283.
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insult to the hopes and aspirations of the people of Sierra Leone and also their own

witnesses. |

262. An additional feature of the lives of Sierra Leone and Liberia respectively was the
stifling effect of Cold War politics on their ability to peacefully transition to
democratic life. Stephen Ellis remarked that under President Tubman, Liberia was in ’
thrall to the United States, which maintained its largest CIA base in Africa along with
the only Gemini tracking aerial in Africa in Liberia. President Tolbert who replaced
President Tubman tried to distance himself from the United States, for example
refusing the United States permission to use Roberts Airfield outside Monrovia as the
headquarters of their regional rapid deployment force. He also invited the Soviet
Union to open an Embassy in Monrovia. However, President Tolbert, lacking the
prestige of his predecessor, was unable to maintain the Government’s stifling grip on
the society, and it soon became clear to observers, including the Government of the

United States, that the Tolbert regime was in serious trouble and they began looking

*7* Compare closed session testimony of protected witness TF1-371 to the statement he previously made, as
recorded in Conf. Exhibit D-6.
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for possible replacements.’”

Thus it was that in 1980 Master Sergeant Doe led a
successful military coup and overthrew President Tolbert. It must be recalled that this
event occurred at a time when the “Reagan/Thatcher axis” was ratcheting up the
pressure on the failing Soviet Block. This was not a time to have qualms about the
credentials or atrocious behaviour of a Master Sergeant in West Africa, that was of
little strategic concern when social pressures were being stifled worldwide by the icy
grip of the Cold War. So in the United States, the Government feted Doe for his anti-
Ghaddafi and anti-communist rhetoric. Thus despite his obnoxious behaviour and
patently rigged election in 1985, the Doe regime was, per capita, the leading recipient
of aid in sub Saharan Africa.’’® During the Cold War much of the battle for world
hegemony between the USA and the USSR was fought economically and on foreign
soil; Africa saw many such battles. The choice of weapon was - aid. As such, the aid
imperative took on an added dimension: not how deserving a country might be or the
nature of its leadership but rather the willingness of a desperately impoverished
country to ally itself with one camp or another — benevolent leader or vicious tyrant,
as long as they were onside, what did it matter? This was a morally corrupt
environment

263. However, by the end of the 1980s the United States had become completely
embarrassed by the Doe regime,”’’ and these were the ripe circumstances exploited by
the NPFL in their December 1989 invasion of Nimba County in Liberia. It is
noteworthy that Stephen Ellis remarked that:

Part of the global significance of what was happening in Liberia from December
1989 onwards was that this was the first serious crisis in Africa after the fall of the
Berlin Wall. If we say the Berlin Wall was November 1989, if we take that as being
the end of the Cold War, symbolically at least, then this was the first major crisis in
Africa. I was told by a senior American State Department official who was involved
in events at that time in West Africa, he said the governments of West Africa were
sure that the United States Government would intervene to prevent the Liberian
situation from getting out of hand everybody knew that the de facto Liberia was an
American protectorate, it was an American ally and the Americans would not allow it
to get completely in a chaotic situation. However, looking back what we can now
say is the end of the Cold War had changed all calculations, that while the Cold War
was going on I think that was perhaps a correct calculation, that is to say the
Americans would intervene in one way or another, but in the new circumstances of

° TT, Stephen Ellis, 17 Jan 08, p. 1506.
7 TT, Stephen Ellis, 17 Jan 08, p. 1513.
*"1 TT, Stephen Ellis, 17 Jan 08, p. 1520.

SCSL-03-01-T 96 23 May 2011



23 oqs

1990, in effect the American Government said, ‘No, we are not going to intervene
because the rules have changed’. . .that is the conclusion I would draw.””’®
264. This failure to act allowed the contagious social forces to spread naturally in an
organic way, beyond the control of any single individual, and in a sense inevitably
across Liberia’s fictional borders into neighbouring states. Recent events in North
Africa demonstrates the infectious nature of such popular uprisings. Only a few
hundred Special Forces were involved yet the behaviour and activities of the Armed
Forces of Liberia; as they retreated, triggered rage. The NPFL, benefiting from that
rage, quickly controlled all of Liberia except Monrovia. In effect the Liberian people
rose up against the oppressive Doe regime; this alone can explain the speed of the
NPFL advance. The reality was that the NPFL became a People’s Army. For the first
time in the modern political history of West Africa, ordinary citizens supported by a
couple of hundred trained commandos took up arms against a military dictatorship

579

and defeated it. That success led Guinean President Lansana Conte to say in

1991:"Charles Taylor is a bad example. Civilians shouldn’t be encouraged to

11580

overthrow military regimes. Professor A Bolaji Akinyemi, who was Nigerian

Foreign Minister from 1985 to 1987, writing in New African magazine also said:

“When Taylor invaded Liberia in December 1989 with the purpose of overthrowing
Doe, he made rapid advance towards Monrovia and would have overthrown Doe if
General Ibrahim Babangid, then President of Nigeria, had not put Nigerian troops in
Liberia, along with Ghanaian troops to stem the tempo of Taylor’s advance. There
has been much speculation about the raison d’etre for this policy. Even though I was
no longer Foreign Minister in Nigeria, | was briefed that the underlying rationale lay
in the character of the regimes in Nigeria and Ghana. Both were military regimes
and it was felt that it was a matter of national security and survival for both regimes
that a civilian revolution should not topple a military regime in the sub-region.” o8

By beginning the war in Liberia, Charles Taylor ensured that his revolution was

abrasively juxtaposed with the military regimes in the sub region.

265. Thus it was that during the 1980’s a pattern of interwoven conflicts developed across
the whole of West Africa: on the political front this took the form, on the one hand,
of a struggle between the civilian-military establishments that had come to power

after independence and would go to almost any lengths to hold onto their power and,

" TT, Stephen Ellis, 17 Jan 08, p. 1524.

7 This was comparable to what Castro had done in Cuba. And look what happened to him, still a pariah.
*% Exhibit D-118, p7 (New African Article).

! Exhibit D-408, p. 13 — 14.
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on the other hand, the forces of grassroots democracy that, despite endless setbacks,
fought to achieve a greater say for the people as a whole. It was always a Western
myth, largely fostered by the departing colonial powers, that Africans preferred strong
authoritarian rule to democracy. This was an insult to Africans because it was never
the case, but the myth suited the interests of the Europeans, who wanted to perpetuate
their influence, and the Cold War warriors, who needed to Justify providing support to
autocratic regimes, that would safeguard their strategic and financial investments on
the continent. The prize for democrats was to prise control from these elites.
Paradoxically, one of the enduring products of the revolution was a footloose,
uneducated, unemployed and perhaps unemployable, militarized youth, and a region
awash with small arms.
266. We will endeavour to continue the thread of the parallels between Liberia and Sierra

Leone over the succeeding pages to establish the following:

a. Charles Taylor: from birth to presidency

b. The origins of the RUF and its history up to the AFRC Coup in May 1997,

¢. The Presidencey of Charles Taylor frorh Inauguration to Lom¢;

d. Sierra Leone: AFRC Coup to Lomé;

e. Charles Taylor’s fall from grace and its reflection in Sierra Leone;

Chapter Two: Charles Taylor from Birth to Presidency
Birth and Education

267. Charles Taylor was born on 28 January 1948. His father was an Americo-Liberian
considered to have married beneath himself when he took Charles Taylor’s mother for
his wife because of her indigenous origin. At the age of 18, he attended Kakata Rural
Teachers Training Institute. Upon completion of the course, he was assigned to a
junior high school in Bomi Hills in 1967 until he was transferred to Arthington
Central School in 1968 where he taught maths and science courses.’®?

268. In 1969, Charles Taylor decided to move to Monrovia and was accepted as a teacher
in the Monrovia Consolidated School System where he continued to work as a math

583

and science teacher.””” He also enrolled in a college accounting programmme at the

La Salle Extension University. This course lasted for two years until 1970. At the

**2TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24364-70.
> TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24371.
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same time he was employed by the Ministry of Finance in the bureau of general

accounting under the Tubman government.>$*

269. After the death of President Tubman, the Ministry of Finance was restructured under
the new President Tolbert, who was installed in 1971. Charles Taylor was hired as a
tull-time junior accountant in the ministry where he remained until 1972.%%° He then
decided to study accounting at Chamberlayne College in Boston, Massachusetts in the
United States.’®® After graduating with an associate degree in accounting in May
1974, he was accepted in an accounting programme at the business school of Bentley
College in September 1974. However, he developed an interest in politics and wanted
a qualification more relevant to the needs of the people of Liberia, so he transferred to
economics with an emphasis on development economics and obtained a Bachelors of
Science degree in economics with a specialization in development.**’

270. In September 1977, Taylor entered a masters program: an MBA program with an
emphasis on organizational development and behavior at New Hampshire College in
Manchester, New Hampshire.”®® He had previously worked as a janitor and
dishwasher in order to finance his studies at Bentley College, but now financed his
MBA by working as a re-assurance advisor with the Liberty Mutual Insurance
Company in Boston. He did not complete the course.*®’

Taylor’s Involvement with the ULAA

271. When President Tolbert replaced President Tubman in 1971 many Liberians in the
United States saw the opportunity to achieve democratic political change in Liberia.
Taylor seized the opportunity and was one of the founders, later he became the
chairman of the Union of Liberian Associations in the Americas (ULAA) in 1972.
The organization was founded to influence and change the political situation in
Liberia. The ULAA specifically aimed at influencing Liberian politics in order to
achieve true democracy. The ULAA did not establish contact with other African
American pressure groups within the United States, even though the civil rights

movement in that country was still a powerful force. This was to avoid any conflicts

***TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24370-3.
**>TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24373-4
**TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24376.
**7TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24378-9.
** TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24383-4.
%% TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24384,
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concerning the legitimacy of the ULAA. Thus, the ULAA was registered as a student

organization.’”’ 7

272. The organization had chapters in each State and every chapter had its own president.
It was a democratic organization, each chapter choosing its own leader. The
leadership would in turn represent the chapter before the national organization.
Furthermore, the national organization would elect the president who would represent
the ULAA as a whole. Besides being president of the Massachusetts chapter, Charles
Taylor later served as the chairman of the ULAA for three years from 1979.%!

273. The umbrella organization of the ULAA received contributions from the chapters.
Service as a ULAA official was unpaid. Throughout his chairmanship, Taylor
travelled on a regular basis. This increased when President Tolbert visited the United
States in 1979 and invited him to visit Liberia as a representative of the ULAA %2

274. During Charles Taylor’s chairmanship, in April 1979, there was a rice riot in Liberia.
Although immediately precipitated by a sudden rise in the price of rice and concerns
that politicians were benefiting from the suffering of the people, this was also the first
indication that popular resentment at the Americo-Liberian elite could have a
destabilizing effect on the whole rotten governmental edifice in Liberia. The riot
resulted in a number of casualties as the government responded violently to peaceful
demonstrations. The ULAA decided that they should support the citizens of Liberia
through the purchase of arms to be sent to Liberia. The FBI was informed of this
intention to send arms to Liberia and arrested Taylor, being the chairman of the
organization, and those individuals who had tried to purchase arms. Taylor was
summoned to appear before a grand jury in Washington DC. This was the first
indication of his conviction that armed struggle was the only option to bring about
change in Liberia. In addition, the ULAA organized and led several demonstrations
in the United States; one outside the White House in Washington D.C. and another
outside the Liberian embassy. The students who attended the latter demonstration
threatened to occupy the embassy and burn it down. These were nothing but empty
threats born of frustration. However, during a demonstration at the Liberian Consulate
in New York, the ULAA took over the consulate and refused to leave despite several

requests from President Tolbert to Charles Taylor to do so. As a result, several

% TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24385-6; 24390-1.
“UTT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24386-7.
2 TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24389-90.
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members of the ULAA, including Charles Taylor, were arrested although the Liberian
Government did not press charges.

275. In August/September 1979, the ULAA held a demonstration during a meeting of the
General Assembly of the United Nations in New York addressed by President
Tolbert. Several members of the ULAA seated in the public gallery disrupted
President Tolbert’s speech. Taylor was not present in the building, but he had
organized the protest. Their objective was to force the resignation of President
Tolbert and bring about free and fair elections in which opposition parties would be
allowed to participate.*”

276. Despite the demonstrations by the ULAA, President Tolbert continued his visit to the
United States and agreed to meet with Taylor and a delegation at the Liberian
embassy in Washington DC. During this meeting, President Tolbert invited Taylor
and his delegation to visit Liberia. This was to consist of a tour through several
regions, including Nimba County, where they would be shown various projects set up
by the Liberian Government in cooperation with the United States Ambassador.
However, upon their arrival in Liberia in January 1980, the ULAA delegation was not
permitted to meet the members of the opposition who had been incarcerated after the

. . . . . 4
rice riot; this was said to be for reasons of security. *°

However, the delegation was
allowed a certain leeway by the Tolbert Government and Charles Taylor held several
press conferences in which he was critical of the True Whig Party.’*’ These press
conferences brought him to the attention of the Liberian public.

The emergence of the Samuel Doe Government

277. During Charles Taylor’s visit to Liberia, Samuel Doe organized a violent coup which
commenced on 12 April 1980, during which President Tolbert was brutally killed.
Thirteen cabinet members were executed and dozens of government officials were
imprisoned. Thereafter a new government was formed, called the Peoples Redemption
Council (PRC) led by Samuel Doe.**® As a result of this coup, the 133-year rule of the
Americo-Liberian True Whig Party came to an end.

278. Although Charles Taylor did not agree with the killing of President Tolbert and the

execution of the cabinet ministers, he accepted an offer from General Quiwonkpa, one

*>TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24388; 24391; 234410-6. Charles Taylor discussed the situation leading
up to the demonstrations concerning the increase of the price of rice in detail.

** TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24416-9.

% TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24420-3. Charles Taylor discussed the circumstances in which he was
allowed to criticize the True Whig Party in particular.

** TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24445-9.
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of the coup leaders, to join the coup makers in the hope of calming the situation in
Liberia and putting an end to the violence.”’’ After the coup, Charles Taylor remained
in the barracks to take complaints, meet diplomats and work on other issues that arose
in the aftermath of the coup. Effectively, he joined the new regime. > He was given
the rank of major. This was a deliberate ploy by Master Sergeant Doe to ensure
discipline in the PRC, for holders of military rank were subject to military discipline.

279. The main governing body after the coup was the above-mentioned PRC which
consisted of 20 members and was headed by Samuel Doe. Aside from being the main
governing body, the PRC was the sole decision-making body and it ruled by decree.
Besides the council, a cabinet was established consisting of less than twenty ministers
including Charles Taylor. Contrary to Charles Taylor’s political beliefs, several
members of the PRC were Marxist-Leninist. Charles Taylor has consistently
maintained that he is a dyed-in-the wool capitalist. Within the PRC Charles Taylor
was assigned to the position of director-general of the General Services
Administration (GSA), he was made a minister so that he could attend PRC meetings
without actually being a council member.>”

280. After obtaining the approval of President Doe, Charles Taylor tried to tackle the
endemic corruption which was ingrained in Liberian life. In pursuit of this, he tried to
centralize and standardize the purchasing power of the Government seeking to obtain
economies of scale and also greater control over Government spending. However, the
effeétiveness of the measures that were implemented on his orders made him many
enemies among his colleagues on the PRC. As so often occurs in such situations,
where an excluded group is suddenly presented with the levers of power, their
practices came to mirror those of the hated regime they had replaced, and then
demand the same perks and benefits enjoyed by their predecessors. Consequently,
despite his best efforts to tackle corruption within the PRC Government, his
opponents accused him of embezzling government funds and he was demoted to
Deputy Minister of Commerce by Samuel Doe.*” It soon became clear that the
promised end to corruption in government was a mere chimera. Samuel Doe had

become intoxicated with power and its trappings and would hold onto it at all costs.

*7TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24423-32; 24449-5] .

% TT, Charles Taylor, 14 Jul 09, p. 24451-2.

% TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24469-72.

% TT, Charles Taylor, 15 July 09, p. 24473-8: 24489-90: 24500-3.
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281. The overthrow of the Tolbert Government had been met with euphoria by the
indigenous native population, because at long last they believed they could assume a
role in government. After all one of their own, Samuel Doe, a Krahn by origin, was in
power. They were soon to be disabused of that notion. During his presidency, Doe’s
popularity amongst the people decreased and he was increasingly criticized. He
became unpopular especially with the Americo-Liberians and the academic
community as they wanted the military to return to the barracks. This led to
demonstrations on university campuses against the Doe Government. A number of
students were arrested and charged with treason and Doe banned any further
demonstrations by passing Decree 2A.%"!

282. In addition, Samuel Doe turned the racism directed against the indigenous people of
Liberia on its head by favouring his own ethnic group in positions of power,
particularly in the security forces. As a result, during Doe’s presidency, the
relationship between him and Taylor deteriorated as Samuel Doe tried to strengthen
his position and weaken that of General Thomas Quiwonkpa, Taylor’s patron, who
was Doe’s main competitor as leader.

The attempted coup by General Thomas Quiwonkpa

283. After the PRC government was installed, General Quiwonkpa became a respected
member of the Council and was appointed the commanding officer of the armed
forces of Liberia. This fact, and developing differences of outlook between him and
President Doe, in particular about the composition of the Government, was taken as a
threat by President Doe. In addition, General Quiwonkpa wanted a return to
democracy, whereas President Doe wanted to maintain his personal grip on power.®”

284. As a result of this power struggle, Charles Taylor, General Quiwonkpa and others
planned to stage a coup against President Doe while the latter was abroad. However,
these plans failed. President Doe learned of the plot and placed Quiwonkpa under
house arrest. General Quiwonkpa eventually escaped and fled from Liberia. He first
hid in Monrovia, moved to Sierra Leone and from there to the United States. In the

meantime Charles Taylor, with his main supporter now in custody fled Liberia in late

VT, CT, Transcript 15 July 2009, pp. 24490:17-24494:20

602 During this conflict President Doe had started to target the supporters of General Quiwonkpa and in
particular people from the Gio or Mano ethnic group. See, TT, Moses Blah, TF1-561, 14 May 08, p. 9794-
6. Edward Mineh also discussed the targeting of supporters of General Thomas Quiwonkpa, which were
members of the Gio ethnic group, by Krahn soldiers of the AFL prior to the attempted coup by Quiwonkpa
in November 1985; TT, Edward Mineh, DCT-131, 28 Apr 10, p. 40270-9; 40280-3.
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1983 and went to the United States while Quiwonkpa was still under house arrest in

Liberia.®” .

285. Upon fleeing to the United States, the Doe Government sought Taylor’s extradition
on charges of embezzlement. In June 1984 the United States authorities arrested him
and he was held in custody at the Plymouth County House of Correction in
Massachusetts for approximately 15 months until November 1985. The United States
Government was made aware of Taylor’s involvement with General Quiwonkpa and
it was feared that he would be killed if he were extradited to Liberia. Charles Taylor
hired lawyers and resisted his extradition back to Liberia.®™

286. While General Quiwonkpa was in exile in the United States, he continued to plan to
oust the Samuel Doe government with the support of the United States Government.
In particular, Quiwonkpa received support from the CIA. Despite being in prison
Taylor cooperated in the planning of the proposed coup. The objective was to
overthrow the PRC and establish democratic rule in Liberia.

287. In furtherance of the plot, Thomas Quiwonkpa traveled to Sierra Leone with the
assistance of Father Hayden and Dr. Henry B. Fahnbulleh. During his stay in Sierra
Leone, General Quiwonkpa was backed by the CIA as well as the Sierra Leonean
Government. He received substantial assistance in terms of training and organization
of an armed force. This force was trained at a location near Freetown by a unit of the
Sierra Leone police, the SSD, which was led by Mohamed Dumbuya.*"

288. While all this was occurring, elections were held in Liberia in October 1985. Prior to
the elections, the international community tried, unsuccessfully, to encourage Samuel
Doe to hand over power to General Thomas Quiwonkpa. However, Samuel Doe
rigged the election. Jackson F. Doe, Samuel Doe's opponent, was popularly believed
to have won the election, however, Doe refused to accept defeat and proclaimed
himself the winner.*”® One month after the elections, in November 1985, Thomas
Quiwonkpa entered Liberia from Sierra Leone with the intention of overthrowing the
Doe regime. The coup failed as the government forces defeated those of General

Quiwonkpa; he was captured and brutally executed.®’’

3 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24495-6; TT, Stephen Ellis, 14 May 08, p. 1511.

%4 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24505-11.

% TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24496-8; TT, Isatu Kallon, DCT-299, 16 Jun 10, p. 42625-6.

896 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24515-6; Annie Yeney, DCT-224, 4 Jun 10, p. 42134-5.

%7 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p- 24515-6. Edward Zaymay provided an extensive description of the
events surrounding the attempted coup by General Thomas Quiwonkpa. TT, Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 6
May 10, p. 40564-77; Stephen Ellis, 17 Jan 08, p. 1514-5.
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289. Two to three days prior to the invasion of Liberia by General Quiwonkpa, Charles
Taylor escaped from the Plymouth County House of Corrections. The coincidence of
the timing led the prosecution to suggest to Charles Taylor that he had betrayed
General Quiwonpa. Before his escape, Taylor was informed that Thomas Quiwonkpa
had requested the United States Government to affect his release from custody. The
circumstances of Charles Taylor’s escape from custody still remain shrouded in
mystery. Taylor was somewhat reticent about providing the full details during his
testimony, although he was cross-examined in some detail about his contacts with the
CIA and assistance provided to him by them. After his escape from prison, Charles
Taylor stayed with his sister in New York, he then travelled via Mexico back to
Africa where he finally settled in Ghana.*®

290. After the failed coup attempt by General Thomas Quiwonkpa, President Doe
unleashed a ferocious campaign of terror against the citizens of Nimba County, the
home county of General Quiwonkpa. President Doe attempted to eliminate all
resistance to his government by targeting those he saw as his political opponents
living in Nimba County. General Charles Julu launched a massive scorched earth
campaign in Nimba County. Julu, of Doe’s Krahn ethnic group, was sent by Doe in
1985 to pacify Nimba, and he did so, killing and raping thousands of defenceless
civilians.

291. The Doe regime had institutionalized Krahn ethnic dominance in an effort to replace
Americo-Liberian influence. The impact of ethnicity worsened when Doe’s forces,
composed mainly of Krahns and Mandingos, targeted the mainly Gio and Mano
ethnic groups within Nimba. This sparked ethnic violence from both sides with the
Gio and Mano undertaking revenge attacks on the Mandingo and Krahn.®® The
origins of ethnic conflict in Liberia cannot be laid at the door of Charles Taylor, as the
prosecution has in vain sought to db. It was an army trained and equipped by the
United States Government which spawned this blight which was to plague Liberia for
many years.*'’

292. Consequently, the campaign mainly targeted the citizens from the Mano and Gio
ethnic group which were known to support General Quiwonkpa. During this brutal

* TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24516-22. Contrary to what the Prosecution alleged, Taylor maintained
that he did not escape prison in September 1985 but in November 1985 as he was still in the United States
when General Quiwonkpa was executed. Furthermore, Taylor did not want the coup to fail in order to
further his own political career. Charles Taylor, 16 Nov 09, p. 31674-80.

%% TT, Moses Blah, TF1-561, 19 May 08, p. 10155.

610 See testimony of Hassan Bility.
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campaign the populace was subjected to killings, burning, lootings, cannibalism and
rape.!! As a consequence, many were forced to flee Liberia and live in exile in the
neighboring countries.®'? In unleashing this brutal and murderous campaign President
Doe laid the foundation for his own doom. Most of the Special Forces who were to
return to Liberia in December 1989 and lead the campaign to overthrow him came
from these persecuted ethnic groups. This, in turn, led to inevitable desires for
revenge which would prove difficult for anyone to control once the balance of power
had shifted to the persecuted group.

Taylor’s presence in Ghana and incarceration

293. Taylor’s first incarceration: After Charles Taylor’s escape from prison in the United

States, he traveled to Ghana in either late 1985 or at the beginning of 1986 after Dr.
Henry B. Fahnbulleh encouraged him to join him there. Fahnbulleh was friendly with
President Jerry Rawlings and some influential Liberians had fled to Ghana after the

613

failed coup by General Quiwonkpa.”” When he arrived in Ghana, Taylor was

introduced by Dr. Fahnbulleh to the members of Movement of Justice in Africa

(MOIJA) to discuss ways of regrouping after the failed coup.®!*

MOJA was primarily
an organization still wedded to Marxist-Leninism and its fifteen members were not
natural bedfellows for the capitalist Charles Taylor.

294. Approximately four weeks after his arrival in Ghana, the Ghanaian authorities
accused Charles Taylor of being an agent for the CIA and arrested him. The basis of
the Ghanaian authorities’ suspicion was the manner in which he had escaped from a
maximum security Federal prison in the United States. Further, Jerry Rawlings had
recently come to power after a Marxist/Leninist inspired revolt by the armed forces in
Ghana which had resulted in conflict with the United States Government. The
relations between the countries worsened when the United States arrested Rawling’s
cousin and charged him with espionage. As a result, Rawlings arrested several
American nationals and Charles Taylor claiming that they were spies for the CIA.

Taylor was investigated for several months by the Ghanaian authorities whilst in

custody. Despite the attempts by Dr. Fahnbulleh and others to convince the authorities

*'' TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24526-8; Stephen Ellis, 17 Jan 08, p. 1516-7. Moses Blah testified that
approximately 1.500 people lost their lives as a result of this campaign. Moses Blah, TF1-561, 19 May 08,
p. 10137; Annie Yeney, DCT-224, 3 Jun 10, p. 42068-9; Isatu Kallon, DCT-299, 16 Jun 10, p. 42620-2.
**TT, Annie Yeney, DCT-224, 3 Jun 10, p. 42102.

*TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24525-6; 18 Nov 09, p. 32058-9.

*'* TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24529-30.
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that Taylor was not a spy, he remained confined for approximately six to seven

months. He was eventually released and granted asylum in Ghana.®"

295. Taylor’s second incarceration: As soon as Charles Taylor was released, he met with

the leaders of MOJA to plan an intervention in Liberia but they could not reconcile
their ideological differences.®® Instead, Taylor reached out to others who shared his
beliefs, such as Harry Nyuan and Moses Duopu, who were based in the Ivory Coast
after they too had fled Liberia. Subsequently, he traveled to the Ivory Coast on a

regular basis.®!’

While he was in the Ivory Coast, Taylor met with several senior
people living in exile, such as Alfred Mehn and Tiagen Wantee. In those meetings the
decision was made to create a fighting force to begin a revolution in Liberia. They
also decided that if the revolution was successful, Taylor would become the president
and that the vice-presidency would be given to someone within the fighting force.®'®
296. In the meantime, the leaders of MOJA, including Dr. Fahnbulleh, were also actively
recruiting fighters in order to continue the revolution started by Quiwonkpa. This
quite separate movement had a clear Marxist/Leninist influence and also enjoyed the
support of the Ghanaian government. According to Taylor, he was perceived as a
threat to MOJA’s plan to attack Liberia. Furthermore, the Ghanaian authorities were
aware of Taylor’s advanced efforts to organize his own force to attack Liberia and of

619

his connections with the Governments of Burkina Faso and Libya.”"” Consequently,

MOJA supporters within the Ghanaian government arranged for Taylor to be arrested

for a second time.*?°

297. Prior to his second arrest, Taylor had indeed met Blaise Compaore while the latter
was still the deputy to President Sankara of Burkina Faso. After President Sankara
was assassinated by his own forces, Blaise Compaore succeeded him as president and
he submitted a request to the Ghanaian authorities for Taylor’s release. Consequently,
after eight months of imprisonment, Charles Taylor was released and given forty-

621 Upon his release in late 1986,5* he immediately

23

eight hours to leave the country.

travelled to the Ivory Coast and from there on to Ouagadougou in Burkina Faso.°

*' TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24530-2; 3 Nov 09, p. 30973; 18 Nov 09, p. 320601.
*' TT, Charles Taylor, 18 Nov 09, p. 32063; DCT-125, 10 Mar 10, p. 36953-4.

" TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24532.

'8 TT, Charles Taylor, 3 Nov 09, p. 30967.

*' TT, Charles Taylor, 3 Nov 09, p. 30980-1; 18 Nov 09, p. 32063-5.

* TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24535-6.

I TT, Charles Taylor, 3 Nov 09, p. 30985.

2 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24549,

623 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24533-4; 24535-6; 24536-8.
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Formation of the second NPFL
298. Before his second arrest by the Ghanaian authorities, Charles Taylor had already
started the creation of the second NPFL in cooperation with Ellen Johnson-Sirleaf,

624 Ellen Johnson—Sirleaf had also been involved

Toniya King and Tom Woweiyu.
with the coup led by General Quiwonkpa and after its failure decided to cooperate
with Charles Taylor in the creation of the second NPFL. She was tasked with
collecting money for the training and the movement of the forces. Tom Woweiyu and
Taylor had met in 1972 during their membership of the ULAA. Woweiyu assisted
with the coordination of the NPFL and the movement of the recruits®® Moreover,
Toniya King, who was related to former President Tolbert and consequently had
many contacts within embassies and foreign intelligence agencies in the region,
played a key role in getting the recruits to Libya.**® However, by the time Charles
Taylor had established a solid relationship with Libya, King refused to visit the forces
and, subsequently, left the NPFL leaving Charles Taylor, Ellen Johnson-Sirleaf and
Tom Woweiyu as the controlling influences within the second NPFL.%?’ Although, the
historic origins of the NPFL as an organization starts with General Quiwonkpa, there
is no doubt that the decision to adopt the same name as the previously defeated
revolutionary force had much to do with the fact that it would have a resonance with
those who felt aggrieved about the behaviour of the Doe Government, particularly in
Nimba County. Further, Doe’s brutality had resulted in large numbers of people being
displaced from Nimba County into the neighbouring Ivory Coast. Thus, the NPFL
found a receptive audience on both sides of the border between Liberia and the Ivory
628

Coast.

Training in Libya

299. Preparations for training in Libya: After Taylor’s release from prison in Ghana in late
1986 and his subsequent visit to Ouagadougou, he traveled to France in order to meet
with Tom Woweiyu and Ellen Johnson-Sirleaf. It is of interest that this meeting took
place in France. There has long been a suspicion that France provided tacit support
for Charles Taylor in their efforts to preserve their own interests in Francophone West

Africa. During that meeting he showed Ellen Johnson-Sirleaf pictures of the recruits

S TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24542,

%23 TT, Charles Taylor, 3 Nov 09, p. 30980.

2 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24543-8.

7 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24542; 24550-1.
%28 TT, Charles Taylor, 3 Nov 09, p. 30984.
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who had been sent to Libya in order to convince her that her efforts to collect money

for their common cause had achieved practical results.®’

300. Despite Taylor’s second incarceration in Ghana, several groups of fighters had
already been sent to Libya for training. They were mostly recruited in the Ivory Coast,
since many Liberians had sought refuge there in fear of President Doe’s campaign

against the Gios and the Manos from Nimba County.**

While Charles Taylor was
imprisoned, men who were willing to undergo military training in Libya and fight
against the Doe government were recruited by the NPFL.**! The movement of these
men from Ivory Coast to Libya occurred covertly in order not to alert the United

States and Samuel Doe of their plans.®*

Thus, the forces traveled in groups of no

more than fifteen to twenty people in order to avoid detection. These recruits traveled

by bus or train to Ouagadougou from where they continued their journey to Libya by
air. These men were provided with the necessary travel documents and the Libyans
paid for the cost of transport.5*

301. Tajura Camp: The decision to accept the assistance of the Libyans is understandable.
Libya, was at the time, one of the few nations willing and able to pursue a firm anti-
imperialst, anti-American line. This was a high risk activity by the Libyan
Government because at the time Cold War relations, whilst softening, still governed
global strategic interests, as Colonel Ghadaffi learnt to his cost when his capital was
bombed by the United States. Charles Taylor has said that he is a committed Pan-
Africanist. Libya actively supported pan-African activities, and opposed neo-
colonialism by providing practical support and training to various liberation
movements from around the globe. This made Libya deeply unpopular with the West,
and Ghadaffi himself was accused of having imperialist ambitions in sub-saharan
Africa.

302. The Mataba was the organization at the heart of this Libyan strategy. It consisted of

the leaders and representatives of the various liberation movements. It was composed

9 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24542; 24543.

% TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24554.

S TT, Charles Taylor, 3 Nov 09, p. 30979. Edward Zaymay noted that amongst the recruiters were Alfred
Mehn (also known as Godfather) and Yegbeh Degbon; Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 6 May 10, p. 40596~
600.

32 TT, Charles Taylor, 3 Nov 09, p. 30979.

3 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 July 09, p. 24554 (Charles Taylor also provided an explanation on the exact
manner in which ECOWAS provides travel documents). Edward Zaymay stated that he used a refugee carte
d’identite which had been issued by the Ivorian government to travel from the Ivory Coast to Libya;
Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 12 May 10, p. 40907-8. See also Edward Mineh, DCT-131, 4 May 10, p.
40487-91; 40492-3.
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of groups such as the African National Congress, the South West African People’s
Organization, and the IRA. President Musuveni of Uganda, in a different incarnation,
was also a member. Liberation organizations from as far afield as Sumatra in
Indonesia were also present. The Mataba oversaw the provision of funds and training
to those revolutionary groups.®*

303. When the NPFL recruits arrived at Tajura training camp, they found that amongst the
groups already receiving training at the camp were groups from The Gambia, Sierra

. .6
Leone and Liberia.®®

The Gambian group was led by Dr Manneh and the Sierra
Leonean group by Ali Kabbah.®*® The Liberian group already there was led by Dr.
Henry B. Fahnbulleh who had separated from MOJA and created his own group with
the same aim of starting an armed struggle in Liberia. The Mataba, however, did
question the ability of the second group to stage a successful revolution as it lacked
sufficient manpower. Furthermore, the Mataba wanted to avoid conflict between two
rival groups by merging the NPFL forces and the forces of Dr. Fahnbulleh. However,
in time the other Liberian group dissolved and just two of fifteen members joined the
NPFL ranks and continued their training at the Tajura Camp.**’

304. Taylor was never a permanent resident in Libya; he spent the majority of his time in
Burkina Faso and on his visits to Libya would stay at one of the guest-houses in
Tripoli that were made available by the Mataba. These guest-houses were located not
far from the training camp in order to allow the leaders of the groups to visit their
forces during training.®*®

305. The military training consisted primarily of training in guerrilla warfare. Given the
nature of the allegations contained in the indictment and the way in which the
prosecution put their case, it is important to point out that in addition they were taught
to treat the civilian population with respect because that was the sine qua non of every
guerilla movement. Thus they were trained to abide by the laws of war. Hence,

indiscriminate killings and other such atrocities were self-defeating. Such actions

“* TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24558-6; Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 6 May 10, p. 40600-2; DCT-125,
9 Mar 10, p. 36831-5.

3 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24565; 27 Oct 09, p. 30389-90.

36 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24567-8; Taylor reiterated that Ali Kabbah was the leader of the Sierra
Leonean group that was training in Libya. See also, Charles Taylor, 3 Nov 09, p. 31002; DCT-125, 4 Mar
10, p. 36697-8.

7T, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24598-9; Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 6 May 10, p. 40619-24.

% TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24566-7; 3 Nov 09, p. 30997-8.
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would cause the civilian population to become alienated from the cause.®*? This is a
part of the prosecution case which defies logic, reason and history. The idea that a
plan was hatched in Libya to terrorize the civilian populations of West Africa, the
suggestion being that Liberia was just the springboard to Sierra Leone and thence on
to the Gambia, is so bereft of common sense and historical fact that it should be
dismissed out of hand by this court. It is the most nonsensical of notions. The better
argument would have been that idealistic motives became diverted and perverted once
the spoils of war were recognized in both Sierra Leone and Liberia. It is now,
however, too late for the prosecution to switch horses; they have tied the colours of
their joint criminal enterprise firmly to the mast of this premature idea of a criminal
design. The fact is that the label of “terrorist” or “terrorism”, particularly after the the
events of 9/11, have come to be used routinely to delegitimize, marginalize and
criminalise what are often legitimate struggles. The terrorist has become the modern
outlaw, that is outside the law, bereft of rights.

306. The Mataba did not allow contact between leaders and the members of other groups
training in Tajura Camp. Moreover, only the leaders of the various groups and not the
forces themselves were allowed to attend the Mataba.®*® Hence, Taylor would only
have contact with his own forces and with the leaders of other revolutionary groups
training at the camp. The forces, on the other hand, whilst not having contact with the
leaders of other groups were free to have contact with their fellow trainess
irrespective of the group to which they belonged.®*! It was these circumstances which
permitted the creation of Black Kaddaffa to which we will in due course tumn.
Consequently, because of these arrangements whose justification was no doubt rooted
in the disparate nature of the groups training at the camp, having not merely different
nationalities but equally diverse political philosophies, Taylor’s contact would have
been with Ali Kabbah as the leader of the Sierra Leonean group and not with Foday

Sankoh, who was simply a member of Ali Kabbah’s forces.®** Taylor would have had

“ TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24569; Moses Blah, TF1-561, 19 May 08, p. 10163; Edward Zaymay,
DCT-226, 7 May 10, p. 40638-9.

“TT, DCT-125, 9 Mar 10, p. 36771-2; Yanks Smythe, DCT-179, 22 Feb 10, p. 35601-3.

%' TT; Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24567, 9 Sep 09, p. 28448-9; Taylor confirmed that friendships
developed between the men of the different groups. Charles Taylor, 3 Nov 09, p. 31041; Edward Zaymay,
DCT-226, 6 May 10, p. 40612; 40616-7; 7 May 10, p. 40638.

642 Charles Taylor only knew Ali Kabbah as the leader of the Sierra Leonean group that was training in
Libya. He was not aware of a disagreement within the group concerning the plans for a revolution nor was
he aware that the group split up in two between Ali Kabbah, on the one hand, and Foday Sankoh, on the
other hand. Furthermore, Taylor was not asked by the Libyans to join forces and to fight alongside with the
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neither reason nor opportunity to forge the suggested bonds with Sankoh as alleged.
3 Moses Blah confirms this.®** Hence, he did not come to an agreement with Dr.
Manneh and Foday Sankoh in either Libya or Burkina Faso, to support each other in
their respective revolutions and to terrorize the civilian populations of their respective
countries as a11<3g<3d.645 This alleged agreement is the purest fantasy concocted by the
prosecution to provide the glue to hold together a theory which flies in the face of
reality, but it has the adhesive quality of water.

307. Creation of the Black Kaddafa: This is a topic to which we will return for it would be

misplaced to set out the full history of Black Kaddafa at this point in our narrative. -
While the NPFL fighters were training at Tajura Camp, some of them formed a group
called Black Kaddafa, with the intention of killing Charles Taylor following a
successful invasion of Liberia and seizing power themselves. These individuals
included Cooper Miller, Augustine Wright, Yegbeh Degbon, Oliver Varney, Anthony
Mekunagbe, Samuel Varney, Prince Yormie Johnson, Sam Larto and Timothy
Mulbah. The opportunity to organize such a conspiracy behind Charles Taylor’s back
was facilitated by the fact that he was not a full-time resident at the camp. They were
arrested on the base in Libya and admitted that they were conspiring against Charles
Taylor. Taylor decided to send the leaders, Cooper Miller and Augustine Wright, to
Burkina Faso and have them imprisoned there. The intention was to release them
after a successful invasion of Liberia. The others confessed and apologized and were
allowed back into the ranks of the NPFL and continued their training at Tajura
Camp.**
Preparations for the Invasion of Liberia

308. When the training in Libya was completed in early 1989, Charles Taylor moved his

men to Burkina Faso where they remained from the second to the fourth quarters of

1989. Moses Blah confirms this.**’ As there was insufficient progress in the

Sierra Leonean group that was led by Foday Sankoh. TT, Charles Taylor, 11 Jan 10, p. 33157-61; 33169-
71. See also, Charles Taylor, 25 Nov 09, p. 32359; Yanks Smythe, DCT-179 22 Feb 10, p. 35605; 35607.
% TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24568; 27 Jul 09, p. 25261; 25 Aug 09, p. 27602-3; 10 Sep 09, p.
28558-64; 23 Sep 09, p. 29441-2; 3 Nov 09, p. 30997; 11 Jan 10, p. 33157; Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 6
May 10, p. 40615-6; DCT-125, 9 Mar 10, p. 36772; Edward Mineh, DCT-131, 3 May 10, p. 40468.

4 TT, Moses Blah, TF1-561, 14 May 08, p. 9814-9815.

645 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Jul 09, p. 24572-3; 9 Sep 09, p. 28459-60; 28558-64; 10 Sep 09, p. 28561-4; 25
Nov 09, p. 32359; DCT-125, 9 Mar 10, p. 36853; 36863-4; 19 Mar 10, p. 37614-7; Yanks Smythe, DCT-
179,22 Feb 10, p. 35607-9; 23 Feb 10, p. 35750-6.

6 TT, Charles Taylor, 3 Dec 09, p. 33009-12; Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 6 May 10, p. 40630-5.

“TTT, Moses Blah, TF1-561, 14 May 08, p. 9816 et seq.
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preparations for the invasion, the forces became restless and threatened to leave.®*®

Taylor, therefore, decided to spread his forces between Guinea and Ivory Coast
according to their ethnic origin, since they would thereby be better able to blend in
with the local population. Thus, he decided to send those from the Mahn or Mano
group to Guinea, and to send those from the Dan ethnic group to Ivory Coast.®*’

309. In staging the invasion, the NPFL recognized that they would need to rely heavily on
the support of the civilian population of Nimba County. Taylor correctly reasoned that
the excesses of Doe’s forces in the wake of the failed Quiwonkpa coup had created
fertile ground for the guerilla war he intended to wage against the Doe regime.
Furthermore he could exploit the ethnic affinities between the majority of his recruits
and the region. Taylor thus knew that the invasion by the NPFL would generate
universal popular support Within the population of Nimba County.®*

310. In the meantime, Taylor tried to continue the preparations for the invasion by
arranging for supplies of arms and ammunition. However, despite his efforts to obtain
weapons from the Libyans, they did not provide the NPFL with arms. Indeed they had
their own strategic reasons why they did not want to provide the NPFL with arms.
Moses Blah was sent by Taylor to Libya and when Taylor launched the invasion in
December 1989 the Libyans were angry with Taylor, because he had not informed
them of the attack. The Libyans felt that the timing was bad for them because the US

Government had just imposed sanctions on Libya.®!

He also attempted to obtain the
agreement of President Joseph Momoh of Sierra Leone to use his country as a
launchpad for the mission, a repeat of the assistance provided to General Quiwonpka.
Instead, he was imprisoned by Bamba Kamara but was later released on the orders of
Momoh. % Taylor did not receive assistance from Libya, Burkina Faso or Sierra
Leone and, consequently, the NPFL did not have the required materials to stage an
invasion.®> This is what caused restlessness amongst the troops in Burkina Faso.

311. Although Taylor did not go into Guinea to meet with his Special Forces, he regularly
travelled between Burkina Faso and Ivory Coast. In the Ivory Coast his men were

based in Bin-Houye, located in the border area between the Ivory Coast and Liberia.

During a meeting with the forces in the Ivory Coast, an alternative plan was hatched.

8 TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24602.

“ TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24602-3.

8 TT, Charles Taylor, 29 Sep 09, p. 29813,

I'TT, Moses Blah, TF1-561, 14 May 09, p. 9819 et seq.

%52 Stephen Ellis Report, Exhibit P-31.

553 TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p- 24598; 3 Nov 09, p. 31006; 31010-2; 18 Nov 09, p. 32078-80.
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The forces would enter at Gbutuo. The plan was that the Special Forces would have to

% There were other

depend on liberating arms and ammunition from the Doe forces.

aspects to the plan. When the Special Forces were still in training in Libya, Taylor

maintained contact with individuals from Mahn and Dan ethnic group within the

Armed Forces of Liberia. They were stationed in Monrovia, Camp Schefflein and

Camp Naama. Taylor also had contact with Colonel Samuel Varney who used to be

the commander of Camp Naama and had gained the respect of the soldiers there.

Vamey was sent with a Guinean group to Camp Naama in order to make contact with

soldiers still loyal to him who would form a fifth column within the camp, thereby

facilitating its capture.®*’

312. Also, Taylor sent Special Forces to the Barclay Training Centre and Camp Schefflein.
The plan was to infiltrate those bases and remain as sleepers. When forces attacked
Gbutuo and Camp Naama these sleepers would seize the opportunity and take over
the Barclay Training Centre and Camp Schefflein.*® However, this plan was leaked
to the Liberian authorities and several Special Forces were arrested. Some of these
men were Killed instantly whilst others confessed. Other Special Forces who had
already reached their jump off points learnt of these arrests and tried to find their way
back to the NPFL forces that were preparing to attack Gbutuo.®*’

313. The group that was ordered to attack Camp Naama had travelled from Ivory Coast to
Nzerekore in Guinea where they would remain until the preparations for the invasion
were complete. However, the Guinean authorities were informed that they were
fighters and arrested most of them. They were taken to the Ivorian border and
released. These fighters joined the Special Forces in the Ivory Coast and participated
in the attack on Gbutuo when the NPFL commenced its invasion.®>®

314. Despite all these setbacks the attack on Gbutuo, on 24 December 1989, which was led
by Prince Johnson, was successful and the NPFL managed to advance into Liberia.

They were armed with a few hunting rifles, purchased in the Ivory Coast. Although
Isaac Musa was initially put in charge of the group to capture Gbutuo, he failed under

**TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24603-4; 3 Nov 09, p. 31010-2.

°* TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24604-5; Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 7 May 10, pp. 40645-7.

%% TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24605.

97 TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24606. Edward Zaymay testified that Sam Tozey who was a member of
the Special Forces, leaked the plans for the invasion. As a result, the government forces arrested a number
of men while others fled and tried to find their way back to Gbutuo. Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 7 May 10,
p. 40661-5. See also, Edward Mineh, DCT-131, 29 Apr 10, p. 40323-4.

** TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24606-7; Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 7 May 10, pp. 40647-52; Edward
Mineh, DCT-131, 3 May 10, p. 40469-73.
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fire, and he was withdrawn to the Ivory Coast and Prince Johnson assumed command.

After taking Gbutuo, Taylor left Prince Johnson in charge of the men at the frontline.

During the incursion, the Special Forces managed to capture weapons from the

government forces in order to continue the revolution.®®® Taylor meanwhile remained

in Bin-Houye in the Ivory Coast.®®®

Recruitment and welcome by civilians

315. Shortly after the captured of Gbutuo, the Special Forces moved on to Tiaplay.®®' As
soon as the NPFL forces secured the area around Gborplay, Taylor left the Ivory
Coast and moved to a base at Gborplay in April 1990 where he stayed for
approximately three to four months before he relocated to Tapita in the summer of
1990.%2

316. An important reason for the sheer speed of the NPFL advance, was the unpopularity
of the AFL forces who had, by their past and present behaviour in Nimba County, left
a legacy of bitterness.®®® After the NPFL struck, it was General Julu who was called
upon again to deal with the situation in Nimba County. Julu’s almost entirely Khran
soldiers killed and raped; they also rounded up opposition figures and had them
beheaded. Taylor could not have hoped for more as Gios and Manos by the thousand
rushed to join the NPFL. Does’s brutality had recoiled upon him with devastating
effect. Rumors that the NPFL had entered Nimba County with thousands of men
caused many of the AFL forces to flee the area. As a result; the NPFL was able to
capture Nimba County within one month.*** By January 1990, thousands of civilians
from Nimba County and Bong County had flocked to the training bases in Tiaplay
and Gborplay to volunteer as fighters for the NPFL.®®® The recruits were trained by
the Special Forces for approximately six weeks. Part of the training involved the laws

of war, and the treatment of civilians.%®®

%% When the NPFL entered Liberia, it was not supported with weapons by either the Ivorian government or
by the government of Burkina Faso. TT, Charles Taylor, 3 Nov 09, p. 31015-7. Edward Zaymay also
described how the NPFL special forces entered Liberia without the amount of weapons that was necessary.
He also discussed the manner in which they captured Gbutuo and managed to take the weapons from the
Doe forces. Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 7 May 10, p. 40658-9.

50 TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24607-9.

SUTT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24610.

%2 TT, Charles Taylor, 20 Jul 09, p. 24721.

53 TT, TF1-168, 23 Jan 09, p. 23425.

%% TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24610-1.

53 TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24615-6.

%S TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24617-8; Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 7 May 10, p. 40691-2.
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317. 1t is accepted that many of the volunteers were under age, they were individuals
orphaned by the atrocities of the AFL, or siblings or relatives of those who had been
indiscriminately killed by President Doe’s rampaging uniformed killers. However
they were not allowed to receive military training or to participate in the fighting.
Instead, they were allowed to provide services to the adult trainees by fetching water
for the forces and by doing other chores such as washing clothes.*®’

318. The volunteers often brought food with them, because the NPFL was widely
supported by the civilian population in Nimba County in particular. Forced
recruitment of civilians was unnecessary.®® In this regard there is a stark contrast to
be drawn with such practices in Sierra Leone.

Dealing with atrocities

319. Prior to the invasion an operational order was issued within the NPFL which stated
that the forces were not allowed to commit atrocities against the civilian population.
This included murder, forced recruitment of civilians into the NPFL and the targeting
of Krahn and Mandingo people. Any NPFL fighter who violated these orders would
be tried and held accountable for their actions.®®’

320. Despite the operational order that was issued prior to the invasion, atrocities were
committed. Many of the recruits were illiterate and came from backgrounds of rural
poverty. There is no denying that whatever the good intentions during the training
programme to instil certain standards of behaviour, emotions of revenge and personal
enrichment could cause a breakdown in discipline. It is important for this Trial
Chamber to appreciate that the vast majority of persons flocking to the banner of the
NPFL after the invasion were little more than rural peasants who captured guns from
the fleeing AFL. In this regard it is also important to remember that although
international criminal law strives to borrow from and legitimate itself via a plurality
of legal systems, the fact remains that its basic doctrines are Western in origin. This
can cause problems when the jurisprudence has a poor sociological fit with the non-
Western societies to which it is applied. Take for instance the doctrine of “superior
responsibility”, one of the modes of liability alleged against Charles Taylor.

Although the case law on superior responsibility is increasingly sophisticated, and the

“7TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24619; DCT-125, 10 Mar 10, p. 36940-1.

*® TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24619; 4 Nov 09, p. 31124; Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 12 May 10, p.
40872-5.

* TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24609; 4 Nov 09, p. 31123-4; Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 7 May 10, p.
40657; DCT-125, 9 Mar 10, p. 36792-3. The NPFL did not establish checkpoints in order to target Krahn
and Mandingo people. Edward Mineh, DCT-131, 3 May 10, p. 40414-6; 4 May 10, p. 40518-22.
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doctrine has been applied with sensitivity and intelligence by some judges, it remains
the case that it evolved in the context of well-trained Western-style bureaucratic and
military organizations, in which it made sense to think that a superior could be held
responsible for the actions of his subordinates, no matter how far physically removed.
We are not here dealing with the professional army of a “First World”country, yet
even there, as Abu Ghraib testifies, soldiers well schooled in the principles of
civilized warfare, if there could ever be such a thing, are liable to go off the rails
under conditions of war. Everybody knows that well-drilled hierarchies of the kind
to be found in the West are a rarity in Africa. Everybody knows that lines of
communication are often difficult during a jungle war. Where, for example, almost
autonomous jungles are established which in due course fostered the internal tensions
which eventually destroyed the RUF, there is no denying that some fighters tried to

settle old ethnic tribal or family conflicts.’”

What we emphatically refute is the
suggestion that such behaviour was the official policy of the NPFL and endorsed by
its leadership.

321.  In order to deal with such crimes by the members of the NPFL, a board was
established in Gborplay. This board set up a tribunal that would try NPFL individuals
who were accused of committing crimes within NPFL controlled areas.®’”’ The
tribunal was reorganized when it switched from Gborplay to Gbarnga in 1990,
because several professionals, including lawyers for both the Prosecution and the
Defence, had joined the tribunal and assisted in the cases that were brought before it.
The tribunal strove to provide a fair trial to those brought before it.®”

322. Thus, the NPFL as an organisation aimed, however patchily and unevenly, to
establish the rule of law within the NPFL controlled areas. It tried to investigate
matters as thoroughly as possible, considering the limited resources it had. The NPFL
also punished those who committed crimes in accordance with the law and did not
summarily execute individuals.®”

323. Moreover, the NPFL did not dismantle civilian courts when they invaded Liberia. It

made sure that besides military justice, there would also be civilian structures and

administration in place to guarantee law and order in the NPFL controlled areas.

7 TT, Moses Blah, TF1-561, 19 May 08, p. 10161-3.
' TT, Moses Blah, TF1-561, 19 May 08, p. 10167-8.
%2 TT, Moses Blah, TF1-561, 19 May 08, p. 10169-70.
7" TT, Moses Blah, TF1-561, 19 May 08, p. 10171-2.
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Thus, the jails remained intact and judges were reinstated to deal with civilian

matters.®’*

324. Although the NPFL did not have the means to provide its forces with payment, it did
not encourage them to commit crimes, such as looting and killing of civilians. This
was never ofticial NPFL policy. There is a fallacy in the way this whole prosecution
has been structured which goes to the very heart of its case. It is the self-defeating
idea that revolutionary forces would deliberately terrorize the very people upon whom
their survival and success depended. If the forces commaneded by Charles Taylor
were so indiscriminately brutal to the populations living in NPFL controlled areas,
how is it that over two decades after that invasion the US Ambassador to Monrovia
can explain in a leaked Code Cable that

Taylor remains popular within many rural communities, especially in Bong, Lofa
and Nimba Counties and is seen as someone who was able to unite Liberia’s
different ethnic groups. We also suspect there is some sympathy within the
Americo-Liberian population...*”

325. Once the NPFL entered Liberia through Nimba County, it received strong support
from the civilian population who provided them with food, money and medicine.®’®
Also the NPFL had the good fortune to capture a ship off the coast of Buchanan,
containing half a million bags of rice destined for the Liberian government. Thus,
Charles Taylor maintains that it was not in any way necessary for the NPFL forces to
“pay themselves” through looting. Moreover, he suggests, such acts were against
operational orders and the individuals who violated these orders were court-martialed

and punished for such acts when caught.®”’

Nonetheless the exigencies of the
situation bred by an inadequate infrastructure, especially in communications, did not

always make the policing of misbehaviour possible.

The breakaway of Prince Yormie Johnson
326. Not long after the invasion Prince Yormie Johnson killed several Special Forces as a
part of a family dispute. However, the killing went against the operational orders that

had been issued by the NPFL prior to the invasion. Consequently, Taylor ordered that

“7* TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24621-2.

575 Exhibit D-481, p.2.

*% TT, Edward Mineh, DCT-131, 3 May 10, p. 40416-7.

"7 TT, Charles Taylor, 29 Sep 09, p. 29811-3; 4 Nov 09, p. 31124,
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the situation should be investigated and that Prince Johnson be arrested.®” Thereafter,
Prince Johnson fled and took with him several other Special Forces who continued to
support him, including Samuel Varney. After his breakaway, Prince Johnson sought
to convince the civilians that he remained part of the NPFL and continued to recruit
men under the name of the NPFL in effect benefiting from NPFL’s popularity
amongst the populace. Even though the INPFL pretended to pursue the same
revolution as the NPFL, we submit that they were in fact a mercenary group.®” Prince
Johnson decided to move on towards Monrovia. The NPFL pursued him from
Gborplay to Monrovia, but never succeeded in arresting him.**°

327. While the INPFL was in Monrovia, Prince Johnson maintained regular contact with
the United States Embassy. When President Doe’s position became untenable and he
decided to leave Monrovia under the protection of ECOMOG, the United States
Embassy called Prince Johnson and advised him not to interfere. Prince Johnson
nonetheless captured President Doe, tortured and killed him on 9 September 1990,
with the whole sordid spectacle, filmed for posterity.®' Thereafter, Prince Johnson
was escorted out of Monrovia by the Nigerian peacekeepers and settled in Nigeria for

a number of years.**’

It has been suggested that Doe’s killing occurred with the

complicity of ECOMOG.
The involvement of the Gambians

328. As aresult of the breakaway of Prince Johnson from the NPFL, Taylor felt threatened
and returned to Burkina Faso. An important aspect of this threat against him lay in the
fact that Prince Johnson is a Gio from Nimba County and could count on their support
within the NPFL so Taylor felt insecure. Furthermore, Prince Johnson had previously
trained many NPFL fighters and many of their families were interrelated. Hence,

Charles Taylor justifiably did not know who to trust and felt that his life was at risk.

In Burkina Faso Taylor met with Dr Manneh who offered his assistance. His Gambian

% Edward Zaymay provided a specific account relating to the failure of the NPFL forces to immediately
arrest Prince Johnson after he broke away from the NPFL. TT, Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 7 May 10, p.
40697-700.

S TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24609; 20 Jul 09, p. 24721-2; 24725-6; 29 Sep 09, p. 29811; 4 Nov 09,
p- 31124; Moses Blah, TF1-561, 14 May 08, p. 9830. Moses Blah stated that Prince Johnson had killed
several civilians in a family dispute after which Charles Taylor had ordered his arrest. Moses Blah, TF1-
561, 19 May 08, p. 10158. Edward Zaymay stated that Prince Johnson had summarily executed several
Special Forces. Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 7 May 2010, p. 40693-9; Yanks Smythe, DCT-179, 22 Feb 10,
p. 35628. '
680 TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24620-1; 24 Aug 09, p. 27509-10; 29 Sep 09, p. 29806; Moses Blah,
TF1-561, 19 May 08, p. 10158-9; Edward Zaymay, DCT-226, 12 May 10, p. 40843-4; 40854-5.

' TT, Charles Taylor, 24 Aug 09, p. 27516-7; 27 Aug 09, p. 27873-4; Exhibit D-307, p. 2-3

%2 TT, Charles Taylor, 4 Nov 09, p. 31097.
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group had sought refuge in Libya following an unsuccessful coup against President
Dawda Jawara of The Gambia. It was Dr Manneh who insisted that he avail himself
of Gambian assistance. Despite the claims within the international community that the
invasion by the NPFL was meant to destabilize the West African region and the
involvement of the Gambians would have strengthened their case, Taylor was
persuaded by Dr Manneh that he needed the security of fellow revolutionaries that he

%3 He reasoned that the Gambians did not have an interest in the conflict

could trust.

in Liberia and, therefore, would not pose a threat to his security. Taylor therefore

agreed to invite the Gambians into NPFL controlled areas to provide him with

personal protection.***

ECOMOG Intervention in Liberia

329. By August of 1990, the NPFL had surrounded Monrovia. ECOWAS then made the
fateful decision to deploy a military force in Liberia which consisted of Nigerian,
Ghanaian, Sierra Leonean, Guinean and Gambian forces. All of these intervening
countries, save The Gambia, were ruled by military dictators who saw the overthrow
of a brother military dictator as setting a bad precedent.®*® The ECOMOG
intervention was seen as an attempt to frustrate a popular uprising against a soldier-
turned-politician by regimes of which almost all, with the exception of tiny Gambia,
were heéded by soldier politicians. Additionally there is evidence that the then
President of Nigeria, Babangida, had personal reasons, including friendship with
President Doe and investments in Liberia for wanting to intervene. These forces were
assigned to protect the enclave of Monrovia, whereas the NPFL had control over the
rest of the country.®® In particular, the international community was convinced that
Taylor was attempting to destabilize West Africa through the mobilization of the
NPFL. The hands of Colonel Ghadaffi and President Compaore were said to be
behind a wider joint criminal enterprise. It is important to recall how vilified
Ghadaffi was at that particular historical juncture, so much so that any wild theory as

to his ambitions would gain traction in the Western media. Since Nigeria was the

main provider of arms and ammunition to the AFL and had been supporting Doe

%3 TT, Charles Taylor, 20 Jul 09, p. 24722-3. Yanks Smythe confirmed that the sole purpose of the
presence of the Gambians in Liberia, was to provide protection to Charles Taylor. Yanks Smythe, DCT-
179, p. 35629-31; DCT-125, 9 Mar 10, p. 36776; 10 Mar 10, p. 36979-80; 19 Mar 10, p. 37618-20.

“**TT, DCT-125, 9 March 10, p. 36776; 10 Mar 10, p. 36997.

5 See comment by President Lansana Conte of Guinea, “Charles Taylor is a bad example. Civilians
should not be encouraged to overthrow military regimes.” See Exhibit D-118, see also Exhibit D-408.

%8¢ TT, Charles Taylor, 30 Sep 09, p. 29958.
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throughout the conflict, it had an interest in protecting the Doe Government when
ECOMOG forces intervened. We say that ECOMOG forces were not. deployed in
Liberia with the purpose of protecting its citizens, but to keep Samuel Doe in
power.®*’ They were there to protect the status quo and stem this idea of civilian-led
revolt before it became infectious.

330. There were also strategic global aspects to this intervention. The United Kingdom was
uneasy about the expeditionary force led by Nigeria, the most powerful African
country in the sub-region. The United Kingdom felt that an increase in Nigerian
influence in the sub-region could affect Britain’s interests in the area. To the British
Government the idea of Nigerian hegemony in the area was repugnant.®®® This would
prove to be a consistent theme which emerges particularly powerfully at the time of
the Intervention in Freetown in 1998.

331. Prior to the intervention of ECOMOG, Taylor was informed that several states had
taken sides in the conflict and were arming opposition to the NPFL. As a consequence
of their partiality, the NPFL threatened to attack ECOMOG forces when they arrived
in Liberia.®® However, Herman Cohen, a representative for the United States pleaded

with Charles Taylor not to attack Monrovia because of the potential carnage it might

precipitate. Despite Taylor’s oft expressed opposition to the deployment of ECOMOG
forces in Liberia as a ploy to rob him of a certain victory, he decided to refrain from

. . 69
attacking Monrovia.*”°

This was perhaps the biggest mistake Charles Taylor made in
the Liberian civil war. That bloody conflict might have ended much sooner if Charles
Taylor had not been illegitimately robbed of a deserved victory. The NPFL was also
requested to keep the road between Monrovia and Freetown open to allow civilians to
leave the area. However, in mid-July 1990 the INPFL arrived in Monrovia and sealed
off the road to Freetown.®"!
332. ECOMOG used its air superiority to carry out several precision bombing attacks on
NPFL positions and thus succeeded in expelling NPFL forces from the outskirts of

Monrovia. Prior to the bombings by the ECOMOG forces, the NPFL had succeeded

7 TT, Charles Taylor, 1 Dec 09, p. 32837; DCT-125, 10 Mar 10, p. 36916.

*** TT, Charles Taylor, 23 Jul 09, p. 25186-7; 27 Jul 09, p. 25263-6: Exhibit D-341.

** TT, Charles Taylor, 20 Jul 09, p. 24729-30; 21 Jul 09, p. 24859-60: 24884-5.

% In his cross-examination, Taylor specifically states that Herman Cohen provided an incorrect account of
the events relating to the decision of Taylor not to enter Monrovia in 1990 when the ECOMOG forces
arrived. TT, Charles Taylor, 23 Nov 09, p- 32311-2; 1 Dec 09, p. 32833-4.

' TT, Charles Taylor, 24 Aug 09, p. 27514.
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in occupying the campus of the University of Liberia.*”

At this stage the NPFL were

on the verge of total victory. In response to the ECOMOG attack, in October 1990

NPFL detained the nationals of the invading ECOMOG forces for investigation.®®

Furthermore, as a result of the NPFL’s loss of territory to the ECOMOG forces in late

1990, ULIMO was able to continue its operations into Cape Mount County at the

beginning of 1991.5%

The Continuation of Black Kaddaffa

333. When Cooper Miller and Augustine Wright were released from custody in Burkina
Faso, they joined the INPFL.®” Cooper Miller was subsequently killed during a
conflict within the INPFL;**® Augustine Wright left the INPFL and rejoined the ranks
of the NPFL. However, he was implicated in an assassination attempt on Taylor after
which he was tried and executed.®”’ This event made it clear to Taylor that Black
Kaddafa remained a real threat to the success of his leadership of the NPFL.**®

334. Anthony Mekunagbe was a part of the Black Kaddafa in Libya and without Taylor’s
knowledge assisted Foday Sankoh in the establishment of the RUF as a fighting force.
Through him the RUF were allowed to recruit and train at Camp Naama.®®® Charles
Taylor first became aware of the operations of Black Kaddafa, and the support it had
provided to Foday Sankoh when the two met for the first time in June 1991, when the
two agreed to co-operate to combat ULIMO.”" Investigations were then conducted
into the alleged cooperation between the NPFL Special Forces and the RUF. Those
who were named by Foday Sankoh were investigated but not arrested at the time.
Those investigated were, Anthony Mekunagbe, Oliver Vamey, Yegbeh Degbon, and
Timothy Mulibah.”' They denied the allegations and it was concluded that they were
not involved with the RUF.”%

335. Thereatter, Taylor received reports from Tom Woweiyu, the NPFL Defence Minister

at the time, about the suspicious movement of arms and ammunition by Yegbeh

Degbon. Charles Taylor also received intelligence that Degbon was either associating

“2TT, Charles Taylor, 24 Aug 09, p. 27514; 2 Dec 09, p. 32847.
*> TT, Charles Taylor, 20 Jul 09, p. 24730-1; Stephen Ellis, 18 Jan 08, p. 1548.
%* TT, Charles Taylor, 30 Sep 09, p. 29958.

®3TT, Charles Taylor, 3 Nov 09, p. 30987-9; 4 Nov 09, p. 31092.
5% This occurred without any involvement of the NPFL.

%7TT, Charles Taylor, 4 Nov 09, p. 31092-3.

5% TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Jul 09, p. 24600-1.

*TT, Charles Taylor, 23 Sep 09, p. 29453; 3 Nov 09, p. 30988,
"' TT, Charles Taylor, 25 Nov 09, p. 32369-70.

°'TT, Charles Taylor, 25 Nov 09, p. 32370.

"2 TT, Charles Taylor, 25 Nov 09, p. 32371-2.
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with or had set up the Black Kaddafa and that those arms and ammunition were being
stored by him for a special operation. After conducting further investigation into the
allegations, Taylor was informed that Black Kaddafa was comprised predominantly of
Sierra Leoneans with some Liberians’” and that their objective was to overthrow and
kill the leadership of the NPFL.”%

336. Taylor then ordered the arrest of Oliver Vamey, Yegbeh Degbon, Timothy Mulibah
and Anthony Mekunagbe. Although Anthony Mekunagbe died in detention awaiting
trial, the three other individuals were convicted by a court-martial and executed.”®’

NPFL cooperation with the RUF

337. After the invasion in 1989, the NPFL wés able to advance into Liberia and capture
approximately ninety percent of the country. Many members of the opposition were
forced to seek refuge in neighbouring countries, but continued to oppose the NPFL,
including former members of the AFL. Alhaji Kromah who was an ethnic Mandingo,
cooperated with the Sierra Leonean Government and a group of former Liberian
government officials and army officers, to form ULIMO.” In May/June 1991, the
NPFL received reports that supporters of the Doe Government had formed ULIMO
and that they planned to attack NPFL positions. When ULIMO attacked the NPFL in
Cape Mount County in June/July 1991, the NPFL received information from POW’s,
that ULIMO was backed by the Sierra Leonean and the Guinean governments.’"’

338. Indeed the United Liberation Movement of Liberia, ULIMO, was forged in Sierra
Leone out of the remnants of Doe’s disintegrated army, as well as Krahn and
Mandingo refugees from Liberia. They were trained and armed in Kenema, in eastern
Sierra Leone, under the command of General Karpeh, with political control exercised
by Alhaji Kromah, a Mandingo and former Doe official, and Roosevelt Johnson. This
force launched an offensive against the RUF in the Pujehun district and succeeded in

pushing it back into Liberia within two months in 1991.

" TT, Charles Taylor, 16 Sep 09, p. 29131; 4 Nov 09, p. 31095; Dauda Aruna Fornie, TF1-274 1 Dec 08,
p. 21324.

704 TT, Charles Taylor, 15 Sep 09, p. 28966; 16 Sep 09, p- 29129-31; 2 Dec 09, p. 32961-8; 3 Dec 09, p.
33005-7; Edward Mineh, DCT-131, 29 Apr 10, p. 40348-53; 4 May 10, p. 40513-4; 40516; Moses Blah,
TF1-561, 19 May 08, p. 10178.

"% TT, Charles Taylor, 4 Nov 09, p. 31103-5; 2 Dec 09, p. 32970-80; 3 Dec 09, p. 33002-5; Edward Mineh,
DCT-131, 29 Apr 10, p. 40361-6; 3 May 10, p. 40417-9; 4 May 10, p. 40515-6. With regards to the
involvement of Sam Larto with Black Kaddafa, see also: Charles Taylor, 2 Dec 09, p. 32980-6.

"% TT, Charles Taylor, 24 Aug 09, p. 27487; 2 Nov 09, p. 30797.

77 TT, Charles Taylor, 25 Nov 09, p. 32367; Moses Blah, TF1-561, 19 May 08, p. 10192; Yanks Smythe,
DCT-179, 22 Feb 10, p. 35671-3.
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339. Charles Taylor attempted to discuss the situation with President Momoh although the
latter denied that the government supported ULIMO. Thereafter, around June 1991,
Taylor and other top officials within the NPFL decided to contact the leadership of the
RUF in order to cooperate in protecting the Liberian-Sierra Leonean border against
ULIMO, a common enemy.””® Official support by the NPFL for the RUF, at this time
was an act of self-defence. .

340. Moses Blah attested to the fact that the first time he saw Foday Sankoh, after Libya,

was in Gbarnga.””

During their first meeting in June 1991, Taylor and Sankoh came
to an agreement that the RUF itself would not be used in the fighting, but that a
special operations unit would be sent to the border area to fight ULIMO.”'
Furthermore, it was agreed that the special operations unit would not take orders from
Foday Sankoh. Instead, they would remain under the orders of the NPFL. "'

341. During the period of cooperation between August 1991 and May 1992, Sankoh would
visit Gbarnga occasionally and received support in the form of small amounts of
ammunition from the NPFL.”"> He was also provided with a house. It must, however,
be stressed that since the NPFL was still involved in fighting in Liberia at this time, it
was not in a position to provide substantial support to the RUF.”'* The fact of the
limited support provided to the RUF is reflected in a letter written by Foday Sankoh
to Taylor.”!*

342. In August 1991, ULIMO managed to gain full control of Cape Mount, Bomi and thus
controlled the Liberian-Sierra Leonean border by the end of 1991. By about March
1992, ULIMO was in full control of Lofa County in Liberia,”" thus closing the
border. _ by July 1992, ULIMO had completely
sealed the RUF supply route to Liberia.’'® Although ULIMO’s actions brought
tension in the relationship between Taylor and Sankoh, it worsened when in

April/May 1992 Sankoh complained about the behavior of the NPFL forces. These

"% TT, Charles Taylor, 25 Nov 09, p. 32367-8. Mohamed Kabba confirmed that the purpose of the
cooperation between the NPFL and the RUF was to protect the Liberian-Sierra Leonean border against
ULIMO. Mohamed Kabbah, TF1-568, 16 Sep 08, p.16324-5.

" TT, Moses Blah, TF1 - 561, 14 May 2008, p. 9860.

7' TT, Charles Taylor, 25 Nov 09, p. 32369; 32372.

""" TT, Fayia Musa, DCT-306, 21 Apr 10, p. 39491-2; Yanks Smythe, DCT-179, 22 Feb 10, p. 35677.

7> TT, Yanks Smythe, DCT-179, 22 Feb 10, p. 35674-7.

"' TT, Charles Taylor, 20 Jul 09, p. 24811; 24826-7. See also, Exhibit P-65.

7' The letter demonstrates that the RUF was not given sufficient ammunition to fight their common enemy,
namely ULIMO. Exhibit P-65; for a comprehensive discussion of the letter see, TT, Charles Taylor, 20 Jul
09, p. 24827-35.

7' TT, Charles Taylor, 20 Jul 09, p. 24817.

7' Exhibit P-277.
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forces had committed crimes against the Sierra Leonean population in the border area
whilst holding back ULIMO. Sankoh complained that the NPFL forces did not respect
him as a leader and indeed they did not fall under his command. Taylor, therefore,
sent General Francis Menwon along with Sankoh to investigate the matter.”!”

343. Taylor’s efforts to investigate these crimes came to nought and despite the fact that
both forces were fighting a common enemy, namely ULIMO, the RUF forces took
matters into their own hands and launched an attack against the NPFL forces, which
resulted in many deaths.”"® This conflict had three phases: Top Twenty, Top Forty and
Top Final.”"? As a consequence of this conflict, Taylor ordered his forces to withdraw.
A radio message was transmitted to this effect.’?’ Taylor sent in a force of 400 men
led by General Dopoe Menkarzon and General Francis Menwon, to ensure an orderly
withdrawal of NPFL forces.””' In addition, Taylor decided to break all ties with
Foday Sankoh.”® 1t is clear from subsequent evidence that Foday Sankoh after this
severance made no attempt thereafter to contact or visit Charles Taylor until he
travelled to Liberia following the signing of the Lomé Agreement in 1999. This is
despite the fact that he spent many months in The Ivory Coast which gave him direct
and unimpeded access to NPFL controlled areas.”?® This perhaps more than anything
else confirms the breach between Charles Taylor and Foday Sankoh.

Creation of the NPRAG

344. When the interim government of Liberia was established in Monrovia with Amos
Sawyer as the president at the end of 1990, the NPFL knew that the government was
not capable of effectiVely ruling the country. It was dec